

Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of Becker patients with deletion of exons 45 to 55

France Piétri-rouxel, Elena Gargaun

▶ To cite this version:

France Piétri-rouxel, Elena Gargaun. Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of Becker patients with deletion of exons 45 to 55. Life Sciences [q-bio]. Sorbonne Universite, 2020. English. NNT: . tel-04007931

HAL Id: tel-04007931 https://hal.science/tel-04007931

Submitted on 1 Mar 2023

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.





Sorbonne Université

École Doctorale Complexité du Vivant

Centre de Recherche en Myologie - U974

Doctoral thesis in Biology

Genotype and phenotype characterization

of Becker muscular dystrophy patients

with exons 45 to 55 deletion

Presented by Elena GARGAUN

Defended on 23rd of November 2020

Members of the jury:

President:

Referees:

Examiners :

Pr. Odile BOESPFLUG-TANGUY Dr. David ISRAELI Pr Dr. France LETURCQ Pr. Serge AMSELEM Pr Kevin FLANIGAN Dr. Gisèle BONNE Pr. Helge AMTHOR

Director of thesis:

Dr. France PIETRI-ROUXEL

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I gratefully acknowledge the members of the jury for accepting to read my dissertation. I am tremendously fortuned to have committee members as Professor Odile Boespflug, Dr. David Israeli, Professor Serge Amselem, Professor Kevin Flanigan, Dr. France Leturcq, Dr. Gisèle Bonne and my thesis scientific expert Professor Helge Amthor.

First, I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Odile Boespflug for her encouragements and support. I have highly appreciated her valuable suggestions for the cohort study.

Special thanks to Dr. David Israeli who gave me his support and encouragement since the beginning of my PhD project and accepted to review my work.

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to Professor Kevin Flanigan for his support and generosity. I am grateful for the opportunity to meet his team at Nationwide Columbus Ohio during my PhD. I have learned a lot from my visit and form the Myology course he organized. Special thoughts to Linda Lowes, Natalie Reash and Mandy.

This thesis has been founded by CIFRE/ANRT scholarship and IRIS Servier. Thus, I would like to mention my supervisor at IRIS, Servier, Alexia Blesius for her support but mostly for her example of active and courageous women. As she is passionate about her work but also cherish her family, she always reminded me not to forget to pay attention to the truly important things in life. I am glad I have found such a nice example of professionalism in pharmaceutical industry. Thank you for your support.

I extend my sincere thanks to my tutor, Dr. Guillaume Bassez and thank him for this patience and constant encouragement. I appreciated our long discussions on the cohort characterization that was always longer than scheduled and it was a source of considerable enrichment in terms of providing knowledge on population description and data base construction.

Special acknowledgements for my scientific expert, Professor Helge Amthor who supported me and gave me constant encouragement and advice, despite his busy agenda.

I thank my PhD director, Dr. France Pietri-Rouxel for giving me the opportunity to exceed myself. I am especially grateful for her confidence and the freedom she gave me to do this work. I gained confidence in my scientific capacity to plan and to conduct this scientific project as a personal accomplishment.

Special thanks to Dr. France Leturcq for her support and goodness. I always appreciated to fill welcomed in her lab. My best thoughts and special thanks to Sandra, for her help with the archive files, for Gilles for the DNA samples and Nathalie for the Western Blot.

In addition to my committee members, I am grateful to Dr. Stéphanie Lorrain, for her scientific and thoughtful feedback, always aimed at moving me forward.

Also, to Dr. Sestina Falcone, my doula of PhD, who helped me identify my scientific question and by her example with her PhD student showed me how to make it happen.

Special thoughts to Dr. Sofia Benkhelifa but also Massiré, Laura, Pierre, Nicolas, Céline, David and Lorenzo for their technical help.

I am grateful to Mathilde, who played the role of the psychologist and provided free sessions with plenty of support and goodwill. You will always have my door opened for you if needed.

I have very special acknowledgments to my family.

To my mother, Alexandra. Thank you for teaching me to never give up, always rise from my ashes and keep going on and on.

To my father, Alexei. You are my example since I was a little girl and I never forget the image of you late at night drawing architectural projects. I used to ask myself if I will be as passionate as you are about my work. As a grown-up, I asked myself this question from time to time, especially when I had to make an important decision in my professional life. Retrospectively, it was always favorable for me.

At last but not at least my special thoughts to my beloved partner, Anatole. You helped me discover the science and the statistics and find it passionate. I hesitated in the beginning and every time I was discouraged, it happened often and a lot, you always knew to remind me the true reason I got myself into the student position again ...to face the unknown. I think your PhD student is very lucky to have a mentor like you. Thank you for all these changes in my professional and personal life.

To my daughter, Polina.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
Épigraphe	12
Préambule	14
Chapter I: INTRODUCTION	16
SKELETAL MUSCLE	
Cellular organization of a muscle fiber	17
Myogenesis	19
Developmental myogenesis	
Regeneration of adult skeletal muscle	21
Excitation-contraction coupling	22
The dystrophin-associated protein complex (DAPC)	
Dystrophin	25
Dystrophin protein	
Characteristics of the DMD gene	
BMD with hotspot deletion of exons 45-55 (BMDdel45-55)	
In-frame versus out-of-frame	
Absent versus present truncated protein	
DYSTROPHINOPATHIES	
Clinical presentation	
Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD)	
X-Linked cardiac dystrophy (XLCD)	
Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD)	
General description	
Clinical presentations	
The classic presentation	
Early infancy presentation	
Pauci-symptomatic presentation	
Female carriers	
Diagnosis	

Electromyogram (EMG)	
Muscle imaging	
Muscular biopsy	
The microscopy analysis	
Dystrophin quantification	40
Dystrophy patho-mechanism	42
Calcium flux	43
Nitric oxide (NO)	44
Reactive oxygen species (ROS)	46
Therapies	47
Premature stop codon mutations	47
Exon skipping	
Dystrophin gene replacement	
CRISPR-Cas9 MES 45-55	54
Biomarkers	57
Diagnostic biomarkers	
Prognostic biomarkers	
Therapeutic monitoring biomarkers	
LONG NON-CODING RNA (IncRNA)	60
Long non-coding RNA biogenesis and mechanism of regulation	61
Definition, structure and classification of lncRNA	62
IncRNA in skeletal muscle and dystrophies	65
NEXT GENERATION SEQUENCING (NGS)	
Whole Genome Sequencing (WGS)	68
Wole Exome Sequencing (WES)	69
Gene panels	70
Annotation tools and analysis	71
VarAFT (Variant Annotation and Filtration Tool)	
Genome-wide Association Studies (GWAS)	
OBJECTIVES	
	···········

AIM 1/ Characterization of BMDdel45-55 population	74
AIM 2/ Identification of new actors of phenotype variability and dystrophin regulation	74
Chapter II: RESULTS	76
Article 1	77
Article 2	108
Article 3	139
Article 4	153
Chapter III: DISCUSSION	158
Clinical characterization	159
Skeletal muscle characterization according to the Clinical Severity Scale (CSS)	159
Cardiac impairment	
Genotypic characterization	161
WGS analysis	161
Breakpoint analysis	
Genomic profile and characterization of lncRNA localized in intron 44 and 55	163
Conclusion	164
Chapter IV: CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES	167
Retrospective clinical characterization of BMDdel45-55 by a Clinical Severity (CSS). Prospective feasibility and application in clinical trials?	Scale 168
WGS utility in patient follow-up, therapy development and in clinical trials?	169
Implication of IncRNA 44s, 55s and 55as in the regeneration process and the dystrophin expression regulation?	170

FIGURES

Figure 1 Muscle fiber and sarcomere structures.	18
Figure 2 Sarcoplasmic Reticulum (SR) and Triad partners	18
Figure 3 Hierarchy of transcription factors regulating progression through the myogenic	
lineage	20
Figure 4 SR Ca ²⁺ release and myofibrils contraction illustration.	22
Figure 5 DAPC structure.	24
Figure 6 The dystrophin protein	25
Figure 7 Schematic illustration of X chromosome and the DMD gene.	27
Figure 8 DMD exons and introns scheme illustration	28
Figure 9 Scheme presentation of dystrophic pathomechanism process.	43
Figure 10 ROS mechanism in dystrophic muscle.	46
Figure 11 Exon skipping sheme illustration in DMD gene.	51
Figure 12 MES 45-55 scheme illustration.	51
Figure 13 Microdystrophin constructions models in actual clinical trains (2020)	53
Figure 14 CRISPR-Cas9 system repair mechanism	55
Figure 15 IncRNAs Regulatory Mechanisms.	64
Figure 16 lncRNA involved in myogenesis and dystrophic process.	65
Figure 17 Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease phenotype genotype analysis using WGS	69
Figure 18 WES filtering and functional analysis technique.	70
Figure 19 GWAS study method scheme illustration	72
Figure 20 Theoretical lncRNA expression in control, BMD and DMD patients.	165
Figure 21IncRNA hypothetical regulatory loop in BMD and DMD	166

TABLES

Table 1 DMD/BMD therapies adapted from AFM Téléthon	49
Table 2 lncRNA classification according the length, function, origin and localization	63

ABBREVIATIONS

2'OMe	2'O-Méthyle	dystromiR	deregulated micro-RNA in dystrophinopathies
2'OMePS	2 O-methyle phosphorothioate	eARN	<i>enhancer</i> ARN
AAV	Adeno Associated Virus	eIF3/4A/E/G	eucaryotic Initiation Factor 3/4A/E/G
ADP	Adenosin Diphosphate	eNOS	endothelial Nitrique oxide synthase
Ago	Argonaut <i>AMP-activated protein</i>	eRF	eucaryotic Releasing Factor
АМРК	kinase		Flavin adenine
AON	Antisense oligonucleotide	FAD	dinucleotide Food and drug
ARN	Ribonucleic Acid		administration
ARNg	RNA guide	FMN	Flavin mononucleotide
ARNm	Ribonucleic Acid	GMPc	Guanosine Monophosphate
АТР	Adenosine Trinhosphate		cyclique
BMD	Becker Muscular	GRMD	Golden Retriever Muscular Dystrophy
Ca^{2+}	Calcium ion	GTP	Guanosine Triphosphate
CaM	Calmodulin	H1/2/3/4	prolines rich region
Calvi	CRISPR associated	HDAC	Histone desacetylase
Cas9	protein 9 Calponin homology	iNOS	Nitrique oxyde synthase inductible
CH	domain	iPSC	Induced pluripotent stem cells
CREB	C-AMP Response	IRES	Internal Ribosome Entry Site
	Element-binding protein	K19	Keratine 19
CRISPR	Interspaced Short	kb/Mb	kilo/megabase
	Palindromic Repeats	kDa	kiloDalton
DAPC	Dystrophin Associated	LBD	Lipid binding domain
do1/15 55	evons 45 to 55 deletion	LNA	Locked Nucleic Acid
	dihudronuridina raconor	lncARN	long noncoding RNA
DULL	Duchenne Muscular	MD1	MD1 Microdystrophin
DMD	Dystrophy	mdx	X-linked muscular
DMD	Dystrophin gene	MHC	Myosin heavy chain
dNTP	desoxyribonucleotides	miRNA	micro-RNA
domaine WW	domaine with 2 tryptophans	miR	micro-RNA
domaine ZZ	zinc finger domain	MLC	Myosin light chain
DTT	Dithiothreitol	mtNOS	Mitochondrial nitric oxide synthase

myomiR	muscular micro-RNA	qPCR	quantitative PCR
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide	RISC	RNA-induced Silencing Complex
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate	ROS RvR	<i>Reactive oxygen species</i> ryanodine receptor
NHEJ	Non-Homologous End- Joining	SAXS	Small Angle X-ray
NMD	Non-sense mediated RNA decay	SERCA	sarco/endoplasmic
nNOS	Neuronal nitric oxide synthase	siARN	reticulum Ca ²⁺ -ATPase small interferent RNA
O ₂	dioxygen	SNP	Single-nucleotide polymorphism
PABP1	protein 1	SOCE	Store operated calcium entry
PBS	Phosphate Buffered	SRF	Serum Response Factor
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction	TA tcADN	Tibialis Anterior
PGC 1a	peroxisome proliferator-activated	TLDA	Taqman Low Density Array
r0C-1a	receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha	Tm	Hybridization temperature
Pi	Inorganic Phosphate	TRP	Transient receptor
РМО	phosphorodiamidate morpholino oligo	UTR	Dotential Untranslated Transcribed Region
РРМО	PMO peptide	WGS	Whole genome sequencing
polyA tail	polyadenylated tail	WES	Whole exome sequencing

ÉPIGRAPHE

LE MYTHE DE SISYPHE

Toute la joie silencieuse de Sisyphe est là. Son destin lui appartient. Son rocher est sa chose. De même, l'homme absurde, quand il contemple son tourment, fait taire toutes les idoles.

Il n'y a pas de soleil sans ombre, et il faut connaître la nuit. L'homme absurde dit oui et son effort n'aura plus de cesse. S'il y a un destin personnel, il n'y a point de destinée supérieure ou du moins il n'en est qu'une dont il juge qu'elle est fatale et méprisable. Pour le reste, il se sait le maître de ses jours. À cet instant subtil où l'homme se retourne sur sa vie, Sisyphe, revenant vers son rocher, contemple cette suite d'actions sans lien qui devient son destin, créé par lui, uni sous le regard de sa mémoire, et bientôt scellé par sa mort. Ainsi, persuadé de l'origine tout humaine de tout ce qui est humain, aveugle qui désire voir et qui sait que la nuit n'a pas de fin, il est toujours en marche. Le rocher roule encore.

La lutte elle-même vers les sommets suffit à remplir un cœur d'homme.

Il faut imaginer Sisyphe heureux.

Le mythe de Sisyphe. Essai sur l'absurde. (Albert Camus, 1942)

PRÉAMBULE

Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies (DMD/BMD) are X-linked disorders due to mutations in *DMD* gene. DMD patients represent the most severe and lethal phenotype and the BMD patients the less severe clinical phenotype with a normal life span. In clinical practice, there are a large number of patients that feature intermediate phenotypes highlighting a broad clinical spectrum range.

The central dogma of therapy development is to transform severe DMD patients in milder BMD patients. Despite several exon skipping approved drugs and micro-dystrophin replacement therapies in ongoing clinical trials, there is no cure to Duchenne muscular dystrophy. The current caveats in therapy development may be explained from one hand by the wide spectrum of clinical heterogeneity in this population. From the over hand, the complex patho-mechanisms associated to this disease are not fully elucidated.

To complete my medical background, I decided to undertake my PhD in a translational study that could cover both aspects. For my PhD project we identified two aims, first one corresponds to the study of phenotype heterogeneity in population of major interest for drug development, the BMD Δ 45-55 cohort and the second aim was to study new potential actors involved in the phenotype variability.

This manuscript consists in four chapters, the first one includes the introduction with an overview of the literature data of interest to this project, the second chapter is based on 2 first author articles presentations that are currently in the process of publication submission in peer reviewed journals, a third article that was already published were I have contributed during the first year of PhD and the fourth one, which is a review of a recent therapy study in Spinal Muscular atrophy patients that highlights a large phenotype variability in treated patients that is in line with the main subject of this work. The third and the fourth chapters are discussing the reported results and the perspectives of this project.

This work was financed by a CIFRE/ANRT scholarship in collaboration with Institute of Research of SERVIER pharmaceutical company.

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

SKELETAL MUSCLE

Generalities

Human body mass is consisted from approximatively 650 muscles including 570 striated skeletal muscles. There are three types of muscle described in the human body: the skeletal muscle, the smooth muscle and the cardiac muscle. The skeletal muscular tissue functions are involved in voluntary actions as movement, locomotion, maintaining posture but also heat production due to catabolic reactions that are associated with muscular activity. The smooth muscle can be found in digestive, respiratory, cardiovascular, renal and reproductive systems, are involuntary.

CELLULAR ORGANIZATION OF A MUSCLE FIBER

The muscle fibers have a unique microstructure that has specialized terminology. The main characteristics of the muscle fibers and also the muscle cells are the bundles-within-bundles structure. At the surface a tough layer of connective tissue, epimysium, is connected to muscle tendons at each end. It protects the muscles from friction against other muscles and bones¹. Within the epimysium are localized the fascicles that have up to >100 muscle fibers that are sheathed by the perimysium. At this level are localized the pathways for the nerves and blood vessels. Within the muscle fiber the bundles of protein filaments are called myofibrils of a tubular shape (Figure 1). The myofibrils are complex strands of myofilaments organized together into repeating units called sarcomeres, the contractile units of the cell. The sarcomeres are composed of protein filaments that slide along each over during a muscle contraction or relaxion. There are three types of myofilaments composed as follows by: the thick myofibrils called myosin (A line), the thin filaments composed by a long tail and a globular head which binds to actin and also to ATP and provides energy for the muscle movement (Figure 1B)^{2,3}.



Figure 1 Muscle fiber and sarcomere structures.

(A) Bundle within bundles muscular fiber, (B) The basic contractile unit of skeletal muscle, the sarcomere, is composed of thin and thick filaments predominantly composed of actin and myosin, respectively. Thin filaments of adjacent sarcomeres are anchored at the Z-disk, which defines the lateral borders of the sarcomere. Myosin has a long, fibrous tail and a globular head, which interacts with actin to produce muscle contraction. Adapted from Luther, P. 2009 and Rand, C 2020

Into the muscle fibers the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) is characterized by a network of tubules that extends throughout muscle cells and wrapping around the bundles-within-bundles structure of muscle fibers. The SR terminal cisternae and the sarcolemma T-tubules form the triad and act as a major actor in the contraction generation (Figure 2)^{4,5}. The SR is a membrane bound structure and plays the role of Calcium ions storage by a buffer protein the calsequestrin assisted by two other proteins the Triadin and Junctin found within the SR membrane. The calcium ions release occurs via the terminal cisternae through a ryanodine receptor (RyR) that is tissue specific (RyR1 in skeletal muscle, RyR2 in cardiac muscle and RyR3 in the brain)⁶.



Figure 2 Sarcoplasmic Reticulum (SR) and Triad partners. Adapted from Laporte, 2011

MYOGENESIS

Myogenesis is the process of generating muscle and is separated in developmental (embryonic and fetal) myogenesis and adult regeneration.

DEVELOPMENTAL MYOGENESIS

This highly complex function is divided in several distinct phases⁷. During embryogenesis the prepatterned embryo will develop ectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm. The mesoderm will separate in the course of development and will result into three layers: the paraxial, intermediate and lateral with respect to position from midline. Muscles will derive from the paraxial mesoderm and will divide into somites. Somites will receive signals, including Wnts, Sonic headgehog (Shh), BMP-4, insulin-like growth factor - 4(IGF-1) and noggin, from the neighboring tissues that will induce primordial muscle precursors cells to be committed in a myogenic fate and to differentiate into mature muscles^{8,9} The somites will have three divisions. the sclerotome, dermatome and the myotome. After the formation of connective tissue frameworks, myoblasts (muscle progenitor cells) migrate to the rest of the body to form other muscles^{10–12}. The embryonic myogenesis and adult muscle regeneration have many similarities as common transcription factors and signaling molecules. The satellite cells are closely related to the progenitors of somatic origins as the muscle resident myogenic progenitors will initially proliferate extensively but will enter in quiescence as satellite cells once the muscle matures^{10,11}. During development, the extrinsic regulatory system directs spatio-temporally distinct fates of self-renewal or differentiation to myogenic precursors¹² (Figure 6).

Developmental myogenesis is regulated by the myogenic regulatory factors (MRF), that are able to induce myoblast traits in nonmuscle cell lines. Shh (from the notochord), and Wnt1/3, Ant11 and IGFs (from dorsal neural tube) signaling are regulating the early expression of Myf5, the first MRF expressed during embryonic development^{8,13,14}. But the *Myf5* factor does not act alone as it was revealed that this MRF is not expressed in all myoblasts and the myogenesis was possible by a *MyoD* expressing lineage. As suggested by the phenotypic studies the Myf5 and MyoD act upstream of *Myogenin* and *MRF4* factors^{15,16}. Both, *Myogenin* and *MRF4* are involved in the differentiation process and the expression of myotube specific genes. As per

this temporal classification the paired-homeobox transcription factors *Pax3* and *Pax7* appear to be expressed earlier than *MyoD*. The loss of the *Pax3* lineage is embryonically lethal and in contrary the ablation of *Pax7* lineage will result in defects in later stages of development and result in fewer myofibers in the limbs at birth^{11,17,17,18}.



Figure 3 Hierarchy of transcription factors regulating progression through the myogenic lineage. Adapted from Betzinger, F 2012

Muscle progenitors that are involved in embryonic muscle differentiation skip the quiescent satellite cell stage and directly become myoblasts. Some progenitors remain as satellite cells in postnatal muscle and form a heterogeneous population of stem and committed cells. Six1/4 and Pax3/7 are master regulators of early lineage specification, whereas Myf5 and MyoD commit cells to the myogenic program. Expression of the terminal differentiation genes, required for the fusion of myocytes and the formation of myotubes, are performed by both myogenin (MyoG) and MRF4^{12,14}.

REGENERATION OF ADULT SKELETAL MUSCLE

The regeneration refers to the process of renewal, restoration and tissue growth that is caused by a stress or damage. One of the major actors of muscle regeneration is played by the muscle stem cell known as satellite cell which resides between the basal lamina and sarcolemma of myofiber. The satellite cells are described as "dormant myoblasts that failed to fuse with other myoblasts and are ready to recapitulate the embryonic development of the skeletal muscle fibers when the multinucleate cell is damaged" in over words, there are mitotically quiescent until required for growth or repair. Recent data reported the role of the Notch signalling in the regulation of cellular quiescence in adult muscle stem cells^{19–21}. Once activated the satellite cell will follow two pathways depending on MyoD activity and self-renew guarantying the maintenance of a pool of Pax7 positive cells¹¹. Proliferation to differentiation transition involves the differential expression of proliferative-associated genes with the downregulation of the proliferation specific ones and cell-cycle withdrawal.

This asymmetrical expression of proliferation or differentiation associated genes involves the Notch, Numb and Wnt pathways¹¹. The myogenic differentiation has been demonstrated to be orchestrated by Numb family by inhibiting Notch signalling in the daughter satellite cell. In differentiation onset the Wnt will take over the Notch signalling in myogenic progenitor and this crosstalk occurs via GSK3beta^{22,23}.

In addition to the protein regulation of these complex process, the non-protein coding regulators gain attention and place. Non-coding RNA are increasingly described as active regulators of proliferation and differentiation process^{24–26}. Also, some long non-coding RNA (lncRNA), defined by the length > 200nt ncRNA can regulate gene expression both in cis or trans. This is the case of the lncRNA Yam-1 that is downregulated upon differentiation and will recruit miR-715 in order to target Wnt7b and act as a myogenesis inhibitor^{27,28}. A different study reported the role of the lncRNA Six 1 in cell proliferation and muscle growth function of the chicken *Six1* gene²⁹. The MUNC lncRNA localized upstream MyoD can increase endogenous MyoD, MyoG and Myh3 mRNA. In addition to gene regulation, some lncRNA can also bind to proteins in order to regulate the muscle development and atrophy thus becoming interesting candidates in myogenesis and regeneration studies^{30,31}.

Thus, muscle development and homeostasis through regeneration depends on complex regulatory networks. Their perturbation is involved in structural and functional changes that occur during muscle atrophy/hypertrophy and regeneration. Therefore, defective regeneration is involved in various muscular diseases including muscular dystrophies, sarcopenia and cachexia. The identification of new components controlling muscle differentiation and regeneration could clarify the molecular pathogenic mechanisms in different diseases and potentially help the development of new therapies.

EXCITATION-CONTRACTION COUPLING

The contractile function of the muscle is ensured by the excitation-contraction coupling, a process by which a muscular action potential causes the contraction of myofibrils resulting in concentric and eccentric muscle contraction³² (Figure 3).



Figure 4 SR Ca^{2+} release and myofibrils contraction illustration. Adapted from Jungbluth et al., 2018

The skeletal muscle contractions are neurogenic as they are initiated by a synaptic input from the motor neurons, followed by a release of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine into the neuromuscular junction. The process of the release and binding of the acetylcholine to the post-synaptic nicotinic acetylcholine receptor will make a change in the conformation of this receptor and allow an influx of sodium ions that will initiate a post-synaptic action potential. This action potential will travel along the sarcolemma to the T-tubules of the Sarcoplasm and will reach the SR^{4,33,34}.

Dihydropyridine (DHPR) receptors, L-type calcium channel Cav1.1 voltage sensor localized on sarcomere T-tubules mediate detection of changes in membrane potential (depolarization) and will activate the RyR1 receptor leading to a massive release of the calcium ions from the SR in the cytoplasm. Calcium will bind to troponin allowing the actin-myosin binding and myosin heads evacuate power stroke and allow to actin filament to slide toward the center of the sarcomere. The decrease of free cytosolic calcium will unbind the remaining calcium from troponin and will result in myosin head release and the return to the relaxed position. Dynamic regulatory process between partner proteins as calsequestrin, triadin, junctin and the calcium concentration assure the fine tuning of the RyR1 receptor ³⁵.

THE DYSTROPHIN-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN COMPLEX (DAPC)

The dystrophin-associated protein complex (DAPC) is one of the most important structure allowing the maintenance of fiber integrity during muscle contraction. This multidimensional structure spanned the different levels of the cellular localization (Figure 4): extracellular (α -dystroglycan); transmembrane (β -dystroglycan, sarcoglycans, sarcospan); cytoplasmic (dystrophin, dystrobrevin, syntrophins, neuronal nitric oxide synthase). Indeed, the DAPC complex has two major roles, the first one as a cornerstone of the membrane stability during muscle contraction and the second one as a scaffold for various signaling and channel proteins³⁶³⁷.



Figure 5 DAPC structure.

The DAPC is a multimeric protein complex that connects the intracellular cytoskeleton of a myofiber to the ECM, which is composed of laminin, collagen, and other proteins. Adapted from F. Rahimov 2013

At the extracellular level, the α -dystroglycan act as receptors for the ligands as laminin and participate to the muscle cell adhesion to the basal lamina. The α -dystroglycan is glycosylated on serine residues (O-glycosylation pathway) and large variety of genes, involved in α -dystroglycan glycosylation as *POMT2*, *POMT2*, *FKTN*, *FKRP* results in a variety of limb girdle associated dystrophies as LGMD2I, K, N and O. Also, the mutation in genes as *LARGE*, *GTDC2*, *POMK* have been identified to cause a large spectrum of congenital muscular dystrophy by interfering in the α -dystroglycan glycosylation pathway. Altogether this large subset of muscle diseases referred as dystroglycanopathies are featuring reduced dystroglycan glycosylation and a high variability in the phenotype presentation ranging from mild congenital muscular dystrophy to dramatic and lethal condition such as brain and eye anomalies. Interestingly, the mutation of the dystroglycan gene itself was identified only recently, as a missense mutation (T192M) that disrupts dystroglycan binding to laminin. This data suggests a vital role in early embryonic development beyond muscle tissues as for example the dystroglycan null mice are embryonic lethal³⁵.

The Sarcoglycan is composed with four single-pass transmembrane proteins: α -sarcoglycan, β -sarcoglycan, γ -sarcoglycan and δ -sarcoglycan³⁸. A single mutation in the genes encoding for these proteins leading to the loss of the transcript open reading frame, affects the stability and the role of the entire complex resulting in limb girdle muscular dystrophies as LGMD2C-F.

The sarcoglycans complex and at the cytoplasm level, the dystrophin protein both interact with β -dystroglycan.

In the cytoplasm syntrophin and α -dystroglycan associate with dystrophin and anchor nNOS to the sarcolemma. Indeed, the specific subsarcolemmal localization of dystrophin assure the membrane maintenance by interaction with the DAPC complex^{37,39}.

DYSTROPHIN

DYSTROPHIN PROTEIN

Dystrophin protein belongs to the DAPC. It is a large (427kDa) sub-sarcolemmal protein that connects cytoskeleton of muscle fibers to the extracellular matrix. The main role of dystrophin is to act as a stabilizer of muscle fiber during the movement. The absence of this protein destabilizes the sarcolemma and result in damage during the contractions. As a structural protein, dystrophin, acts as a scaffold to the assembly of multifunction DAPC complex but also is involved in cell signaling function.

Dystrophin displays four main functional domains, the actin binding amino-terminal (ABD1), the central rod domain, a cysteine-rich domain and a carboxyl-terminus^{35,37} (Figure 5).



Figure 6 The dystrophin protein.

Dystrophin protein has four functional domains including the N-terminal, a long middle rod, cysteinerich, and C-terminal domains. The central rod domain consists of 24 spectrin like repeats arranged head-to-tail and interspersed by four flex. Adapted from Yilmiz, A 2011 The ABD1 has two calponin homology domains (CH1 and CH2) that will connect dystrophin to the actin and anchor it to the costamere proteins as cytokeratin 19 (K19)⁴⁰. The central rod domain has 24 spectrin repeats in a flexible rod shape supposed to assure the shock absorber function. The rod domain has a second ABD2 and form with ABD1 a lateral association with the actin filaments. The spectrin-like repeats 8-9 are connected to PAR-1b and phosphorylates sites in this region, additionally the repeats 20-24 are connected to the microtubule network⁴¹. Interestingly, in vivo experiments revealed the sarcolemmal targeting of nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) an important partner protein was dependent on the spectrin-like repeats 16 and 17 within the rod domain of dystrophin protein. This data suggest that the role of spectrin-like repeats is more than shock absorber and likely serve as a scaffold for the signaling proteins (see details in section 5).

There are four short proline-rich spacers between the 24 spectrin-repeats⁴². At the end of the hinge 4 a WW domain that act as a protein-protein anchor⁴³. Together, the WW with the EF-hands motifs bind the carboxy-terminus to the β -dystroglycan^{44–46}. The cysteine rich domain contains zink finger (ZZ) cysteine reach domain that is the link of the dystrophin to the calmodulin^{47,48}. The carboxy-terminal (CT) domain binds to the syntrophins and dystrobrevin^{39,49,50}.

There are three filamentous structures as F-actin, microtubules and intermediate filaments that are associated to the DPAC and involved in the dystrophic pathology process by their association to the dystrophin protein. For example, the microtubules have a dual structural and signaling function as there are associated to the ROS production in dystrophic muscle. The rod domain of dystrophin is supposed to be acting as a guide for the arrangement of the microtubule lattice⁴¹. The F-actin and the intermediate filaments represent an important element of link to the DPC complex.

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE DMD GENE

The *DMD* gene is the second largest gene after the *TTN (titin)* gene and is localized on X chromosome at Xp21 locus and is approximative 2.4 Mb (Figure 7). It was first described by

Hoffman et al, 1986 and its protein description came a year later⁵¹. The gene is composed of 79 exons and results in a full length 427 kDa protein. The transcription of *DMD* gene is controlled by 7 promoters, three independent ones, reflecting the tissue distribution in brain (B), muscle (M), Purkinje (P) and four internal (R) for retinal, B3 for Brain 3, S for Swann cells, and G for General^{36,52}. There are three full-length tissue-specific isoforms that are expressed in brain (Dp427b) (cerebral cortical, hippocampal), muscle (Dp427m) and Purkinje fibers (Dp427p) and have each a different promoter and first exon. Splicing of the internal promoters (from a unique exon) will result in 5 shorter isoforms. The remaining shorter isoforms are expressed in the retina (Dp260), the Dp140 expressed in the brain but also in the retina and kidney and it starts the exon 45 and the Dp116 (Schwann cells). The shortest isoform, the Dp 71, is ubiquitous⁵².



Figure 7 Schematic illustration of X chromosome and the DMD gene.

Black arrows indicating the promotor localization of each dystrophin isoform. (B) Dystrophin isoforms classified by size length. Adapted from Muntoni, F 2003

The large size of this gene can be explained not only by the largest exon number but also by the intron's length. About 99% of *DMD* gene is represented by its non-coding sequences as the transcript is only 14kb long and the ORF (open reading frame) is 11kb. Indeed, two very long

introns are present in the gene: intron 44 (248kb) and intron 55 (120kb) while the others are 2.3-5.4 BP ⁵³(Figure 8 B).



Figure 8 DMD exons and introns scheme illustration.

(A)Exons are illustrated in blue boxes and introns grey line. Red arrows indicating dystrophin isoform promoters. Black arrows illustrating the dystrophin protein structure. (B) DMD gene introns illustration. Adapted from e-dystrophin et Aoki et al.

There are more than 7000 different known mutations and a high spontaneous mutations rate with in 2/3 of cases maternally inherited mutations and in 1/3 *de novo* mutations^{54,55}. In the large mutational spectrum, the 2/3 of total mutations are deletions and the rest are duplications, insertions, point mutations and splicing mutations. The type of mutation and more precisely the interruptions of the reading frame and subsequently the protein production is predictive of the clinical phenotype in the majority of cases. Monaco *et al.* 1988 and Koenig *et al.* 1989 have described the reading frame mutation theory separating BMD and DMD^{56,57}.

As per Monaco rule, if a mutation leads to an out-of-frame shift and results in a premature stop codon that will not allow the production of a functional dystrophin protein, the patient will be associated with a DMD phenotype. In contrary, in BMD the in-frame mutation preserves a shorter but functional protein and is associated with a lighter clinical phenotype^{50,58,59}.

BMD and DMD are X-linked recessive disorders. Despite the X-linked recessive transmission and thus largely affecting boys/men, there are also affected females due to the X-inactivation. It has been described that 1/3 of females carrying DMD mutation are presenting clinical symptoms as described in BMD and very few cases as DMD type due to the mutations in the both gene alleles^{60,61}. Several studies have identified two mutational hotspots at exon 3-9 and exon 45-55. Interestingly, the multiple exons 45-55 deletion are in-frame deletion and the described patients with this mutation are described as having a mild phenotype⁵⁰.

The detailed study of *DMD* gene spectrum of mutation in DMD patients revealed that 61% of patients present large deletions and 13% duplications and in 26% point mutations. As for BMD patients in 81% the mutations are deletions and only 6% duplications and finally in 13% point mutations^{55,62}. It is known that DMD/BMD can results from either inherited or spontaneous mutations in the *DMD* gene^{63,64}.

Interestingly there are some exceptions to the Monaco rule, for example, in patients with milder phenotypes who had out-of-frame deletions of exons 3–7 or patients with deletions that did not disrupt the reading frame who exhibited more severe phenotypes^{58,63}. Moreover, Flanigan et al reported a particular BMD founder allele (c.9T>G; p.Trp3X) that escaped from the reading frame rule. Indeed, despite a nonsense mutation resulting in absent protein translation the patient featured mild distrophinopathy and the muscular biopsy detected dystrophin protein expression at relatively high level with a minimally decreased size. Authors reported that the

amelioration of disease severity result from alternative translation initiation beginning in DMD exon 6 that lead to the expression of a highly functional N-truncated dystrophin by using a glucocorticoid - inducible internal ribosome entry site (IRES) within exon 5^{65,66}.

BMD WITH HOTSPOT DELETION OF EXONS 45-55 (BMDDEL45-55)

We reported here a large mutational *spectrum* of the *DMD* gene. Indeed, not only there are an increasing number of reported exceptions to the reading frame rule but also several regions in the DMD gene have a higher risk for mutations.

IN-FRAME VERSUS OUT-OF-FRAME

Deletions can occur anywhere within the *DMD* gene, but a mutations hotspot has been described localized between exons 44 and 55, the longest introns of the gene^{62,67}. Deletion spanning exon 45 to exon 55 (del45–55) is associated with very mild or even asymptomatic cases^{68,69}. This deletion removes spectrin repeats 17 to 22, and this truncated dystrophin lacks part of the binding sites for neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS), mediated by spectrin repeats 16 and 17. Although generally mild, variations of disease severity exist between patients carrying del45–55, and this variable phenotype correlates with nNOS sarcolemma localization⁷⁰. In a study of 12 patients with del45–55, the mild/asymptomatic group had mainly sarcolemma nNOS, while the more severe group exhibited an exclusive cytosolic nNOS⁷¹.

ABSENT VERSUS PRESENT TRUNCATED PROTEIN

Since the clinical description of DMD/BMD and the discovery of the *DMD* gene, the development of dystrophin-specific antibodies led to the recognition of the dystrophin expression as a diagnostic biomarker. From the first reported studies until now, the postulate of

the lack of the 427 kDa dystrophin protein in muscle as a positive DMD diagnostic argument remains still actual. However, despite a large number of research studies at this time, the amount of dystrophin needed to assure clinical benefit remains uncertain^{71,72}.

As stipulated in literature data very low level dystrophin was detected in DMD patients. It was assumed that the presence of revertant fibers altogether with the presence of minor in-frame alternatively spliced mRNAs could explain the positive detected dystrophin^{52,63,73}.

Literature data report dystrophin levels below 10% in DMD patients and very severe BMD patients⁵⁸. In a recent study, our team reported that BMD patients had a range of dystrophin level with the lowest above 60% ⁷⁴. Different authors reported patients with exon 45–47 deletion with dystrophin levels varied from 13% to 76%, however no correlation between dystrophin protein level and disease severity was found⁷⁵. Similarly, threshold effects were observed in another study comparing dystrophin levels in out-of-frame to those in in-frame deletions within the exon 42–49 region⁷⁶. In regard to recent FDA/EMA approved therapies by exon skipping, it is coherent that even low level of truncated dystrophin can be beneficial (EXONDYS 51).

As mentioned above in BMD patients, the dystrophin in-frame transcripts allow the production of a shorter but functional dystrophin. Despite that BMD patients have a high clinical variability. Many dystrophin quality and quantity studies tempted to define disease evolution dichotomy between DMD and BMD; on top of the variability of quantity and probably quality of present dystrophin, it should be underlined that this protein is present in BMD patients since birth in opposition to DMD patients⁷⁷.

Dystrophin structure involvement in clinical heterogeneity was analyzed in BMD patients carrying different in-frame deletions in the mutational hot spot of the *DMD* gene. Clinical phenotype was correlated with modelling and biochemical data and found that the structural characteristics of dystrophin at the deletion site are strongly associated with phenotype severity in BMD patients. Precisely, BMDdel45–48 and del45–51 patients exhibit structural features similar to wild-type protein at the deletion site have a slower disease progression compared with del45–47 or del45–49 deletions which both lead to profound structural modifications of dystrophin⁴⁵. Similar data were reported for del45-47 of 45-48 patients in a different study that reported BMD phenotype in 97%⁷⁸.

Moreover, recent studies reveled long non-coding RNA (lncRNA) sequences localized in intron 44 and 56. The expression profiles of these lncRNA were inversely correlated with muscle dystrophin expression in DMD female carriers suggesting a negative relationship between lncRNA and dystrophin mRNA⁷⁹.

These data suggest that in addition to the dystrophin quantity, the structural difference of the resulting protein but also the presence of regulatory sequences are influencing the resulting clinical phenotype.

DYSTROPHINOPATHIES

CLINICAL PRESENTATION

Muscular dystrophies are genetic conditions characterized by muscle waste with progressive evolution of weakness and atrophy. The Duchenne, Becker and X-linked muscular dystrophies are due to mutations in the same gene. All these related conditions affect skeletal and cardiac muscles.

DUCHENNE MUSCULAR DYSTROPHY (DMD)

DMD is a lethal progressive genetic, X-linked disorder due to mutations in the DMD gene and resulting with the absence of functional dystrophin protein. DMD is an X-linked recessive condition affecting 1 in 5000 newborn boys^{45,64,80–83}. As described earlier, the dystrophin protein is a large structural protein that connects the cytoskeleton of muscle fibers to the extracellular matrix and one of its known functions is to stabilize the muscle fiber during the movement. The absence of this large protein is causing muscle fibers damage and results in inflammation and muscle fiber regeneration inhibition. Progressively inflammation-necrosis cycles lead to the replacement of the muscle with fibrotic and adipose tissue.

The clinical presentation is well described, starting in the early childhood at the age of 2-3 years with a global developmental delay in the first place^{76,83–85}. The personal history of affected boys is characterized mainly but not exclusively with a delay in the walking acquisition (> 18 months), progressive walking impairment with a tiptoe walk due to ankle contractions and a classic Gowers sign⁸⁶. The gradual loss of muscle tissue results in loss of ambulation approximatively at the age of 12 years, despite the supportive corticosteroid therapy^{84,85,87–89}. Progressively the upper limbs are affected with respiratory and cardiac complications resulting in a limited life expectation and premature death in the fourth decade of life^{84,90,91}.

The actual standards of care recommend the corticosteroids therapy in the majority of patients under close monitoring for the side effects. This treatment delayed the age of the loss of ambulation and help to maintain the muscle force. The cardioprotective therapy, the noninvasive ventilation aside with the cough assist, nutritional management with gastrointestinal tube feeding allowed to improve the quality of life^{83,84}.

X-LINKED CARDIAC DYSTROPHY (XLCD)

A particular place in the spectrum of BMD phenotype presentation are the cardiac myopathy without skeletal muscle symptoms, the age of onset is between 20 or 30 years in young men with a rapid evolution and sometimes severe presentation because of the lack of skeletal muscle signs. In female carriers the onset is later, around 40 years old and the evolution of slowly progressive. This presentation underlines the importance of the family genetic counseling in all newly diagnosed families.

BECKER MUSCULAR DYSTROPHY (BMD)

GENERAL DESCRIPTION

Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD) is a part of a dystrophy disorders caused by mutations in the *DMD* gene with a large spectrum of phenotype presentation. The BMD is caused by "inframe" mutations in DMD gene that results in a partial or truncated dystrophin protein.

BMD was first described by Emile Becker in 1953 as a variant with a mild severity form of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD). The clinical presentation is very heterogenous ranging from asymptomatic or pauci-symptomatic forms with increased level of CPR (creatine-phosphokinases) or with skeletal muscles cramps with or without associated myoglobinuria. The severe clinical presentation can have a similar phenotype as in DMD presentation with severe impairment of skeletal muscles or have a manly cardiac presentation.

BMD is a rare disease, affecting 1:11,500–19,000 males^{64,92}. The large range of the clinical presentation's spectrum with the presence of mild clinical phenotypes can explain the difference in the incidence of BMD with over muscular dystrophies, as DMD which is 5-6 times more frequent. Cardiac failure is the major complication in both DMD and BMD^{64,93}. In BMD patients with poor skeletal muscle phenotype rare cases of emergency heart transplant were reported. Classically BMD patients have a slowly progressive skeletal muscle impairment. The actual standards of care, especially concerning the cardiac follow-up and treatment improved quality of life in BMD patients.

CLINICAL PRESENTATIONS

THE CLASSIC PRESENTATION

Young adult male consulting the general physician for the skeletal muscle complains characterized by slowly progressive muscular deficit of the pelvic muscle groups, an impressive bilateral hypertrophy of calves and elevated CPK and liver enzymes^{85,91,94,95}. The family history can be positive with a recessive X liked transmission pedigree. The first clinical signs appear in the early teens, with a slow progression of the skeletal muscle symptoms. The skeletal muscles symptoms start with the lower limb's weakness with an association in walking fatigue and/or deficit. The walking injury is associated in some cases with an effort intolerance and/or pain and/or fatigue. The first involved muscle groups in lower limbs include the quadriceps and the hip flexors with a secondary involvement of upper limb, more particularly with biceps and wrist extensors. The muscular deficit is characterized by a particular walking pattern with a tiptoe walk, waddling gate and positive ankles retractions. Similar to the DMD boys, the patients have Gowers's maneuver, which is characterized by a muscular deficit when rising from the floor. Another common feature with DMD presentation is the calf bilateral hypertrophy, commonly explained by the ongoing process of fibrosis and oedema. The difference between the DMD/BMD clinical presentation remains clinical and based on the disease progression in the skeletal muscle involvement. The decision-making criteria is based on the lower limbs muscular deficit evaluation looking for the age of loss of ambulation (LoA) and/or wheel chair dependence: < 13 years old for the DMD phenotype and > 16 years for the BMD clinical presentation, with several intermediate phenotype presentation (13-16 yo). The link between the age of first clinical signs and the progression of the disease remain unclear. The current available data implies a slow progressive evolution for the patients with first clinical signs >30 years old.

In addition to the skeletal muscle presentation, BMD patients have an association with cardiac dilatative cardiomyopathy^{64,93}. The cardiac injury is characterized by the left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) <45%. The cardiac presentation can be also variable, in some patients with a classic presentation of dilated cardiomyopathy, in others the cardiac injury is slow and marked by a hypokinetic cardiac function associated or not with fibrosis of the left lower lateral cardiac territory. The cardiac failure remains common in the patients with absent cardiac follow-up and preventive treatment. Some patients have also an association of moderate
conduction impairment, and extrasystoles, the risk of the sudden death and a ventricular tachycardia or ventricular atrial block (VAB) remain very low. The prevalence of cardiomyopathy is age dependent and estimated between 30-40%, 15% with the age of onset before 20 yo and 55% after 40years old. BMD patients can have the association of the central nervous systems impairment, more commonly described in the infantile clinical presentation.

EARLY INFANCY PRESENTATION

BMD is commonly described as an adult disease. The detailed personal history can underline in some cases a developmental delay associated with a delay in walking acquisition and frequent falls in early childhood. The young boys present at clinical examination symmetric calf hypertrophy and low limb deficiency with various severity. The lower limb deficiency can be responsible for the tiptoe walking, ankle retractions and progressively the onset of the pelvic insufficiency. As mentioned above, the first clinical signs are not necessarily exclusively motor but also fatigue, effort intolerance, attention and hyperactivity disorders with or/without cognitive impairment. In some cases, autistic spectrum features are described in first intention with secondary skeletal muscle symptoms^{81,95}.

PAUCI-SYMPTOMATIC PRESENTATION

The BMD is characterized by a very heterogeneous clinical presentation with several patients presenting isolated high CK level, myalgia, calf hypertrophy, cramps without any skeletal muscle deficit. These clinical presentations can be responsible for the delay in the diagnosis and represent a group of patients with high risk of cardiac complications due to the lack of cardiac follow-up and cardioprotective therapy. Moreover, the sustained physical exercise can worsen the cardiac condition and lead to cardiac failure⁹⁶.

A pseudo-metabolic presentation is commonly reported in BMD patients reporting muscle cramps, effort intolerance, recurrent myoglobinuria and rhabdomyolysis episodes.

FEMALE CARRIERS

The BMD female carriers can have clinical manifestation in 5 to 22% of cases^{55,84,97,98}. The diagnosis in young girls is usually secondary to an abnormal blood test with high liver enzymes and CK. The skeletal muscle symptoms can vary from cramps and effort intolerance to muscle weakness of variable degree. The main risk is the cardiac complications due to a sustained physical exercise and lack of cardiac follow-up and preventive treatment. The cardiac injury is similar to the classic BMD presentation with a progressive systolic failure complicated with a dilatative cardiomyopathy and ultimately with a cardiac failure.

DIAGNOSIS

In the case of the absence of family history the diagnosis is based on the typical clinical presentation in adult male. As the clinical presentation is confirmed, the blood investigation will complete the diagnosis with the detection of the elevated CK blood level, eventually a muscular biopsy is proposed in case of atypical clinical presentation in order to perform a differential diagnosis for the metabolic presentation with effort intolerance, myoglobinuria and rhabdomyolysis. The diagnosis confirmation will be genetic. In contrary, for the presentations with a positive family history and a positive clinical presentation a genetic test is proposed in first intention^{94,95}.

The diagnosis is frequently delayed in the case of infant presentation. The developmental delay or the behavior and speech disabilities can delay the examination of this boys by experimented pediatric neurologist for diagnostic confirmation. Once well oriented, the CK elevated level and in some cases, positive family history will conduct to genetic testing. The muscular biopsy remains optional.

ELECTROMYOGRAM (EMG)

There is no use of EMG investigation for diagnostic purposes except for the atypical presentations. The motor and sensor conduction study it's normal with a typical myogenic profile and absent decrement. Sometimes, if the investigation is conducted at advanced stages of the dystrophy with a large area of muscle inflammation and necrosis, the myogenic profile is abolished and there is a mixt or a pseudo neurogenic profile.

MUSCLE IMAGING

The muscle imaging is optional in case of clinical research follow-up trial in specialized centers and is not necessary for the diagnostic confirmation except for atypical presentation. In the large majority of presentation, the topography of affected muscles are as follows: *medius* and *maximus gluteus, quadiceps, longus* and *magnus adductors, semitendineus, semimembraneus* and *biceps femoris*. At the upper limb the triceps lateral a long head and the *biceps brachii*. The dystrophy presentation is symmetrical and the deltoid and coraco-brachialis muscles are spare. The choice of the imaging is predominantly by Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) for the topography identification and severity evolution follow-up^{99–101}.

MUSCULAR BIOPSY

The muscular biopsy remains important in the era of genetic testing as it provides useful information of the neuromuscular process in case of negative family history. It is usually performed in surgical conditions depending on the protocol of the reference center where it is conducted. During the biopsy a small sample of muscle is collected by ever open or needle biopsy. The advantage of the needle biopsy is the procedure length quicker than an open biopsy but unfortunately frequently the quality of the collected tissue remains poor for some specific histologic analysis and the quantity is sometimes insufficient for all the required analysis. The

majority of French reference centers for neuromuscular disorders have chosen to practice the open biopsies and the most frequent biopsy area is the deltoid of the quadriceps muscles and the biopsies weight average is around 20-30mg. The quality of the biopsy and also the degree of dystrophy of the biopsied muscle is important to be taken into consideration for the further analysis. Once, harvested, one fragment of the biopsy is snap freezed in isopentane for the diagnosis analysis and the second fragment, is placed in liquid nitrogen for -80° storage. Particular care is taken in order to store the second fragment without the interruption of the cold chain for Western Blot (WB) analysis.

THE MICROSCOPY ANALYSIS

The microscopy analysis allows the experienced pathologists to use immunohistochemistry analyses to confirm the dystrophy by the association of the necrosis process (pale fibers at hemtoxyline-eosine-safran dye), of regeneration (small fiber and basophiles) and fibrosis. There is also a fiber size variation, with small multinuclear fiber, and bigger ones. In some advanced stages there is an important adipose and fibrosis infiltrate of the muscle at endomysium and interstitial levels overcoming the muscle tissue. But also, depending on the intensity of the dystrophy the sparce difference between the fiber size along with rare regions of necrosis and central nuclei can be the only manifestation at the early timepoint of the diseas^{102,103}. Interestingly, Kaido et al 1991, described a difference in the BMD muscle pathology depending on age at the biopsy. As mentioned, in younger patients (<=15 years old), the pathology is manifested predominantly by the features of necrosis and regeneration, whereas, in patients >15 years old, the chronic myopathic changes are predominant with increased centralized nuclei, split fibers, fiber size variation and endomysial fibrosis¹⁰⁴. There are mainly three methods of analysis of dystrophin protein, the Archevala-Gomeza, Taylor and Beckman¹⁰⁵. In the first method the muscular sections are labeled with dystrophin only, the circles are placed overs the selected areas of sarcolemma and maximum membrane intensity within the circles is calculated¹⁰⁶. In the Taylor method, sections are dual labeled with dystrophin and spectrin (a plasma membrane surface cytoskeletal protein) and the average of dystrophin intensity from all the fibers are calculated¹⁰⁷. In the Beekman et al 2014 the sections are again dual-labeled with dystrophin and spectrin and the distribution of dystrophin intensity for each fiber is calculated¹⁰⁸.

The three of them has been implemented successfully for several years and recently⁹² an expert consortium have demonstrated the excellent interrater reproducibility in two of them (the Beekman method was used only by one participating center). Despite these time proofed methods of measurement of dystrophin intensity there are some new methods currently in use like the MuscleMap. This method has the advantage of assessing the dystrophin intensity in individual fiber identified by a membrane-associated marker (i.e. laminin- α 2 or spectrin) in a duplex immunostaining assay. In addition, MuscleMap software includes a measure of the circumference of the membrane with dystrophin or utrophin expression), biomarker intensity and morphometric features (such as minimum fiber diameter). Also, the morphometric measuring feature will assess levels of intra- and inter-fiber heterogeneity, and counts the number of revertant fibers^{109,110}.

Together, these data illustrate the diversity of the current methods of dystrophin analysis in IFstained sections measuring intensity in both positive and negative fibers, measuring mean vs. maximum intensity vs. distribution of intensity, and measuring intensity in a portion of the membrane vs. the entire membrane. Overall, continuous efforts are made in order to improve the actual image analysis techniques to overcome biases in sample selection as well as manual scoring. Many of the presented methods are currently used in order to accurately and consistently measure biomarker changes in clinical trials.

DYSTROPHIN QUANTIFICATION

The measurement of dystrophin expression in BMD/DMD muscle biopsies is an important step of diagnosis process and a challenging biochemical outcome measure for the clinical trials. The relative quantification of dystrophin protein is performed by the western blot technique (WB). The WB is a method to detect proteins by transferring (blotting) proteins separated by electrophoresis from a gel to a membrane corresponding to their molecular weight. The muscular isoform of the dystrophin protein is a large-scale protein of 427kDa. For this large-scale protein is difficult to have a standard. Thus, a standard curve is proposed to be used from the extraction of healthy control muscle. The current practice is to report the dystrophin amounts in terms of percent dystrophin found in healthy control (e.g., percentage of healthy control where the control is assumed to be 100%). In BMD patients, there are very few thorough studies of dystrophin expression. The reported dystrophin expression values in patients with BMD vary dramatically due to multiple factors as the natural variability of dystrophin levels

across patients. Moreover, the difficulties in dystrophin quantification are enhanced by the presence of pre-existing revertant fibers with residual trace dystrophin and the large size of the protein and its low expression in some particular, out of frame, genetic mutation of *DMD* gene and ultimately by the method of detection^{57,92,105,111}. As demonstrated in a previous work of our team, the dystrophin quantification by WB in BMD patients is around 60-70% compared to healthy subjects⁷⁴. Actually, there is a number of challenging clinical trials with dystrophin correction and replacement therapies in DMD. Thus, the methodology of WB became very important as it is used as secondary outcome measure in a large number of clinical trials in DMD.

In addition to the described methods, there are alternative methods such as mass spectrometry and ELISA for the detection of the linear increments of dystrophin from very small amounts of biological samples.

We reported here the detailed clinical phenotype in Becker muscular dystrophy and highlighted the highly heterogeneous feature of BMD. However, literature data is based on detailed clinical reports but larger cohorts with similar mutation pattern are still missing. Indeed, phenotype and genotype variability were broadly reported between mutations sharing similar domains of dystrophin protein. Precise genotyping highlighted that different *DMD* gene deletions can affect the properties of the resulting dystrophin protein as for example the loss of functionally critical N- or C- terminal domains and may result in DMD-like phenotypes⁸⁷. The current advancement in genetic screening and diagnostics has the potential to complete the missing pieces and diagnostic caveats in DMD and BMD and help establish a long term clinical prognosis and therapy choice.

Generalities

The high clinical heterogeneity and genetic complexity reveal a multifactorial pathomechanism in DMD/BMD (Figure 9).

The elevations in intracellular Ca2+ level by "leaking channel", increased membrane permeability, increased levels of reactive oxygen species and modifications in the expression and function of nitric oxide synthase, NADPH oxidase and caveolins proteins are considered to take part to the dystrophic process³⁵.

In order to address causal gene relationship into the cellular and molecular mechanisms animal models have been used despite some pathological differences to humans. The mice model is frequently used in preclinical studies for proof-of-principle, dosage and efficacy studies. Larger animal models as golden retriever dog model (GRMD) are also of major interest in pathomechanism and preclinical development. The GRMD model has a naturally occurring mutation at intron 6 in *DMD* gene¹¹⁰. Also, different type of mutations has been described in canine model. In mice, there is a naturally occurring dystrophic mouse strain displaying a point mutation, changing the amino acid coding for glutamine to stop codon in exon 23 of *DMD* gene (*mdx*, X-chromosomal linked muscular dystrophy). The *mdx*, genotype display a mild phenotype and a near-normal life expectancy. In addition to the spontaneous mutations resulting in a muscular dystrophy phenotype, many mouse models have been genetically engineered^{110,112}. The dystrophy pathomechanism was largely described in these animal models.



Figure 9 Scheme presentation of dystrophic pathomechanism process. Adapted from Allen 2016

CALCIUM FLUX

The first studies in the mechanisms involved in the pathogenic process in DMD muscle have revealed, by electronic microscopy (EM) evidence, focal disruptions in the skeletal muscle cell membrane and elevations in intracellular Ca^{2+35} (Allen *et al.*, 2016). Elevated intracellular Ca^{2+35} (concentration in DMD muscles suggested its role in the pathologic mechanism^{113,113}.

The hypothesis of a membrane damage caused during contraction was demonstrated in mdx mice model^{35,114}. In addition, there is a demonstrated correlation between the decreased Ca²⁺ release rate and sustained muscle contraction¹¹⁵. Recently, new studies showed that Ca²⁺ pathway is involved in fatigue, a constant symptom in BMD/DMD patients. Literature data underline an important link between fatigue muscle, Ca²⁺ and sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR)^{116–} ¹¹⁸. These observations are based on the study of fatigue muscle and the measurement of vesicle

 Ca^{2+} -ATPase activity, as well as SR vesicle uptake and release rates. Moreover, the dystrophin loss combined with Ca^{2+} influx and muscle contraction results in muscle damage in *mdx* mice. Also, evidence of myonecrosis and regeneration was found in muscle damage during unlimited activity versus in limb muscles kept at fixed length^{35,114,119,120}.

NITRIC OXIDE (NO)

Dystrophin protein has multiple protein partners and among these multiple connections an important role resides for the nitric oxide synthase (NOS) protein³⁷. There are three distinct genes coding of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) protein: *NOS1* (nNOS), *NOS2* (inducible NOS, iNOS) *NOS3* (endothelial NOS, eNOS) and the nNOS isophorme is the most predominant from the four known isoforms. The nNOS protein with a specific insert (μ) is muscle specific and has complex functions. In skeletal muscle nNOS is localized at the sarcolemma and cytoplasm. Associated with DAPC, nNOS acts as a signalling protein⁷⁰. The produced NO may regulate the adaptation to exercise in skeletal muscle by the modulation of excitation-contraction coupling, glucose uptake, regulation of vascular perfusion during contraction and calcium mobilization in healthy muscle. Indeed, in healthy skeletal muscle nNOS μ allows the release of NO into the muscle vasculature during contraction resulting into a vessels dilatation. The nNOS μ mislocalization from membrane will result with focal ischemia and necrosis.

Interestingly, a recent study from our group reported that cytosolic mislocalization of nNOSµ correlated with hypernitrosylation of the SR ryanodine receptor type-1 (RYR1) and release of calstabin-1 in skeletal muscle biopsies from BMDdel45-55 patients⁷⁴.

These listed functions and also the role of nNOS and NO in the increase of reactive oxygen (ROS) and nitrogen species (RNS) highlight its involvement in DMD and BMD pathology 35,84 . As expected, in DMD patients reduced nNOS results in ischemia and impaired vasodilatation but also increase in the ROS producing NADPH oxidase NOX2^{84,92,121}. Recent studies identified that nNOS requires α -syntrophin for the DAPC association. The 16-17 repeat of the dystrophin rod domain is necessary for the nNOS association^{70,121}. In mdx model the AAV-mediated dystrophin constructs including the spectrin-like repeats 16-17 in the rod domain reported a beneficial role for the nNOS restoration. The importance of the nNOS restoration in DMD patients will hopefully be revealed by the comparison of the AAV-mediated

microdystrophin construct among the three microdystrophin constructs that are currently tested in clinical trials (*cf.* section 6). Interestingly the loss of nNOS from sarcolemma is not only specific to muscular dystrophies but also in inflammatory myositis, in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and myasthenia gravis suggesting that nNOS participates in the neuromuscular junction function^{122–124}. In these models, with defective transmission at the neuromuscular junction, the associated partners as α -syntrophin and dystrophin are present. As mentioned the nNOS protein is localized also in cytoplasm and is associated with microtubules. The microtubule-associated proteins (MAP) have been involved in the signal transduction by the modulation of microtubules and by the interaction with nNOS and the α -syntrophin. Interestingly, the microtubules interaction is important in the maintenance of the lattice structure of the healthy muscle by the interaction with dystrophin. Consequently, microtubules dysfunctions are supposed to influence calcium and ROS signalling¹²⁵. The debate is still open on the role of nNOS in dystrophic process as it remains unclear if abnormalities in nNOS are at the origin or a consequence in the pathogenic process.



Figure 10 ROS mechanism in dystrophic muscle. Adapted from Allen et al. 2016.

REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES (ROS)

ROS are chemical species containing oxygen molecules. In a biological context, ROS are the result of the normal metabolism of oxygen, they chemically react with lipids, DNA, and proteins to modulate their structure and function. Based on their function ROS are important actors in cell signaling and homeostasis¹²⁶. The disequilibrium in ROS production and/or reduced scavenge function will result in a pathological condition characterized by cellular damage and defined as an oxidative stress¹²⁷.

As described above, in skeletal muscle multiple pathophysiological conditions such as hypoxia, metabolic disorders and aging car result in oxidative stress as depicted in Figure 10. Consequently, this will lead to impairment of muscle function, reduced regenerative capacity, atrophy, and finally muscle weakness³⁵. On the other part, ROS are recognized to participate to many physiological functions as muscle regeneration, mitochondrial function and muscle hypertrophy¹²⁸. Based on their versatile functions, antioxidants were tested in several clinical trials in DMD. Despite the lack of improvement in muscle strength, which was the primary outcome, some improvements were reported overall¹²⁹.

THERAPIES

Generalities

DMD is a lethal genetic disorder but several new therapies are currently available to eligible DMD patients with specific mutations. As reported here, the multifactorial character of dystrophin injury patho-mechanism reveals the complexity of the therapy development.

The standard of care includes the use of corticosteroids and prevent or assist the cardiac, respiratory and orthopedic secondary complications^{83,86,88}. In the last decade the corticosteroids offered multiple benefits in DMD patients by stabilizing muscle strength and function, prolonging independent ambulation and delaying the progression of scoliosis and cardiomyopathy⁹⁵.

In addition, several different therapy approaches are evolving with the aim to transform the severe DMD in the BMD form of the disease. These therapies assume that BMD is a mild disease. However, this is not completely true as BMD patients have a highly heterogeneous clinical presentation. Currently there is no molecular basis explanation of the clinical heterogeneity of the BMD. Despite a less severe presentation than DMD and a preserved life span, BMD patients have a slowly progressive clinical presentation with skeletal muscle deficit in a large number of BMD patients. Currently there is one clinical trial for BMD patients and this limited number is probably reflecting the difficulties in development of clinical trials in this highly clinically heterogeneous population (Table1).

PREMATURE STOP CODON MUTATIONS

The premature stop codon mutation of DMD gene arise in approximatively 10%-15% DMD patients. As indicated by the name, the nucleotide triplets within mRNA release prematurely the signal of the termination of the protein translation. In result, the ribosomal subunits dissociate and the protein is shortened and usually lacking critical amino-acid parts. TranslarnaTM (ataluren) stop-codon read-through therapy binds to the ribosomal subunits and prevent the premature stop codon recognition (NCT02369731). This is the first EMA/FDA

condition approval therapy and the latest safety and effectiveness comparison results from the STRIDE Registry and CINRG DMD Natural History Study were reported recently. According to the authors, children treated with Translarna in a real-world setting as part of STRIDE registry were able to walk independently for an additional 3.5 years compared with a propensity score matched cohort in the CINGR natural history study with a median age at loss of ambulation of 14.5 years and 11 years and free of significant adverse effects. Final data from the STRIDE registry are expected in 2025⁸⁸.

Therapy	current status
Stop-codon read-through	
Ataluren / Translarna®	AMM registry STRIDE
Exon skipping therapy	This TTT
AVI-4658 / Exondys51® / eteplirsen (skipping exon 51)	Phase III
SRP 5051 (skipping exon 51)	Phase II
SPR 4045 / conjugation (chinging at on 45)	Phase III
NS-080/NCNP-02 (skipping exon 44)	Phase I/II
DS-5141b (skinning exon 45)	Phase I/II
WVF-21020	on hold
scAAV9.U7.ACCA (skipping exon 2)	Phase I/II
Gene therapy	
AAVrh74.MCKMicro-Dystrophin (SRP-9001)	Phase II
PF-06939926	Phase II
SGT-001	Phase I/II
AAV-micro-dystrophin (Généthon)	in progress
Cell therapy	
Myoblasts transplantation	Phase I/II
CAP-1002 - cardiac stem cells	Phase II
Bone marrox stem cells	Phase I/II
Utrophine upregulation	
GALGT2 - rAAVrh74.MCK.GALGT2 gene therapy	Phase I/II
Myostatin inhibitors	Bhasa III (DA (D
Givinostat	Phase III/DMB
BG6202 / R07239361 / Adnestine	on hold
Domagrazumah	on hold
Domagrozumao	on noid
Fibrosis reduction	
Tamoxifène	Phase III
Pamrevlumab	Phase II
Inflamation inhibitors Produce and produce	standard of care therapy
Prednisone/prednisolone	Standard of care merapy Phase II
Deflazacort / Emflaza	Phase IV ED A approved
Vamorolone (VBP15)	Phase lib
Edasalonexent (CAT-1004)	Phase III
Spironolactone	Phase I
Canakinumab (ILARIS)	Phase I/II
TAS-205	Phase II
ATL1102	Phase II
Mitochondria therapy	
Sarconeos (BIO 101)	in progress
ASP0367 (MA-2011)	Phase I
RedOX	
Idebenone	Phase III
NO-synthetase stimulation	
Citrulline et Metformine	Phase III
Cardioprotective therapy	
Nébivolol	Phase III
Bisoprolol	Phase II/III
Spironolactone	Phase III
Riméporide	
Ifetroban	Phase II
Epicatechine	Phase I

Table 1 DMD/BMD therapies adapted from AFM Téléthon

EXON SKIPPING

Exon skipping and exon inclusion drugs as Exondys 51 (Eteplirsen) and Spinraza (Nusinersen) are the first FDA/EMA approved therapies in DMD and spinal muscular atrophy (SMA).

This strategy was developed in regard to the BMD in-frame mutations that result in a milder phenotype and present, partially truncated but functional dystrophin protein. In DMD, antisense oligonucleotides sequences (AON) are currently use to correct specific dystrophin gene mutations by exon skipping. This strategy aims to force the skip of specific exon(s) during the splicing process of preRNA maturation. Indeed, AONs are single-stranded synthetic nucleic acid chains designed to mask specific sequences used by the splicing machinery which can therefore no longer recognize the exon which is skipped with its adjacent introns. Exon skipping was first induced by targeting exon-internal sites, but in order to improve the precise recognition by the splicing machinery, the strategies are currently targeting the exonic splicing enhancer (ESE) motifs^{130,131}. The restoration of the reading frame by the induction of the specific exon or multi-exons skipping results in the partial production of an internally truncated protein as depicted if Figure 11.

In phosphorodiamidate morpholino backbone (PMO), a third generation of AOs, a non-ribosebased modification prevents degradation by nucleases, but the non-ionic structure of these compounds from nuclease activity but their non-ionic structure reduces their nuclear uptake¹³². In the latest generation of AOs, short cell-penetrating peptides have been conjugated to PMO (PPMOs), to increase their ability to penetrate into cells^{133,134}. PPMOs, like all the other AOs produced to date, have the enormous advantage of not being immunogenic, but they must be administered regularly to sustain therapeutic benefits in skeletal muscles and they have been reported to have only weak effects on dystrophin restoration in the heart¹³⁵.





Figure 11 Exon skipping sheme illustration in DMD gene.

Exons are depicted in blue boxes, resulting protein in red. AON=antisens oligonucleotides



Figure 12 MES 45-55 scheme illustration.

Black exons illustrate the mRNA with a out-of-frame mutation. White boxes illustrate the premature mRNA and the corrected open reading frame. In green scheme depiction of the restored reading frame.

The first 2'-O-methyl-phosphorothioate oligoribonucleotide (PRO051) designed to skip exon 51 in dystrophin pre-mRNA did not show statistically significant improvement in treated patients for the six minutes walking test (6MWT) at 49 weeks of treatment. The phosphoramidate morpholino oligomer (PMO) (eteplirsen) designed for specific exon 51 skipping met the primary end point in phase III clinical trial⁷⁷. Despite an increasing number of FDA/EMA approved therapies (exon 51, 53, 45 skipping therapies in ongoing clinical trials)

the number of eligible patients to this specific mutation treatment remains limited (NCT03992430, NCT03218995, NCT02310906, exon 45 (NCT02500381, NCT02530905, NCT03532542, NCT04179409, exon skipping 51 (NCT03375255, NCT03675126, NCT04004065) exon skipping 53 (NCT03167255, NCT04060199) exon skipping 44 (NCT04129294), exon skipping 45 (NCT02667483),

The main limitation to the AON therapies is the specific mutation indication and the uncertain function and stability of the resulting corrected dystrophin. One of the alternatives is the multiexon skipping strategy. Indeed, there are two main mutational hot-spots in *DMD* gene. First one located between exon 2 and $20^{62,67,136}$ and the second one is the largest one, involving exon 45 to 53^{111} . The spontaneous deletion of the exons 45-55 encouraged the development of multiexon skipping despite the initial technical caveats. Indeed, the large number of exons required the design of antisens oligo morpholino mixtures in order to minimize self- and heteroduplex formations. Aoki et al. demonstrated the feasibility of skipping exons 45-55 in H1K*-mdx52* myotubes an in *mdx52* mice by systemic delivery depicted in Figure $12^{53,137}$. The systemic in vivo injection of 10 AONs induced dystrophin expression at the sub-sarcolemma in skeletal muscles throughout the body, up to 15 % of wild-type dystrophin protein levels⁶⁷. Moreover, dystrophin expression was accompanied by the amelioration of the dystrophic changes in skeletal muscle and diaphragm muscles. However, the dystrophin restauration in the heart did not reach similar level as in skeletal muscle with only 2 % of restauration despite the PMO optimization (PMO containing cell-penetrating moiety of octaguanidine dendrimer).

DYSTROPHIN GENE REPLACEMENT

Since the beginning of the development of genetic therapies oriented to the *DMD* gene replacement the main challenge was to find a construct that could incorporate the large DMD gene size. The viral adeno associated vectors (AAV) have limited size of the viral capsid and several attempts to address this limitation resulted into selective exclusion of dystrophin gene regions. In result, several mini- and micro-dystrophin constructs were tested over the years. Although, several micro-dystrophins constructs were described, them only three different micro-dystrophins are currently in clinical trials^{138,139}.



Figure 13 Micro-dystrophin constructions models in actual clinical trials (Adapted from Duan, D. 2018).

The constructions of microdystrophin have five-repeat microgene ($\Delta 3990$), a four-repeat microgene ($\Delta R4-23/\Delta C$) and a different five-repeat microgene ($\mu Dys5R$) (Sarepta-NCT03375164, NCT03769116, Pfizer-NCT03362502, NCT04281485, Solid-NCT03368742)

Despite the differences in the rod domain repeats selection, all constructs have N-terminal, Cysteine-rich domains and spectrin-like repeats 1 and 24, hinges 1 and 4 and the absence of the C-terminal domain. The R16/17 nNOS-binding site is conserved only in μ Dys5R. The choice of different rod domain sites will allow the comparison of the role and the utility of hinge 2 and R16/17 as previously demonstrated in literature data^{42,140}.

Despite the currently ongoing microdystrophin trials, recently preliminary results were reported via press release and congress communications.

One of the clinical trials is currently on hold (Solid) but in the remaining two distinct microdystrophin trials encouraging results have appeared.

The rAAVrh74.MCK.micro-dystrophin (SRP-9001) results in 4 patients at 12 months indicate the absence of serious adverse events (SAE) and a high mean of dystrophin positive fibers (81%) and in 96% sarcolemmal localization of dystrophin protein. Expression was associated with an increase in β -sarcoglycan expression promoting the restoration of DAPC. Motor

function (increased ambulation, increase in muscle strength) was improved in all 4 patients and a clinically meaningful improvement on NSAA at Day 90, with a mean change form baseline (BL) to Year 2 of +7.0. The long-term efficacy will confirm these encouraging results.

The PF-06939926 (Pfizer) is an investigational, recombinant adeno-associated virus serotype 9 (AAV9) capsid carrying a shortened version of the human dystrophin gene (mini-dystrophin) under the control of a human muscle-specific promotor.

Recently Pfizer press release reported that preliminary data from 9 ambulatory boys with DMD was recently presented at the American Society of Gene & Cell Therapy (ASGCT) Annual Meeting. Nine ambulatory patients aged 6 to 12 (mean age: 8 years) received intravenous administration of PF-06939926 and was well-tolerated during the infusion period. Unfortunately, three SAE occurred but fully resolved within 2 weeks due to a probable complement activation for 2 patients. Of the 3 patients in the low dose cohort, the mean percent positive fibers were 28.5% at 2 months and 21.2% at 12 months. Of the 6 patients in the high dose cohort, the mean percent positive fibers at 2 months was 48.4%. For the 3 patients in the high dose cohort for whom 12-month data are available, the mean percent positive fibers were 50.6% at 12 months.

BL NSAA scores after one year, compared with the scores in an independent, external control group derived from recent prior clinical trials involving boys with DMD, who were matched specifically by age, weight and function (i.e. median loss of 4 points in NSAA total score for external placebo group [N=61] vs. improvement of 3.5 points in the Phase 1b patients [N=6], p = 0.003). Further results are necessary in order to confirm long-term efficacy.

CRISPR-CAS9 MES 45-55

Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR-Cas9) are RNA-guided DNA endonuclease system that allows the specific sequence targeting in the genome. The Nobel prize in Chemistry 2020 was awarded to Emmanuelle Carpentier et Jennifer Doudna for their contribution in the development of that gene editing technology. In contrast to OANs that requires multiple systemic delivery the CRISPR-Cas9 unique technology has potential for permanent exon skipping which can restore the disrupted *DMD* reading frame. Recently CRISPR-Cas9 technologies were delivered by viral tissue specific vectors in order to correct the *DMD* mutation in target tissues. This technique was designed to correct the *DMD* mutations especially in relatively inaccessible area such as the heart.

CRISPR-Cas9 system will target a precise specific sequence, the gRNA will induce a DSB (Double Strand Break) in any selected DNA sequence upon the administration of Cas9 enzyme. The designed sequence will be localized near a PAM site recognized by the Cas9 enzyme and in the most frequent cases the DSB is repaired by non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) mechanisms resulting in random insertions and/or deletions at the site of cleavage.

There are three main strategies as repair mechanisms. The single gRNA in order to target cleavage at/or near a premature codon stop in a *DMD* exon, indel formation by NHEJ reframing will restore the reading frame. The second mechanism will sgRNA to target cleavage at or near splicing sequences in DMD exons/introns and NHEJ will allow for classical exon skipping. The third one will use two gRNAs to target cleavage in separate exons or introns, so deletion of more exons can be achieved in order to perform single ES or MES (Kenji Lim 2018).



Figure 14 CRISPR-Cas9 system repair mechanism. Adapted from Lim et al 2018 doi: <u>10.3390/jpm8040038</u>

In vitro, first single exon skipping by CRISPR-Cas9 has been successfully demonstrated in iPSCs form DMD patient harboring an exon 44 deletion resulting in restoration of dystrophin expression^{141,142}. Based on these encouraging in vitro data and after the mouse models^{143,144} followed by the canine CRISPR-Cas9 study in deltaR50-MD dog model of DMD¹⁴⁵. Dystrophin restauration was achieved up to 3-90% of normal altogether with improved muscle histology. These large-animal results confirm that dystrophin restoration including in heart muscle (92%) is achieved by gene editing approaches. More studies are needed in order to

complete these initial encouraging reports with function data and immunogenic responses for the in human systemic treatment.

In conclusion, we reported here a synthesis of the main therapy development strategies but more therapies are currently in preclinical development with high potential of combined or supportive DMD therapies. Indeed, compared to the limited therapy choice for DMD patients in the recent past, currently, several exon skipping drugs are available for eligible DMD patients. Despite that, there is a growing number of negative results of phase II and III clinical trials that highlight the complexity of the dystrophic process and the need of better understanding of the pathomechanism of this complex disorder. Indeed, biomarker and personalized screening are currently in development in order to improve the design and conduct of preclinical and clinical studies in DMD. Importantly, despite a BMD milder phenotype, recent, detailed clinical reports identified that even the in-frame mutation patients can display severe muscular deficit and therefor the questions of their eligibility to current therapies should be considered.

PAGE 57-DYSTROPHINOPATHIES

BIOMARKERS

Biomarker characteristics is the objectively measured and evaluated indicator of normal, pathogenic biological processes or pharmacological responses to a therapeutic intervention. There are three main classes of biomarkers in BMD/DMD:

- Diagnostic biomarkers
- Prognostic biomarkers
- o Therapeutic monitoring biomarkers

Respectively the biomarkers can belong to either one class or to all three main classes mentioned above¹⁴⁶.

DIAGNOSTIC BIOMARKERS

The most common used diagnostic biomarker to date in BMD/DMD is the creatine kinase (CK), a muscle enzyme that it is used as a diagnostic marker of the muscle damage. CK is elevated in the bloodstream and reflects the muscle damage but do not correlated with the disease clinical severity. Also, the CK is not specific to BMD/DMD or event to the dystrophic process because it is reflecting the muscular damage in healthy subject in case of a sustained physical effort or regeneration. However, this muscular marker remains useful in common clinical practice and helps the clinicians in the preliminary differential diagnosis elaboration.

Prognostic biomarker research is primarily oriented on genetic modifiers. Since the last decade, there is an important increase in available data on new gene modifiers in DMD disease due to the continuous development of high-throughput technologies. The DMD most known and described disease modifier is the *DMD* gene itself since its presence or absence is correlated to the clinical phenotype in the majority of cases.

PROGNOSTIC BIOMARKERS

Also, the development of the new high-quality sequencing technologies as NGS and WGS recently revealed a variety of SNP (single nucleotide polymorphism) as disease modifiers in DMD. Such examples are the SNP in the genes of LTBP4 (latent TGF-beta binding protein 4) and *SPP1* (osteopontin) have been reported to influence the age of LoA (loss of ambulation) in DMD patients^{66,147}. Moreover, the disease modifiers can be used not only in clinical practice in

order to adapt the prognostic message delivered to the patients and young boy's families while diagnostic is initially made. Additionally, some of the SNP could be potentially used in clinical trials in order to better stratify the study cohorts and take into consideration the ability of patients to likely respond to a new potential drug.

THERAPEUTIC MONITORING BIOMARKERS

In the case of therapeutic monitoring biomarkers, a particular place is held by the pharmacodynamic biomarkers (PD) as dystrophin protein for example. There are increasing advances in the accuracy improvement of the technologies of dystrophin quantification. However, several caveats remain to be taken into consideration in regard of dystrophin quantification as a surrogate endpoint. First, it is not known to date if the amount of dystrophin is similar along all human skeletal muscles, also the fibrosis and fat level differ between muscle but also within the same muscle. Literature data provide estimation of the level of dystrophin restoration in order to achieve clinical relevance but there are still some discrepancies in regard with the final quantity definition. Especially since the results of the recently FDA/EMA AON approved therapies have demonstrated less level of restoration of dystrophin and yet achieved the predefined primary and end points of the phase III clinical trials. Prospective data will be necessary in order to assess dystrophin as a surrogate endpoint. And most importantly, it should be interpreted accordingly to the type of mutation, age of the disease progression and also therapy duration and presence of gene modifiers.

Recent development in regard to biomarkers identification in DMD concerns muscle specific miRNA (myomiRs) that are known to be correlated with the disease severity and clinical assessments of DMD patients indicating their importance in the monitoring of the DMD and BMD¹⁴⁸.

One of the first report concerning the bloodstream detection of miR-1, miR-133 and miR-206 (dystromiRs) highly the abundant detection in the serum of DMD/BMD patients. Also, in mdx mouse model their levels decreased when dystrophin was restored by exon skipping therapy. Based on these findings the authors proposed these new miR candidates to be applied in DMD diagnostic and also in the therapy monitoring¹⁴⁹. Since the first report, miR-206 was recently described as a predictive biomarker capable to distinguish DMD from BMD patients¹⁵⁰. Interestingly the GC treatment did not influence the levels of the miR 181a-5p, miR-30c-5p,

miR-206. However, the longitudinal data of 4 years surveillance in BMD/DMD patients did not detect any decrease in the detection of miR-30c-5p, miR-206. The main limitation to this report is the limited number of measurements over the study duration (between two to three measurements at different time pointe in the same patient).

Circulating biomarkers detection allowed to identify an early stage of muscle damage in DMD boys^{142,151}. The RET (proto-oncogene tyrosine-protein kinase receptor RET); GDF-11 (growth differentiation factor-11), cadherin-5 biomarkers had very low level of detection comparing to control in young DMD boys (4 yo). These findings confirm the clinical heterogeneity in DMD patients suggesting the beginning of the muscle damage in early infancy or event prenatally.

Since several AON exon 51 skipping therapies recently achieved FDA/EMA approval, the results of the serum levels of myomiRs were investigated in DMD patients enrolled in PMO (eteplirsen) clinical trial. Surprisingly, pre and post treated eteplirsen samples did not reach significant difference of the miR-1, miR-133a, miR-133b, and miR-206. The short duration of the study (12 weeks) and the high variability of the miR expression in addition to the small number of enrolled patients could explain the lack for significance. Additional data from a longitudinal study would be necessary in order to evaluate the utility of these specific myomiRs as pharmacodynamic biomarkers in DMD.

Recent study on miR-379 serum-level underlined the elevated detection in plasma of DMD patients in comparison to age-matched controls and the reduction of miR-379 by GC treatment¹⁴⁸. These data were completed by the identification in myoblasts of the fine tuning between the miR-370 target EIF4G2 and DAPIT at mitochondrial level.

Bloodstream analysis of the protein biomarkers revealed different groups of proteins involved in the patho-biochemical pathways involved in dystrophic process as inflammation, fibrosis and muscle degeneration /regeneration along with muscle fiber leakage. Interestingly, the detected proteins involved in proliferation and differentiation diminished with age in DMD patients while increasing in healthy controls. These data suggest a disturbance of the skeletal muscle development, more detailed data would be necessary in order to decipher their involvement during regeneration.

Generalities

In 1978 Frederick Sanger developed a sequencing technique that generated the first ever full genomic sequence of a viral genome the bacteriophage ϕ X174^{152,153}. This discovery inspired the worldwide sequencing project, the Human Genome Project (HGP). Then in 1999 followed the sequence of the human chromosome 22 and finally using clone by clone methodology the first draft of the complete human genome in 2001. The HGP project revealed that only 1.2 % of human genome represent protein coding (PC) exons, and the 24 and 74% were intronic and intergenic non-coding DNA. Moreover, most of the genome is transcribed whether it encodes proteins or not^{154,155}. Further literature data highlighted that the genome is transcribed in many non-coding RNA (ncRNA). RNA was extensively studied since the discovery of DNA and became a pillar of a central dogma of molecular biology. First, in the late 1950's was identified that RNA is a DNA-like molecule synthesized from DNA. Than the *central dogma of molecular biology* was stipulated as the transcription of DNA gene results into RNA in the nucleus and is followed by the protein synthesis in the cytoplasm. This discovery placed RNA into the center of molecular biology. The RNA adepts suggest that prebiotic life revolved around RNA instead of DNA and proteins and give rise to the RNA World Hypothesis.

First lncRNA as *H19* and *Xist* and others were characterized but their functionality remained controversial¹⁵⁶. In the last decade with the development of high-throughput sequencing technologies led to an explosion of newly identified lncRNAs. Despite the growing number of evidences many challenges in lncRNA function and mechanism of action remain to be addressed in particular their accurate annotation and clinical relevance.

LONG NON-CODING RNA BIOGENESIS AND MECHANISM OF REGULATION

Functional relevance of lncRNA raised the question of the origin, conservation but also diversification of lncRNA along the species. The non-coding genes arise through various mechanisms, as for example, in humans a large portion of the lncRNA (40-45%) are generated by exaptation (acquisition of new functions) of the RNA derived transposable elements (TE) into non-coding genes. Additional mechanisms are represented by DNA-based or RNA-based duplications of existing genomic sequences and metamorphosis of protein coding genes (PCGs) by the loss of protein coding potential^{157,158}.

The diversification of the lncRNA may occur by the pervasive transcription of the genome and generate lncRNA genes with novel functions. The unique phenotypic traits of human, are thought to be originating from the PCG and non-coding genes of *de novo* origin. At the date, the testis and cerebral cortex are identified as the most enriched tissues for the expression of PCGs and non-coding genes of *de novo* origin¹⁵⁹.

Recently new data led to revise the definition of the coding potential of lncRNA. One of the lncRNA function in the cytosols is the association with the mono- or polyribosomal complexes as a lncRNA decay. In contrary, some lncRNA include short Open Reading Frames (sORFs) and undergo translation like in the case of *DWORF*, a muscle-specific lncRNA that encodes a functional peptide of 23 amino acids¹⁶⁰. Further analysis and proteomic studies will be necessary to expand the actual knowledge of the function and "coding" definition of lncRNA and probably introduce a possible bifunctional role of lncRNA.

The expression patterns of lncRNAs is highly dependent on different species and the kind of lncRNA. For example, in mouse, the studies of the half-life (t1/2) range from 30 min to 48 hours similar to mRNA. Inter-class lncRNA stability studies revealed that the intronic or promoter-associated lncRNA are less stable than intergenic, antisense and 3'UTR associated lncRNAs¹⁶¹. In contrary, in human HeLa cells similar studies highlighted the higher stability of antisens lncRNAs versus mRNA. The most stable lncRNAs are the circular RNAs with the median t1/2 of 18-27h¹⁶².

The expression of the majority of lncRNA has a specific spatio-temporal, lineage, tissue and cell specific expression demonstrated by a number of transcriptome profiling studies. In some rare cases like lncRNA are ubiquitously expressed and in a highly abundant quantity as for *MALT1*, *TUG1*. In contrary, the tissue, cell specific expression of lncRNA trend to have a low level of expression^{163,164}.

DEFINITION, STRUCTURE AND CLASSIFICATION OF LNCRNA

lncRNAs are a class of RNA transcripts characterized by a length > 200 nucleotides (nt) and have no protein coding potential. In contrast to the micro RNA < 20 nt the lncRNA are poorly expressed and have a tissue and time specific developmental patterns^{165,166}.

lncRNA are highly versatile and dynamic molecules with secondary and tertiary structures. Due to their large size, it has been stipulated that lncRNA are poorly conserved¹⁶⁷. Growing number of studies reveal that the specific flexible and dynamic secondary structures define lncRNA as primary functional unit and serve as evolutionary lncRNA interspecies sequence conservation^{168–170}. Also, a very specific lncRNA feature is the various residence nucleus specific (*NEAT1*) or both cytosol and nucleus (*HOTAIR*) or exclusively in cytosol (*DANCR*)^{171,172}. The environmental changes, like in the case of stress induced lncRNA can induce a delocalization or an active trafficking from nucleus to cytosol¹⁷³. lncRNAs have been demonstrated to be involved in the processes of transcriptional activation and/or repression, chromatin remodeling and RNA splicing activation¹⁷⁴.

In recent years, due to technical advances in the deep sequencing, a multitude of lncRNA have been studied and their classification was based in regard to their length, transcript properties, location in respect to PCG, regulatory elements (Table 2).

IncRNA category	Abbreviation
Classification according to lncRNA length	1
long non-coding RNA	lncRNA
large non-coding RNA	mexina
very long intergenic ncRNA	vlincRNA
macro lncRNA	
Classification according to IncRNA location	on in regard to PCGs
Intergenic IncRNA	
long intergenic ncRNA	lincRNA
large intevening ncRNA	
long intervening ncRNA	
antisens lncRNAs	
natural antisens transcripts	
antisens lncRNA	
SINE B2 containing RNAS"	
Bidirectional IncRNA	LUAT, uaRNA
Intronic lncRNAs	TIN, ciRNA, circRNA, sis
Classification according to lncRNA function	on
scaffold lncRNA	
Architectural lncRNA	
guide lncRNA	
Ribo-activator	
Ribo-repressor or decoy	
competing endogeneous RNA	
lncRNA precursors	
	11 1 1 1
Classification according to IncRNA subce	Ilular localization or origin
Nuclear IncRNAs	
GAA repeatcontaining RNAS	GRC-RNA
Chromatin-enriched RNAs	cheRNA
Chromatin-associated RNAs	CAR
Mitochondrial ncRNAs	mtncRNA

Table 2 IncRNA classification according the length, function, origin and localization.

Various mechanisms of actions of lncRNA are depicted in Figure 15. The scaffolds function of lncRNAs in the assembly of ribonucleoprotein (RNP) complexes is classically implied to the complex and dynamic three-dimensional structures with high affinity for proteins. Scaffold lncRNA are often actors of epigenetic and transcriptional control of gene expression regulation by actin in *cis* or *trans* to its transcription site. Also like in the case of *HOTAIR* lncRNA there are numerous targets in nucleus in order to affect the histone modification and gene silencing

but also in the cytoplasm, *HOTAIR* facilitates ubiquitination and proteolysis of Anataxin-1 and Snurportin-1 in senescent cells¹⁷⁵. The architecture lncRNAs (arcRNAs) reveal a particular nuclear substructure enriched in repetitive sequences indicative of complex RNA folding that is essential for their scaffold function. Interestingly these lncRNA substructure can be specifically regulated by stress, during specific stages of development or in pathological conditions. The actual recognized function of arcRNAs is to sequester proteins resulting in gene expression modifications.

The function of guide lncRNA is to recruit RNP complexes to specific chromatin loci. Also, the cell-/tissue-type or the development and also the pathology stage can modify the function of the same guide lncRNA. The ribo-repressor function is displayed by the decoy lncRNA through the induction of allosteric modifications, the inhibition of catalytic activity or by blocking the binding sites¹⁷⁶. In the contrary, the ribo-activators are essential for promoting activities usually by activation of the transcription factors. The competing endogenous RNAs (ceRNAs) also the sponges by circRNAs act by competing for miRNA binding and posttranscriptional control. The circRNAs share partial sequence similarity to PCG transcripts and the balance between the mRNA, miRNA and circRNA represents the complexity of the regulation of stress response or pathological environment¹⁷⁷.



Figure 15 IncRNAs Regulatory Mechanisms.

(A) Long noncoding ribonucleic acids (LncRNAs) modulate chromatin architecture and enhancerpromoter looping at cognate genes to influence transcription. (B) LncRNAs can regulate messenger RNA (mRNA) splicing by interfering with pre-mRNA processing. (C) LncRNAs, in particular antisense lncRNAs, may direct mRNA editing through base paring interaction. (D) By acting as decoys, lncRNAs influence the folding of complex 3-dimensional structures affecting mRNA cytoplasmic shuttling and localization. (E) LncRNAs regulate mRNA stability by acting as sponges to sequester microRNAs. (F) LncRNAs may influence protein translation through interactions with binding of translation cofactors and regulators. (G) LncRNAs may influence post-translational protein modification. ceRNA = competing endogenous RNA; miRNA = microRNA. Adapted from Zhang 2019

LNCRNA IN SKELETAL MUSCLE AND DYSTROPHIES

One of particular feature of skeletal muscle is the remarkable capacity to the regeneration due to the satellite cells. Satellite cells are quiescent stem cell population of the mature muscle tissue and are activated in case of stress or muscular damage in order to regenerate the damaged muscular tissue. The stem cells will undergo the active cell cycle division and will activate a myogenic process similar to the embryonic phase²⁰. One of many described functions of lncRNA is the myogenesis regulation.



Figure 16 lncRNA involved in myogenesis and dystrophic process. Adapted from Caretti et al.,2016

Among the first described lncRNA involved in the skeletal muscle differentiation was the SRA (steroid receptor RNA activator). Indeed, along with SRA also MyoD interact with two helicases, well known RNA metabolism enzymes (DEAD box RNA helicases as p68/ p72). Interestingly luciferase gene construction experiments in fibroblasts with muscle specific creatinine kinase enhancer demonstrated the coupled co-regulation of MyoD during differentiation by SRA and the RNA helicases as p68/ p72¹⁷⁸.

Moreover, SRA was found to have a particular feature as both, a non-coding RNA and a protein (SRAP) due to an alternative splicing. The non-coding SRA transcript is abundantly expressed in differentiating myoblasts and exergue an activation of MyoD. In contrary, the protein SRAP physically binds to his transcript homolog SRA preventing the MyoD activation and preventing the differentiation process¹⁷⁹.

Linc-MD1 were found to be abundantly expressed during differentiation in myoblasts and interestingly in newly regenerating muscle fibers. Bioinformatic studies have identified the conservation of binding sites for miR-133 and miR-135. Indeed, Linc-MD1 was reported to be associated with muscle specific miR-133 and miR-135 as a competing endogenous RNA (ceRNA). Linc-MD1 sequester miR-133 or miR-135 as a sponge and will interrupt the binding of these miR to transcription factors required for the myogenesis as MEF2C and MAML1¹⁸⁰. This fascinating performance is enhanced by the specific regulation of the linc-MD at the cytoplasmic level. Lengini et al. demonstrated that by the binding of linc-MD to the HuR, a specific RNA binding protein. Interestingly, HuR itself is under the repressive control of miR-133 and that there is a reinforced sponging activity of Linc-MD1 acts as a feedforward positive loop¹⁸¹.

In addition to the lncRNA described in the regulation of regeneration, Bovolenta et al reported a study on the pathogenic mechanism underlying clinical manifestation in DMD female carriers. Precisely, a custom-made tilling array that explored the entire *DMD* gene and identified non-coding transcripts originating within the dystrophin locus. In this report, the sense and antisense oriented lncRNAs expression profiled mirror *DMD* gene. Precisely, the lncRNA were localized in introns and to the nucleus. lncRNA44s, lncRNA 44s2 and lncRNA 55s are isolated from skeletal muscle and transfected in human muscle and neuronal cells. The over expression of lncRNA44s 44s2 and 55s caused a negative regulation of endogenous fulllength dystrophin brain (Dp427b), muscle (Dp427m) and Purkinje (Dp427p) isoforms. Interestingly, no variation was observed with regard to the DP71 transcript which has ubiquitous expression, suggesting the lncRNA specificity. The luciferase reporter gene on the minimal promoter region of the muscle dystrophin isoform highlighted a downregulatory role of lncRNA on full-length dystrophin. In order to confirm this specific repressive relationship lncRNA expression, function and mechanism of action should be tested in a DMD or BMD in vitro dystrophic model⁷⁹.

In conclusion, lncRNA were recently described as key players in skeletal muscle differentiation and proliferation regulation. Recent studies reported here highlighted lncRNA as regulators candidates of genotype-phenotype correlation in BMDdel45-55 patients and thus of potential importance for a detailed characterization of BMDdel45-55 population.

Generalities

In the last two decades the high-throughput DNA sequencing reviled a large genetic variety. Rapid decrease in costs and tremendous technical efforts allowed the detection by a single reaction of the vast majority of genetic variants. Indeed, the advent in Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) allowed the discovery of novel disease genes and variants¹⁸². Initially the high cost in genome sequencing did not allow a wide utilization of this technique in diagnostic purpose but several research project as Genomics England Clinical Interpretation Partnership (GeCIP), French Exome (FREX) in rare, life threatening and debilitating neuromuscular diseases allowed to prove their utility and efficacy.

WHOLE GENOME SEQUENCING (WGS)

Among these technologies, the WGS, has the propriety to examine single-nucleotide variants (SNVs), indels, structural variants (SVs) and copy number variants (CBVs) in the protein coding sequences and the non-coding genome. This unique feature of covering the non-coding part of the genome offer a more reliable sequence coverage with more uniformity¹⁸³.

Also, the decrease in cost and the increase in the ability to perform WGS in relative short timeframe result in a large volume of data, becoming a powerful tool in genomic research.

A fine example of opportunities and challenges of WGS in Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease is illustrated in Figure 17 and underlines the importance of deep phenotyping in diseases with highly heterogenous clinical presentation¹⁸⁴.



Figure 17 Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease phenotype genotype analysis using WGS.

Laboratory workflow propose to identify suitable candidates to WGS, then sequenced data of both nuclear and mitochondrial genomes are analyzed and filtered according to bioinformatic pipeline. The patient characterization is performed by deep phenotyping including neuropsychological and ancillary investigations. Candidate variants are analyzed according to published phenotype-genotype correlations. In case of identification of a potential new pathogenic variant research project are undergone for validation of the new candidate. Adapted from Pipis et al, 2019.

WOLE EXOME SEQUENCING (WES)

WES technology performs analysis of protein encoding region in 85% of disease-causing mutations of rare Mendelian disorders. Indeed, the targeted hybridization enriches exomes and the resulting genomic library is then, sequenced on a specialized platform (Figure 18). Actually, various databases are available for the filtering and annotation of sequences data and variants. Despite the good coverage of sequencing, around 96% of targeted and mappable exomes, there are some regions with off target capture effects as the GC-rich regions of exon 1¹⁸⁵.



Figure 18 WES filtering and functional analysis technique.

The scheme illustrates an example of the WES analysis including sequences alignment, duplicates detection and data sequence and variant annotation. Adapted from Efthymiou et al 2016.

GENE PANELS

Custom-made panels have gain popularity in various diseases. The custom-made panels can include form 40 up to 160 genes are used in diagnostic purposes in specialized centers. The technique relies on solution hybridization that use pools of probes (biotinylated oligonucleotides) targeting a segment of the desired captured region in order to identify particular genome segments. This is a low-cost screening method for searching gene variants associated with specific disease¹⁸⁶.

ANNOTATION TOOLS AND ANALYSIS

VARAFT (VARIANT ANNOTATION AND FILTRATION TOOL)

VarAFT software allows annotation, filtering and breadth/depth coverage analysis in diseasecausing mutations. This tool provides a full graphical interface and includes unique features to improve mutation annotation and prioritization. As mentioned, this software allows to combine small (single nucleotide variations, small insertions/deletions and large rearrangement (copy number variations) in order to analyze an individual genome. In order to allow variant detection from various data bases, under various formats including VCF/qVCF or tabulated files, it combines information from the dbNSFP, ANNOVAR including OMIM, HPO, Gene Ontology, pathways (Reactome, KEGG, PID) and predictions form UMD-Predictor, HSF (human Splicing Finder)¹⁸⁷.

GENOME-WIDE ASSOCIATION STUDIES (GWAS)

Linkage studies were classically used in order to confirm the association of a particular disease with specified genes. Recently, with the arrival of NGS technologies and the development of genome-based databases, allowed the development of GWAS.

GWAS is currently used in various diseases and also in neuromuscular disorders. In this approach the populations are separated into control and the disease sample. After performing sequencing in both populations, the quality control and annotation process the resulting SNP frequency variation will be analyzed according to the association to the trait of interest (Figure 19). In reality, the correlation of SNP with a pathological trait is not always possible. Various statistical measures are used in order to better identify the SNP and large number cohorts are necessary. In rare diseases, due to small number cohorts GWAS study are less obvious.


Figure 19 GWAS study method scheme illustration.

There 3 general stage of a GWAS analysis. The first stage includes the study design with population screening and sample collection form population of interest and control, followed by sequencing. In stage 2 the sequenced data is screened with based on stringent statistics and the last stage include the comparison and functional annotation of SNPs of interest. Abbreviations: GWAS=Genome Wide Association Studies, SNP=Single Nucleotide Polymorphism. Adapted from Banerjee et al, 2018.

In a recent study comparing WGS to WEG and mitochondrial sequencing and also gene panels the authors highlights the advantages of the WGS technique covering non-coding, coding and intergenic areas of nuclear and mitochondrial genomes. This work illustrates the utility of WGS not only in research purposes but also in diagnostic routine for rare disease conditions¹⁸².

Altogether, this summary of NGS and annotation tools are a small overview of the important advances in high-throughput DNA sequencing. These technical advances are largely used in the screening of neurological disorders and lately in DMD and BMD. Genotype-phenotype characterization implement these techniques in order to detect new pathological variants involved in disease progression and severity. A number of gene modifiers as the protective haplotype IAAM of *LTBP4* gene and TCTEX1D1 were recently discovered using the NGS technologies and demonstrating the feasibility of these techniques in DMD.

OBJECTIVES

The central dogma of therapy development in DMD independently of the applied strategy is to transform DMD patients in less severe BMD patients. Exon skipping in *DMD* gene in order to correct the reading frame and restore the dystrophin production has proven to be an efficient therapeutic solution for DMD patients. Indeed, increasing number of exon skipping therapies are currently FDA/EMA approved in DMD and currently there are two microdystrophin clinical trials ongoing. Despite the available FDA/EMA approved exon skipping drugs, the therapeutic choice is suitable only to a limited number of DMD patients. Moreover, encouraging preliminary results of microdystrophin clinical trials cannot answer to the questions of long-term efficacy because of a lack of a long-term data. Also, the caveats as the AAV personal immunity in young patients, large scale of AAV production and the dose dependent secondary adverse effects remain unsolved for the moment^{188,189}. Hopefully, the ongoing preclinical work on AAV modifications and also improvement in biotherapy protocols of vector large scale production and purification will help to solve current limitations.

Also, the development of alternative therapeutic strategies should be considered. Indeed, significant efforts with encouraging results have been achieved over the last decade in the development of multiple exon skipping (MES) therapies. As discussed above, several different approaches have already demonstrated proof-of-concept in MES by exon skipping or CRISPR/Cas9 systems. Based on literature data the MES of exons 45-55 could be eligible in 63% DMD patient with deletion mutations¹⁹⁰.

In addition to the increasing number of reported DMD /BMD patients that escape to the Monaco reading frame rule, phenotype variability within the same mutation can be reported. Indeed, the central dogma of transforming DMD in BMD assumes that BMD patients have a mild phenotype. Nonetheless, careful literature overview highlights major phenotype variability in BMD patients^{191–195}. More accurately, the BMD patients with exon 45 to 55 deletion have been classified as mild phenotype based on studies with small cohorts and published reports frequently compared DMD or BMD patients with different exon mutations^{69,196,197}. Furthermore, our group reported a phenotype variability in BMDdel45-55 patients with different degree of histopathological features.

In line with these data my PhD project proposes to characterize the BMDdel45-55 patients phenotype and genotype in order to predict therapeutic efficacy and identify new phenotype variability candidates. The following work will cover the results and the discussion based on the reported results in two separate parts. The first part will focus on phenotype and genotype characterization of the French cohort of BMDdel45-55 patients. The second part will target the study of lncRNA sequences localized in introns 44 and 56 and their involvement in myogenesis and their potential impact on phenotype of BMDdel45-55 patients.

AIM 1/ CHARACTERIZATION OF BMDDEL45-55 POPULATION

Advances in precision medicine by multiple exon-skipping (MES) 45 to 55 reported successful dystrophin gene mutation correction and protein expression in vitro but also in vivo in big animals^{67,137,145}. In humans, MES of exons 45-55 could be eligible in 62% of DMD deletion patients¹⁹⁰. Efficacy of any therapy approach can be deduced from the clinical features of patients with similar mutations. Surprisingly, there is no information that we know of the involvement of gene modifiers as *LTBP4*, *SPP1* and *Annexin* in BMD patients^{198–201}. Also, in order to confirm the generality of the benign phenotype in BMDdel45-55 patients we initiated a retrospective analysis of French UMD-DMD data base in order to collect clinical data. In addition, we hypothesized that the genetic characterization should be taken beyond the whole-exome sequencing and we choose to perform whole genome sequencing in 19 BMDdel45-55. We questioned the presence of pathological variants in published cardiac and gene modifiers. Overall, this study aimed at depicting the complexity of the pathogenic processes and the genetic inter-individual variability.

AIM 2/ IDENTIFICATION OF NEW ACTORS OF PHENOTYPE VARIABILITY AND DYSTROPHIN REGULATION

lncRNA gain place in the regulatory actors of developmental myogenesis and regeneration^{166,202}. We sought to identify the presence and the impact of these noncoding sequences in the phenotype variability of BMDdel45-55 patients. First, we hypothesized that

the deletion breakpoint could impact the lncRNA sequences localized in introns 44 and 56. Then, based on the literature data on the downregulating role of these lncRNA on dystrophin promoter in DMD female carrier we hypothesized that the mechanism of action is in cis- and might be also involved in myogenesis, thus we tested the possible involvement of these lncRNA in proliferation and differentiation in human myoblasts. We hypothesized a different expression pattern in human myoblasts from healthy control compared to BMDdel45-55 and DMDdel45-52 patients. Overall, we sought to decipher the role of lncRNA in myogenesis and hoped to correlate the clinical phenotype of BMDdel45-55 to the presence and expression patterns of the lncRNA.

CHAPTER II: RESULTS

ARTICLE 1

Context:

As mentioned in thesis objectives and corresponding to Aim 1, we report in the first article entitled "Toward multi-exon skipping phenotype prediction through the genotype and phenotype characterization of the largest del45-55 Becker muscular dystrophy cohort" the results on clinical and genotype characterization of BMD Δ 45-55 patients.

Abstract:

The therapy development in DMD has been largely inspired by the clinical milder phenotype of BMD patients. Phenotype variability within the same mutation has been a major concern in MES development. In recent studies from our group 71,203 BMD Δ 45-55 patients were reported with various degree of severity. In order to study the genotype – phenotype correlation within this specific mutation cohort, we performed a retrospective analysis of French UMD-DMD data base and established the detailed phenotype characterization in 50 BMD Δ 45-55 patients.

Here we present the largest cohort of BMD Δ 45-55 and propose a clinical severity scale (CSS) for the retrospective description of the natural history evolution of the skeletal muscle presentation in this specific deletion. With the aim of investigating the phenotype variability in BMD patients within the same genetic mutation, we performed whole genome sequencing in 19 BMD Δ 45-55 in order to identify pathogenic variants in cardiac genes and in gene modifiers described in DMD.

This work is under preparation for publication submission.

Toward multi-exon skipping phenotype prediction through the genotype and phenotype characterization of the largest del45-55 Becker muscular dystrophy cohort

Elena Gargaun^{1#}, Guillaume Bassez², Karim Wahbi¹, Rabah Ben Yaou¹⁻², Guilhem Solé³, Marine Guibaud¹, Vincent Tiffreau⁴, Pascale Laforet⁵, Michel Parent⁶, Marie Husson⁷, Andrea Totoescu⁸, Pascal Lacombe⁴, Jean-Michel Pedespan⁷, Adrien Kettaneh⁹, Corinne Roche¹⁰, Dominique Gaillard¹¹, Sabrina Sacconi¹², Laurence Faivre¹³, Alexandra Nadaj-Pakleza¹⁴, Jean Michel Vallat¹⁵, Cécile Laroche¹⁵, Anne-Gaëlle Le Moing¹⁶, Julien Durigneux¹⁴, Christine Themar-Noel², Marie Laure Negrier⁷, Caroline Espil-Taris⁷, Ivana Dabaj⁵, Elise Boucher¹⁸, Anne Delaubier¹⁹, Claire Guillou¹⁹, Jean Marie Cuisset²⁰, Andoni Urtizberea²¹, Bruno Eymard², Anatole Chessel²⁶, Anne Boland²², Jean François Deleuze²², David Salgado²³, Martin Khran²³, Alexia Blesius²³, Nicolas Levy²⁴, France Leturcq²⁵ et France Pietri-Rouxel¹

1 SU, INSERM UMRS974, AIM, Center of Research in Myology; Pitié-Salpêtrière hospital, Paris, France 2 APHP, Centre National de Référence des maladies neuromusculaires Nord/Est/Ile de France, Institute of Myology, Hôpital Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

3 Centre de référence des maladies neuromusculaires AOC, CHU Bordeaux, Bordeaux, France

4 Centre de Référence des Maladies Neuromusculaires Nord/Est/Ile de France, service de Médecine Physique et de Réadaptation, CHRU de Lille, Lille, France

5 Centre de Référence des Maladies Neuromusculaires Nord/Est/Ile de France, Hôpital Raymond Poincaré, Garches, France

6 Anatomie pathologie, Douai, France

7 Centre de référence des maladies neuromusculaires AOC, service de neuropédiatrie, CHU Bordeaux, Bordeaux, France

8 I-Motion - Pediatric Clinical Trials Department, Trousseau Hospital, Paris, France

9 Médecine interne, Hôpital Saint Antoine, Paris, France

10 Electromyographie, CH Moulin Yzeure, Moulin Yzeure, France

11 Service de génétique, CHU Reims, Reims, France

12 Centre de référence des maladies neuromusculaires PACA- Réunion- Rhône Alpes, CHU Nice, Nice, France

13 Service de génétique, CHU Dijon, Dijon, France

14 Centre de référence des maladies neuromusculaires AOC, CHU Angers, Angers, France

15 Centre de référence des maladies neuromusculaires AOC, CHU Limoges, Limoges, France

16 Service de neuropédiatrie, CHU d'Amiens - Hôpital Nord, Amiens, France

18 Centre de génétique humaine, CHU Besançon, Besançon, France

19 Médecine physique et réadaptation, CHU Potiers, Potiers, France

20 Centre de Référence des Maladies Neuromusculaires Nord/Est/Ile de France, CHRU Lille, Lille, France

21 APHP, Centre National de Référence des maladies neuromusculaires Nord/Est/Ile de France, Hendaye, France

22 National Center of Genotyping, Institute of Genomics, Evry, France

23 Institut International de Recherche, IRIS, Servier, Suresnes, France

24 Marseille Medical Genetics, UMR 1251, Centre de Génétique Médicale de Marseille, Aix Marseille University, Marseille, France

25 AP-HP, Laboratoire de génétique et biologie moléculaires, Hôpital Cochin, Université Paris Descartes-Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France

26 Laboratory of Optics and Biosciences/Laboratoire d'Optiques et Biosciences (LOB), CNRS, INSERM, Ecole polytechnique, Institut Polytechnique de Paris, FRANCE

[#]Correspondence to: Elena Gargaun, MD, SU, INSERM UMRS974, AIM, Center of Research in Myology; Pitié-Salpêtrière hospital, Paris, France E-mail: e.gargaun-ursache@institut-myologie.org

ABSTRACT

Background: Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy (DMD and BMD) are X-linked myopathies characterized by a progressive muscular dystrophy with or without dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM). As described in literature, 63% of DMD patients are eligible to a multi-exon skipping therapy (MES), thus becoming BMD patients with exons 45 to 55 deletion (BMD Δ 45-55). The phenotype variability within the same genetic deletion is a major concern in the design of MES.

Objective: We conducted genotype and phenotype characterization of the largest BMD Δ 45-55 population.

Results: Here we present a population of 50 "skip-equivalent" BMD Δ 45-55 patients and study the phenotype variability by performing a detailed clinical characterization in 43 patients and assessing a whole genome sequencing analysis (WGS) in 19 patients. The phenotype characterization underlined that 100% patients have BMD phenotype and that, in patients with available cardiac investigation 30% had dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM). Using an in-house skeletal muscle clinical severity scale (n=43 patients) we revealed in 54% a mild clinical presentation. The WGS data analysis in 19 patients didn't identify the association of pathogenic variants in analyzed cardiac genes.

Conclusions: This study characterized the largest reported cohort of BMD Δ 45-55 patients and showed that, despite the exclusive BMD phenotype, different severity degree of skeletal muscle and cardiac presentation could be identified. This phenotype characterization confirming 100% BMD phenotype and genotype profiling in this specific mutation, supports that MESdel45-55 therapy could provide clinical benefit.

Key words: Becker muscular dystrophy, BMD, multi exon skipping, MES, phenotype variability, cardiomyopathy, lncRNA, genomic, gene modifiers

INTRODUCTION

Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies (DMD and BMD) are allelic disorders caused by pathogenic variants in *DMD* gene. The DMD incidence is about 1 in 3 000 - 5 000 new born boys and the clinical presentation is characterized by a rapid motor decline in early childhood and the loss of ambulation before 13 years of age with a shortened life span due to cardiac and respiratory complications ^{1–3}. The onset of the disease in BMD patients was most frequently reported as starting at adult age, with an incidence of 1 in 18 000 - 30 000

live male births ^{1,4,5}. The clinical symptoms of BMD were first described in 1955 as a benign variant of DMD⁶. A defining feature of BMD is a large spectrum of symptoms, including onset, severity and correlation between symptoms, and a heterogeneous rate of disease interindividual progression⁴. The BMD patients are ranging from asymptomatic to suffering from progressive loss of muscle mass and function, with some patients presenting isolated dilatative cardiomyopathy and/or DMD like phenotypes^{1,7}.

The main difference between DMD and BMD genotypes is whether the mutation in DMD gene in resulting in a mRNA that maintains the reading frame and allows the translation of a functional amino- and carboxy-frame⁸. In DMD patients the outof-frame mutations result in the absence of this protein involved in the formation and maintenance of healthy muscle. The BMDcausing mutation leads to an abnormal, shorter dystrophin protein that is partially functional resulting in the more benign phenotype. Due to this particular feature the therapy dogma is to transform DMD patients into BMD patients. Different strategies have been developed and tested over the decades and one of the most promising approach remains exon skipping by inducing the skipping of central rod domain exons, restoring the reading frame^{9,10-12}. Currently 13% of DMD patients are eligible to FDA and EMA approved exon skipping oligo-antisens (OAN) therapies. In order to cover a larger number of DMD patients the multiple exon skipping (MES) appeared as an attractive alternative. The MES feasibility by OAN was demonstrated in preclinical models and recently CRISPR-Cas9 MES revealed encouraging results in systemic injection via viral vehicle^{13–16}.

The choice of the skipping exons is ruled both by the efficacy of the skipping and the predictable clinical outcome. Among various mutations in *DMD* gene deletions cover 60% of both DMD and BMD. Interestingly, 63% of DMD deletion patients are eligible to MES of exons 45 to 55 thus becoming BMD Δ 45-55 patients¹⁷. There is limited data about the natural history of BMD patients with the specific exon 45 to 55 deletion (BMD Δ 45-55). The BMD Δ 45-55 patients were reported as a muscle benign skeletal phenotype. Nevertheless, some documented patients with benign skeletal muscle clinical phenotype manifest severe dilatative cardiomyopathy (DCM) requiring cardiac transplant. The phenotype variability within the same genetic deletion is a major concern in the design of MES 45-55. There is scarce evidence of the etiology of mutation specific variability in BMD patients because many published cohorts combine various type of in-frame mutations^{4,18,19}. The published literature is based on small number of patients with this specific mutation or well documented, but limited number of patient case reports²⁰⁻²³. In addition, previous reports have described a high rate of "exceptions" to the reading frame rule with out-of-frame BMD. The positive predictive value of an in-frame mutation in UMD-DMD database was unexpectedly low, as it appears to be confirmed in 56-91% ^{3,19,24,25}.

In a recent report authors analyzed the differences in the structure of mutant dystrophin and hypothesized that it may be responsible for the clinical heterogeneity observed in BMD patients. Molecular homology modelling of the proteins corresponding to in-frame deletions in the rod domain close to the exons 45-55 (Δ 45-51) have displayed a similar structure (hybrid repeat) comparing to the wild-type dystrophin²⁶. This data suggest that dystrophin protein structure may not be the only factor involved in phenotype variability in BMD patients. Moreover, gene modifiers as LTBP4, SPP1, THBS1, Anxa6, ACTN3, TGFBR2, TCTEXD1 have been described in DMD as important actors in phenotype variability as protective haplotype (IAAM) of LTBP4 in the loss of ambulation (LoA) or steroid treatments response^{27–34}. Surprisingly, despite the great phenotype variability in BMD patients there is no information about the involvement of these candidates in BMD patients within the same genetic mutation. In order to confirm the generality of the benign phenotype in BMD Δ 45-55 patients we performed retrospective analysis of

French UMD-DMD data base and detailed phenotype established the characterization in 50 BMD patients. Here we present the largest cohort of BMD Δ 45-55 and propose a clinical severity scale (CSS) for the retrospective description of the natural history evolution of the skeletal muscle presentation in this specific deletion. With the aim of investigating the phenotype variability in BMD patients within the same genetic mutation, we performed whole genome sequencing in 19 BMD Δ 45-55 in order to identify pathogenic variants in cardiac genes and in gene modifiers described in DMD. This work highlighted the utility of a new CSS score as an intuitive and versatile tool in the phenotype characterization and disease progression of BMD Δ 45-55 patients. Phenotypic and genotypic data confirmed the benign phenotype of BMD Δ 45-55 patients that could be beneficial for MES 44-45 for DMD.

METHODS AND POPULATION

Population characterization

The cohort included male Becker patients with an exclusive deletion mutation of exons 45 to 55. The population is taken from the French UMD-DMD database. The phenotype characterization was performed retrospectively from the medical records. Written consent was obtained for the diagnostic purposes. All participants were assigned de-identified numbers. This study was reviewed and approved by the French Institutional Review Board.

Retrospectively collected phenotype data included skeletal muscle symptoms and deficit if present, age at first skeletal muscle signs, age at last clinical examination, age at diagnosis, report/last follow-up if available, loss of ambulation (LoA) and age at LoA, cardiomyopathy (history, age at diagnosis, first and last available left ventricular ejection fraction, nocturnal ventilation (history, age at initiation), biopsy (history, result of Western blot); Creatinine kinase blood level at initial and last available evaluation. cognitive impairment in adult patients (>18y.o.) was considered as normal if no specific comments in medical file.

Cardiac evaluation

Cardiomyopathy was defined by a left ventricle ejection fraction (LVEF) $\leq 45\%$.

Electrocardiograms were not used to define cardiomyopathy. The time in which abnormal cardiac values were first reported established the "onset" of cardiomyopathy. The age corresponding to the "onset" of cardiomyopathy was the youngest reported age when cardiac parameters met the definition of cardiomyopathy. When available, treatment protocol and also cardiac transplant information was recorded from medical files. The age of noncardiomyopathic patients corresponds to the oldest reported age with available cardiac findings. Patients under 20 years old with normal cardiac parameters were excluded from the analysis.

Clinical Severity Scale (CSS)

In order to assess this evaluation, it is required to establish the age of the last follow-up date and the age of first clinical signs. We decided to make three categories of skeletal muscle complains: in the first category where included all the symptoms except muscular deficit as cramps, myalgia, fatigue, effort intolerance, episodes of myoglobinuria and elevated isolated CK. In the second category were included patients with skeletal muscle deficit and the third one the patients who lost ambulation (LoA). The score rules are as follows: if there are no complains (type 4) the patient is classified as asymptomatic Becker muscular deficit (ABMD), the presence of only symptoms is evaluated by the

or accompanied with symptoms he will be assigned into the intermediate type 2 (IBMD) and the severe type 1(SBMD) the patients who lost partial or total ambulation. All patients with available clinical data in order to perform the CSS scoring were assigned into a specific type, in order to address the disease progression evaluation, we excluded patients of age < 20 years as we considered that there was not enough information about the disease progression.

> CSS inter-operator and intraoperator variability

In order to address the issue of variability during the assessment of the CSS we performed blinded scoring of CSS by the same operator and by two different operators. The intra-operator variability is very low with 100 % of reproducibility and inter-operator reproducibility is 100%.

Bioinformatic analysis

The whole genome sequencing was performed Centre National in du Génotypage, on DNA extracted from lymphocytes isolated from blood samples of 30 patients. Libraries were prepared using the TruSeq DNA PCR-Free Library Preparation Kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA), in order to reduce library bias and to enable a more homogeneous coverage of the genome in all regions, including regions which can be more difficult to sequence

HiSeq2000 as paired-end 100 bp reads. In order to obtain a 30X coverage, 3 lanes of a HiSeq2000 flow cell were required for each sample.

Bioinformatic analyses will be carried out by the "Genetics and Bioinformatics" team (Christophe Béroud) and dedicated bioinformaticians at INSERM UMR_S910 (Nicolas Lévy).

The bioinformatic analysis of each patient sequencing reads were performed by VarAFT Annotation and Filter for the analyses. VarAFT variant provided experiments quality, and annotation filtration of VCF files. Moreover, only variants in 65 genes implied in cardiomyopathies from the CARDIOGEN National Health Sector were selected through bioinformatics pipeline.

Variants showing concordant genotype were selected. The criteria selecting a SNP as a genetic candidate for the cardiac gene analysis modifier were: exonic and splicing non-synonymous SNPs; frequency rate criteria <1%. The selected were: abnormality of cardiovascular system of morphology, abnormality the cardiovascular dilated system and cardiomyopathy. The selected SNPs were filtered out with: probable, low or unknown pathogenicity and intronic, non-coding localization. Then, variants were classified with regards to American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG) criteria (Richards et al, 2015), with help of several prediction tools. Also, frequency of rare variants in our local in-house database was used for interpretation.

Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis was performed in Python and GraphPad Prism 8 software. Comparative analysis was calculated by Student's t test (two-tailed and unpaired, significance p <0.05) for two groups comparison and in more than two groups, ordinary two-way variance analysis (ANOVA). Bioinformatic analysis of WGS data comparison between Intermediate/IBMD and Severe /SBMD group was performed by Fisher Test (statistical significance p <0.05).

Missing data management

Taking into consideration the retrospective nature of the study, we were facing a considerable amount of missing clinical data. In order to compensate this missing data, in addition to the clinical description extracted from the UMD-DMD data base, we have accessed the clinical files in Cochin hospital archive and contacted the medical doctors from the French Rare Health Care for Neuromuscular Diseases Network (FILNEMUS) in charge of the follow up of the included patients to collect additional information.

RESULTS <u>Characterization of the BMD Δ 45-55</u> cohort

We collected retrospectively the phenotype characterization from medical records for 50 patients. Venn diagram from Figure 1A illustrates the assessments reported here in BMD Δ 45-55 population. From a total number of 50 patients, Clinical Severity Scale (CSS) (Figure 1B) assessed in 43 patients allowed to characterized the skeletal muscle impairment. All patients had exclusive Becker phenotype and the median age at last examination (n = 50) was 47 years (range from 11-88; SD 23.9). Actual age distribution is shown in Figure 2. In this cohort the age at first clinical signs was reported to start in early childhood (<16years old) in 73%. Data from 9 family cases were obtained, it has to be noted that one patient had positive family history but we could not collect the clinical data except for the proband.

From the reported complains, the most disabling were the walking/running difficulties (44 %) and in 16% cases the dilatative cardiomyopathy. Pulmonary functional explorations and assisted ventilation data were available in limited number (n=23) and only two patients required nocturnal ventilation for obstructive apnea. Cognitive involvement was reported only in one patient and consequently. in adult patients. we considered that the lack of cognitive involvement specification in the medical files presumed its absence. Only 4% of loss of ambulation (LoA) despite the present skeletal symptoms (med=66yo). Fatigue and effort intolerance were present in 48%, myalgia and cramps in 38%, rhabdomyolysis in 45 % and one patient undergone a cardiac transplant despite a mild phenotype (Table 1).



Figure 1 (A) $BMD\Delta45$ -55 cohort description (n=50) Venn diagram of retrospective clinical characterization, skeletal muscle phenotype by the Clinical Severity Scale and Whole Genome Sequencing (WGS). (B) Clinical Severity Scale (CSS) of skeletal muscle evaluation in $BMD\Delta45$ -55. Abbreviations: SkM= skeletal muscle, LoA= loss of ambulation, CSS=clinical severity scale; BMD= Becker muscular dystrophy, ABMD= asymptomatic BMD, MBMD= mild BMD, IBMD= intermediate BMD, SBMD= severe BMD

Cognitif	im pairment yes/no	8 8	2	8	8	E	222	2	2 2	2 2	8	2 2	2		8	2		8	8	2		0	01	;	2 2			yes								
ation	Assisted ventilation (yes/no)	8 8	ъъ	XA 🗎	5 2	8 8	2 2 2	2 X 1	Sa (u	2 2	UK	зă	8	NK	nk	e X	ň	nκ	UK	on yey	9	ň e	UK	ň	2 2	8	ž ž	5 Xi	8	÷ ۲	5 8	UK	8 8	≅ă	ň	UK UK
Pulmonary evalua	age pulmonary vital capacity detection (years)	41 UK	uk 5	XN 1	5 X	X X	5 5 6	; 3 3	× ×	n K	лĶ	зз	09	лĶ	л	X X	ň	NK	M.	× ×	Х	NK 22	UK	X ii	5 69	NK	X X	ň	NK	¥ :	5 X	ΛĶ	X N	5 X	X ::	nk N
	Pulmonary vital capacity (relative value %)	115 113	120 UK	X 1	5 3	ж	91 105	8 X 8	108	100	100	¥ ¥	6	ň	ΛK	¥ ¥	ň	лĶ	M.	¥ ¥	ň	153 UK	UK	ň È	51 EZ	N	ΞĚ	ň	Ň	¥ ;	5 X	UK	ň È	5 3	Xn ::	а X
	c Cardiac ant treatmen) (yes/no)	0 0	зя	0	5 2	e ¥	yes Me	2 X	0U VIPC	2 X	N	зз	yes	Я	Х	X e	ň	nK	NK	yes UK	yes	XN XA	nk	ň	2 2	оц	X X	ň	оu	¥ 8	yes	yes	0 2	2 X	ň	n u
Cardiac evaluation	G Cardia alies transpi (yes/n	8 8	8 8	8	2 2	8 8	2 2 2	2 2	2 2	2 2	8	8 8	8	92	8	22	8	8	92	2 2	8	22	yes	8	2 2	8	8 8	2 2	92	2 2	2 2	8	8	2 5	6	88
	e last EC diac anome JS (yes/	8 8	з¥	ă È	5 2	e ¥	5 X ¥	2 X	8 8	2 Å	М	зз	'n	'n	'n	3 3	'n	Х	N	yes UK	9	ň e	NK	ň	2 2	ň	ΞΞ	ň	'n	ă È	5 3	8	Ξ	5 3	M I	n y
	ardiac age s: LVEF car (%) L	62 49 66 54	n n N N	65 78 65 78	n a	62 11k 11k	45 46 53 46	3 5 8 7 5 8	69 55 67 55	56 32	UK UK	n n n n	45 72	NK NK	44 52	UK 55 UK	nk N	UK UK	UK UK	40 UK 62	65 55	ы н ж	35 40	ы к	nk 57	UK UK	ir n	66 19	60 UK	۲ nK	8 8 8 8	45 50	65 UK	62 68	N N	uk uk
	CK value C (Xfold of Us change)	3 2	13 N	XN 1	5 4	22 IIK	5 ¥ ¥	1 2 1	19 19	a X	N	зз	2	N	2	9 X	×	9	N .	1 X	2	е X	UK	ž,	01	лĸ	ž ž	9	лĸ	XA 🛛	5	5	7 20	01	Xn ii	30 NK
	Walton Score	4 6	2 UK	3	Yn 7	ЪĚ	5 m r	· 3 3	ň "	'n	ň	зз	3	ΝŔ	ň	- 3	¥	Ν	'n	mΞ	'n	1 3	NK	з,	- X	λ	ĕ≚	ň	1	ž,	- 3	Ν		, ¥	ň	жЖ
	Boston Score	3 2	зэ	ă ₹	5 3	ΞĚ	1 7 G	5 5 5	× ~	۲, v	Ъ	Ξž	Ж	'n	ň	- 7	ň	Ν	'n	nK 2	'n	2	UK	з,	- X	ň	ΞΞ	ň	N	ă È	5 3	Ν		۰ ۲	ň	άĂ
	Ambulatior (yes/no)/ Age (years	yes yes	yes UK	yes IIV	sa (sav	S av a	2 3	yes ver	sak	sak	зз	8	ň	yes	yes ves	, ¥	saƙ	sak	sa, Xn	sak	yes	sak	ň	sa, sa,	hes	yes	sak	sań	μ	sa sa	ň	sak	13	ň.	n y
	age LoA (years)	Ϋ́	Ξž	5	5 3	ЗĚ	538	8 3 3	≚ ≚	ň	ň	зз	22	ň	NA	N N	ň	ň	ň	зз	ň	зз	N	ЗÌ	5 3	Ж	Ξ	ă	Я	≚ ∃	5 3	ň	ĕ≧	5 3	ă ŝ	зă
luation	LoA	88	88	8 3	5 2	8 ₹	5 Q 34	13	8 8	2 3	8	Ξž	yes	ň	8	≚ 8	ň	N	8	ΞΞ	8	ΞΞ	8	8	≅≚	8	8 8	2 2	N	3 3	5 8	9	ĕ≧	5 8	ň	e X
Skeletal muscle (SkM) ev:	ns wRMD (years)	28 40	n y	M N	5 3	ΞĚ	5 6 6	3 3 9	34	Ξ	20	38 UK	37	ň	40	зз	ň	40	40	42 UK	11	CK 20	N	ă:	75	ষ	4 4	Ä	Хn	ĕÈ	5 M	NA	AN 1	, 62	Ň	άĂ
	wa king F running <i>h</i> deficit (WRMD	yes yes	8 8	0	5 2	e X	5 89, 89	1 3	Sa, Yan	2 2	sak	SQK SQA	, sak	ň	yes V	22	ň)es	yes	SK X	sak	sak Xin	UO	0U	ni sak	səl	sali.	2 2	ň	ň :	2 2	QU	2	7 SQ	Ъ	¥ 8
	a/ age CE (years)	2 2	19 UK	N	5 8	1 6	3 50 0	· 3 3	5 -	32	7	Ξž	4	'n	4	CI 51	5	1	ň	55	Π	NA 2	40	12	C 2	4	ৰ ব	. m	7	¥ ≎	72	25	11	50	۲.	¥ 9
	cramps, effort intoleranc fatigue (CEIF)	yes yes	yes yes	8	yn Aes	yes	sak sak	2 3	8	hes hes	ke	yes n	yes	ň	yes	yes	sak	saƙ	8	55	yes	on Sav	yes	hes	sak Aes	sań	sav	sak	hes	Ϋ́ Ϋ́	yes yes	yes	yes 20	si yes	ň	yes
	e/ rhabdom t lisis nce	9	8 8		yes	yes	22	2 2	NPK	2 02	yes	e X	Q	лĸ	οu	0U Ves	yes	Q	DO	e Xi	ou	0U Ves	0L	0	yes Yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	ž :	yes	yes	6	yes	ă.	UK yes
	s / fatigu s / effor ain intolere	8	yes yes		sał	6 ğ	2 8 8	2 3	0 ³⁰	yes	2	e ¥	8	ň	yes	sak ou	sak	8	9	e 3	QL	88	0	6	sal sal	yes	yes	sak	yes	Зÿ	£ e	yes	yes 20	3 5	ň.	N 0
	ast de cramp atio SkM p	8	8 8	A	5 8	8 8	2 2 3	1 H	2 2	2 2	yes	e X	8	ň	6	sak o	yes	8	0	e ¥	sək	8 8	0	sal	e e	sań	Sal, sai	2 2	9	ĕ₿	§ e	yes	SQL 52	3 5	ň	N OL
	age // M Skh examin	42	61 YU	82	5 35	6 2	3 4 1	3 3 1	FC 17	* 89	4	Ξž	72	Ä	5	32 23	16	4	\$:	5 5	62	2 2	40	2 2	79 12	4.2	99	, y	12.7	ж К	8 25	35	14	, 8	Ν	10
	age 1st Sk signs	28 40	∝ ¥	78	5 23	1 6	3 50 6	, ¥ ;	\$ v	32	12	% ≚	4	Я	4	CI 51	5	40	6	47 N	Π	S 2	N	12	9 9	4	ৰ ৰ	'n	7	₹ ¢	72	ň	12	. 9	Ж Ş	9 9
agnosis (D:	age 1s SkM signs UMDdt	42	∝ ¥	82	5 33	1 33.36	42 54	5 3	5 ~	33	12	Ξž	73	13	22	12	6.03	1	6	53.6 UK	11	10 9.87	Я	11	24 75.83	4.22	4 4	- m	12.76	14 ED	76. ⁴¹ 25	35	11 %	- 	Ъ.	9 9
ē	Clinical Severity Scale (CSS)	INTERMEDIATE INTERMEDIATE	MILD	ASYMPTOMATIC	MILD	MILD	INTERMEDIATE	NK	INTERMEDIALE	MILD	INTERMEDIATE	INTERMEDIATE	SEVERE	NK	INTERMEDIATE	MILD	MILD	INTERMEDIATE	INTERMEDIATE	INTERMEDIATE UK	INTERMEDIATE	INTERMEDIATE MILD	MILD	MILD	INTERMEDIATE	INTERMEDIATE	INTERMEDIATE	MILD	MILD	A M	MILD	MILD	MILD	INTERMEDIATE	Xn ii	MILD
	patient number	1 2	ю 4	5	• ~	∞ σ	9 8 5	ដេ	14	15	16	11 81	61	20	21	22 22	24	25	26	27 28	29	31 30	32	8	33 74	36	37 38	39	40	14 6	4 4	44	45	47	48	50 45

Table 1 Clinical features of BMD Δ 45-55 patients (n=50). Abbreviations: del=deletion, Dx=diagnostic, LoA= loss of ambulation, CK= creatine kinase, UI=international units, blanc cells= data not reported in medical files, color lines= family case, CEIF=cramps, effort intolerance, WRMD=walking/running deficit

<u>New clinical severity scale (CSS) for</u> <u>BMD</u><u>A</u>45-55 patient stratification

In order to harmonize the skeletal muscle clinical evaluation, a new scale of clinical severity (clinical severity scale (CSS)) was proposed. Indeed, this scale could be used in order to better stratify patients according to the progressive character of the Becker muscular dystrophy. BMDΔ45-55 patient's clinical characterization was classified by CSS in four types, according to their skeletal muscle symptoms, deficit and loss of ambulation (LoA). The severe BMDΔ45-

55 (SBMD) characterized by LoA was classified as type 1, the intermediate (IBMD, type 2) indicates the presence of skeletal muscle deficit or walking/running muscular deficit (MD), the mild (MBMD, type 3) denote the presence of symptoms as fatigue, effort intolerance, cramps and transient episodes of myoglobinuria without skeletal muscular deficit and the asymptomatic (ABMD) as type 4 with absent complains (Figure 1B, see methods for more details). In the following we report the CSS of the BMD Δ 45-55 patient cohort.



Figure 2 Clinical Severity Scale (CSS, n=43) and age distribution in BMDA45-55 population (A) CSS distribution in 43 patients (B) Distribution of the current age (C) Age distribution at reaching Intermediate CSS (D) Age distribution at reaching Mild CSS

Surprisingly given the literature data, only one patient was classified as asymptomatic and 2 patients were identified with severe clinical type. The asymptomatic patient N5

did not report any skeletal muscle complains until the age of 78 with occasional fatigue. Patient N11 and N19 reported first clinical signs in little infancy (4 y.o.) with delayed age of walking acquisition and effort intolerance symptoms. Patient N11 started to have skeletal muscle deficit at 50 years old (y.o.) and during his last examination at age 53 y.o. the Walton score was at 7, suggesting a rapid progression of dystrophy and clinical phenotype severity. He started to use the wheel chair (LoA) at age 60y.o. and the CK levels were reported 1.5x. The second Severe patient N19 reported his first skeletal muscle deficit signs at 40 y.o., during the last clinical examination at 72 the muscular force evaluation confirmed muscular weakness in lower limbs (evaluated according to MRC) with quadriceps hypotrophy. The LoA was reported at age 72. CK levels were at 2x. Compared to the Severe patient n11 the disease initiation was earlier and disease progression was slower suggesting different factors involved in dystrophy progression despite the same exonic deletion. The age of diagnosis was reported at4 **V.O.** Unfortunately, for both patients with SBMD the dystrophin evaluation was not reported in medical files and probably not performed at diagnosis.

In 20 patients classified as IBMD, type 2, the average age at first signs was 5.7+-4.9, a first skeletal muscle deficit symptoms were identified on average at 33.1+-20 and the mean age at the last examination was 40.6+-21. The Boston scale, when available, was scored at 2 in 71 % of patients, and the Walton scale 3 in 71% as well. CK values ranged from 2-16x.

In 20 patients with MBMD, type 3, the median age at first symptoms were reported at 17.7+-14 and the mean age at last examination was 26+-12.5. The main declared symptoms were fatigue in 30%, effort intolerance in 15%, myoglobinuria in 15% and myalgia in 30%. Reported CK levels ranged from 4x to 10x.

Disease progression by reaching mild, intermediate and severe type of CSS

Disease progression of the of 34 patients was depicted according to their age reaching each CSS stage in a figure inspired by the survival Kaplan-Meier plot (Figure 3A). As an example, a SBMD patient individual disease progression is illustrated in figure 3A. His age was reported when reaching the CEIF symptoms, muscular deficit (WRMD) and ultimately the partial loss of ambulation The (LoA). retrospectively estimated time free of skeletal muscle deficit was 40 years and 30 years before the partial loss of ambulation respectively patient N11 and N19.

In the majority of mild patients (MBMD) the disease begins in late childhood. In the intermediate patients the initial stage of the disease features only symptoms and progressively they develop skeletal muscle deficit. Interestingly, the age of reaching the mild stage (age at CEIF) in intermediate group of patients is very early, below the age of 7 y.o. in 11 cases. Also, a family case of free brothers had inaugural skeletal muscle deficit at age of five. Only two patients were categorized as severe and they had first clinical signs at age 5 and featured skeletal muscle deficit (age at WRMD) for an average of 35 years before losing the ambulation. This data confirms the slowly progressive character of muscular dystrophy and also indicates an association of the age to the CSS scale. Indeed, we report a significative difference between the actual age of patients in MBMD comparing to IBMD (p=0.005) and to SBMD (p=0.02) (Figure 3B). Interestingly, CK level was correlated to the CSS severity (Figure 3C). Moreover, there is a significant difference in the age of reaching the MBMD compared to actual CSS stage (p=0.01) (Figure3D). The limited number of patients with SBMD did not allowed to reach statistical significance in the analysis of association of age at reaching WRMD compared to the actual CSS scale.



Figure 3 Disease progression according to CSS in BMdel45-55 patients. (A) Kaplan-Meyer inspired representation of individual disease progression for patient N19, with age at reaching Mild CSS (CEIF), at Intermediate CSS (WRMD). Visualization of disease progression in 34 individual BMD445-55 patient; blue lines illustrate the Mild CSS patients, yellow the Intermediate CSS and red the Severe CSS patients, (B) Actual age associated to the current CSS stage (C) CK at diagnostic are associated by current CSS (D) Age at reaching the Mild and Intermediate CSS according to current CSS. Abbreviations: CEIF=cramps, effort intolerance, WRMD=walking/running deficit, MBMD=mild, IBMD=intermediate, SBMD=severe Becker muscular dystrophy, LVEF= left ventricular ejection fraction, CK=creatine kinase, Dx=diagnostic.

Cardiac phenotype of the BMD Δ 45-55 patients

A cardinal feature of phenotype variability in BMD is the presence of а cardiomyopathy and this data was evaluated by echocardiography in 50% (n=27) of reported patients. Moreover, in 33% of patients the diagnostic of cardiomyopathy was established. The median age at the cardiac evaluation was 45+/-17, and the majority of patients were under cardioprotective therapy, with the therapy protocol data missing in 3 patients. The LVEF in SBMD patients was performed at 53 and 73 y.o. respectively. From 26 patients with missing cardiac phenotype the median age was 37+/-20 and, in most cases, patients refused the medical follow-up. Based on initial evaluation it is possible that they have a mild skeletal muscle phenotype but this does not exclude the possibility to develop cardiomyopathy. Particularly, in this cohort, one patient N32 underwent cardiac transplantation at age of 40 and had a mild skeletal muscle phenotype. His first clinical signs were reported at age of 36 and he had a rapid cardiac deterioration. We report three distinct populations, the young patients with Mild CSS (MBMD) with normal (>45%) values, the population of Intermediate CSS (IBMD) along with the asymptomatic patients (normal LVEF values) and the population of pathologic

LVEF values with Intermediate and Severe CSS (IBMD and SBMD) (Figure 4A). Significant difference was determined between the LVEF (%) in SBMD compared to MBMD (Figure 4B). There was no significant correlation between the LVEF (%) vs CSS types nor the age of first clinical signs.

The Dystrophin protein level suggests disease rate of progression

Despite the retrospective nature of this study, we managed to obtain the diagnostic Western Blot (WB) analysis (Cochin APHP, Paris) for 11 previously reported (Gentil et al.) and 3 additional patients. Despite the fact that the WB assay is not a quantitative assay, we took advantage that the diagnostic WB was performed by the same laboratory technician in all patients and for consistency issue we performed the relative quantification on ImageJ by the same operator.

As expected, the IBMD had a high amount of dystrophin protein, in opposite to SBMD patient who had a more heterogeneous amounts of dystrophin (Figure 4 D). A negative correlation between age at first skeletal muscle symptoms and the quantification of the dystrophin relative deficit is reported (p=0.02) (Figure 4 D). Interestingly, this result suggests that independently of a high level of dystrophin protein, young patients already had walking and running difficulties at 5 years old. Additional analysis with different type of in-frame and out-of-frame mutations in *DMD* gene could be necessary to confirm these results. Overall, our results suggest that despite young age and high dystrophin quantity there are independent factors triggering the disease progression and functional deficit.



Figure 4 Cardiac exploration in BMDA45-55 patients (n=23). (A) Scatter plot of cardiac functional evaluation by LVEF (%) by ultrasonography (US) against age at last cardiac evaluation colored according to CSS, (B) LVEF (%) correlation by current CSS (C)Scatter plot and correlation of cardiac LVEF against age at reaching MMD (D) Scatter plot and correlation of cardiac LVEF against age at reaching IBMD (D) Dystrophin analysis in BMDA45-55 patients (n=14). (A) relative quantification (RQ) of dystrophin protein by Western Blot (Dystrophin/Coomassie) against CSS actual stage (B) correlation analysis between dystrophin RQ and the age at the muscular biopsies (p=0,02). Abbreviations: MBMD=mild, IBMD=intermediate, SBMD=severe Becker muscular dystrophy, LVEF= left ventricular ejection fraction, dys/Co (%) = dystrophin/Coomassie, Pearson statistical test, $R^2 p=0.02$

Cardiac genotype characterization of the BMD Δ 45-55 patients

We report а high number of cardiomyopathy (33%) in this mutation specific cohort. In order to address the cardiac phenotype variability issue, we performed WGS in 19 patients and analyzed the variants found in 65 cardiac genes from the CARDIOGEN list. First, we selected the candidate genetic modifiers corresponding to the established frequency threshold (<1%), exonic, close intronic location and pathogenicity prediction tool, UMD Predictor. In addition, we selected the following clinical criteria of: dilated cardiomyopathy, cardiac failure and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (Ref). Then, variants were classified with regards to American College of Medical Genetics and Genomics (ACMG) criteria (Richards et al, 2015), with help of several prediction tools. Also, frequency of rare variants in our local in-house database was used for interpretation. Resulting SNP are listed in Table 2 and were classified based on ACMG criteria as follows: 1/benign, 2/probably 3/unknown benign,

significance,4/probably pathogenic, 5/pathogenic. Reported results did not reveal any pathogenic SNP.

None of the family cases share the same SNP variants. As expected, the majority of SNPs were found in the *TTN* gene but none of these variants had an ACMG score > 3/5. Then, followed *RBM20* and FBMN1, identified in two different Interestingly, variants patients each. within the same gene did not repeat even in the family cases (n=3). Interestingly, patient N19 with Severe CSS phenotype and cardiomyopathy only had one variant in BAG gene, but after detailed analysis this SNP was classified as benign. In contrary, for the patient 11, severe BMD with severe cardiomyopathy, the SNP in FLNC gene may represent a potential candidate for future studies, as this SNP is classified of unknown significance, mainly because of its low frequency. Based on reported WGS data, we confirm the utility of this sequencing in order to stratify the potential genes SNP association in cardiac pathology.

	_	VEF (% Cardiomy	nyopathy	Chr	r Start	End Ref	Alt	Funcre gene	f Gene.ref gene	ExonicFunc.refgene	AAChange.refgene	avsnp150	OMD UM	D Prediction gno	mAD_ gno me gen	ome Vi	arsome Varsome o	riteria In	tervar Intervar crit	eria Clin	var myUCSC (local database)	Interpretation based on ACMG	ACMG Criteris
rediate 56	91	00	ID=B00HOJT	AllVariants VR.:2	179425733	179425733 T	9	ex onic	NTT	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM 003319:exon13	54:c.57 ns755843409 8	14 Path	ogenic 1.6	3e-05 .	n	S PM2 BP1	ŝ	S PMI PM2 PI	2 BPl no	several panels	3	PMI PM2 BP1
			IID=B00HOJU	AllVariants_VR. 7	128481523	128481523 C	г	ex onic	FLNC	nonsy nonymous SNV	FLNC:NM_001127487:ee	xon 13).	00 Path	ogenic 1.6.	24e-05 .	'n	S PM2 PP3 I	PI US	S PMI PM2 PI	3 1US	ou	3	PMI PM2 BP1
e 41	Ŧ	yes	ID=B00H0JU	AllVariants_VR. 2	179444915	179444915 A	9	ex onic	NTT	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon14	46:c.39 ts72646873	18 Path	ogenic 0.0	0.0 0.0	015 B	PP3 BS1 B BP6	S2 BP1 LI	, PMI PM2 PI BP1	2 PP5 1B6	LB7US several panels	T	BSI BS2
59		QL.	ID=B00H0JV	AllVariants_VR. 2	179425208	179425208 G	Т	ex onic	NTT	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon13	54:c.58rs142478636 5	0 Path	ogenic 0.0	02 0.0	002 B	PP3 BS1 B	S2 BP1 US	PMI PM2 PI	2 PP3 3LB	** 110	2	PMI PM2 BP1 DD6
9 <u>1</u>	3 9		ID=B00HOIV	AllVariants VR. 15	48713770	48713770 C	⊢_	ex onic	FBNI	nonsy nonymous SNV	FBN1:NM_000138:exon6	62:e.76. 21.4 eductrosoc 1e	5 Path	ogenic 1.6	86e-05 .	= <u>-</u>	PMI PM2	PP3 US	PMI PM2 PI	3 10	0.0		PMI PM2 PP3
2		3	ID=B00H0K9	AllVariants VR 2	179540461	D 179540461 G	<u><</u>	exonic	NLL	VIC SUDITYIIOII VEIDII VIC SUDITYIIOII VEIDII	ava.05.575600 MN.NTT	on149)rs182428755 5	7 Path	ogenic 0.0	143 0.0	026 B	RS1 RS2 F		BP2 PP3 BS1	BPI 2.B.1	lis all nanels	• -	RSI RS2 RP1
			ID=B00H0K9	AllVariants VR 10	112572176	112572176 A		ex onic	RBM20	nonsy nonymous SNV	RBM20:NM_001134363:	exon9	18 Path	ogenic 6.6	5e-06 6.5	05e-05 U	S PM2 BP1	5	BP6 S no criteria	011	no		PM2 BP1
			[D=B00H01Z	AllVariants_VR::2	179441295	179441295 T	С	ex onic	NTTN	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon15	53:c.42 Is72646885 5	10 Path	ogenic 0.0)76 0.0	048 B	PMI PP3 I BP1 BP6	SI BS2	3 PMI PP2 PP	IBSI 8B*	00	-	PMI PP3 BS1 BS2 BP1 BP6
rediate 44	2	yes	ID=B00H01Z_	AllVariants_VR.:2	179418346	179418346 C	Т	ex onic	NTT	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon16	62:c.621s72648237	2 Prot	ably pathogeni 0.0	0.0 0.0	005 B	PMI BSI 1	S2 BPI LI	PMI PM2 PI BP1	2 PP5 1B5	LB6US one panel	2	PMI BSI BP1
			ID=B00H01Z_	AllVariants_VR:2	179482089	179482089 C	Т	ex onic	ITIN	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon8;	2:c.2051s72677237	r8 Path	ogen ic 0.0	0.0 0.0	044 B	PP3 BS1 B	S2 BP1 LI	PMI PP2 PP	BSI 8B6	US no	2	PP3 BS1 BP1
_		_	ID=B00HOK0	AllVariants VR 17	37822318	37822318 C	т	ex onic	TCAP	nonsy nonymous SNV	TCAP:NM 003673 xx on/	2:c.46(ns755539784 8	17 Path	ogenic 2.5	18e-05 3.2	31e-05 U	S PM2 PP3	n.	5 PM2 PP3	3 US	** no	3	PM2 PP3
65	22	00	ID=B00H0K0	_AllVariants_VR 15	48779352	48779352 C	Т	ex onic	FBN1	NNS snomynons SNV	FBN1:NM_000138:exon2	29:c.35 Is137854475 6	i6 Prot	ably pathogeni 0.0	0.0	010 B	PMI PP2 I BS1 BS2	P3 PP5 US	S PMI PM2 PI	5 BS2 16L	3 5US several panels	-	PP5 BS1 BS2 PP5 BS1 BS2
			ID=B00H0K0	_AllVariants_VR 1	78401672	78401674 AAG		ex onic	NEXN	nonframeshift deletion	NEXN:NM_001172309.8	xon10 rs794729091	AN NA	0.0	9.6	98e-05 B	PM4 PP3 I	SI BS2		sus	first A>G in several panels	3	PM4 PP3 BS1
			ID=B00H0K1	_AllVariants_VR 2	179403853	179403853 T	С	ex onic	ITIN	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon18	81:c.71rs200544701 7	18 Path	ogenic 0.0	02 9.6	96e-05 B	BS1BS2B	ы	3 PMI PP2 BS	BPI 1LB	2US no	2	PMI PP2 BS1 BP1
rediate -		yes	ID=B00H0KI	AllVariants_VR 2	179434186	179434186 T	۷	ex onic	NTT	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon15	54:c.49 rs201095164 5	13 Path	ogenic 0.0	02 9.7	03e-05 B	PP3 BS1 B	S2 BP1 LI	3 PMI PP2 BS	BPI ILB	ou SU9	2	PMI PP2 BS1 BP1
			ID=B00H0KI	AllVariants_VR 10	112544125	112544125 C	Т	ex onic	RBM20	nonsy nonymous SNV	RBM20:NM_001134363	:exon4 rs189569984 6	i6 Prot	ably pathogeni 0.0)55 0.0	042 B	BS1 BS2 H	PI BP6 US	PP5 BS1	118	LB** no	-	BSI BS2 BP1 BP6
			ID=B00H0K8	AllVariants_VR 2	179582913	179582913 C	Т	ex onic	ITIN	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_133378:exon8;	3:c.210rs72648981 7	12 Prot	ably pathogeni 0.0	0.0	023 B	BS1 BS2 B	Ы	3 PMI PM2 PI BP6	2 BPI 5LB	1US several panels	-	BSI BS2 BP1
65	55	10	ID=B00H0K8	AllVariants_VR 2	179486037	179486037 C	۷	ex onic	ITIN	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon74	4:c.1821s72677225 8	14 Path	ogenic 0.0	52 0.0	047 B	BS1BS2B RPK	PI BP4 LI	PMI PP2 PP	(BSI 7B2	LB1US all panels	-	BS1 BS2 BP1 RP4 RP6
			ID=B00HOK8	AllVariants_VR 2	179481536	179481536 C	L	ex onic	NTT	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon84	4:c.208rs757013471 7	18 Path	ogenic 5.7.	25e-05 3.2	39e-05 [L]	B PP3BS2B	30 I G	PMI PM2 PI	2 BPI no	00	2	PP3 BS2 BP1
63	8	ou	ID=B00H0K3	_AllVariants_VR 2	179400130	179400130 G	V	ex onic	NLL	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon13	86:c.74 rs56273463	-1 Prot	ably pathogeni 0.0	356 0.0	055 B	PM1 PP3 1 BP1 BP6	SI BS2	BP1 PM2 PI	5 BSI 4B5	LB6US no	-	PMI PP3 BS1 BS2 BP1 BP6
			ID=B00HOK4	AllVariants_VR 2	179611809	- 179611809	TATCG TAGAC CTCCT GGTGT G	CTC TTCT 00G exonic 00A	NLL	nonframeshift insertion	TTN:NM_133379:exon44	6:c.1531s397517815	AN NA	0.0	0.0	021 B	PM4 PP3 F	SI BS2		3LB	01	-	PM4 PP3 BS1 BS2
nediate -			ID=B00H0K4	AllVariants_VR 2	179455352	179455352 C	-	ex onic	ITIN	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon[]	32:c.33rs141973925 8	14 Path	ogen ic 0.0	34 0.0	026 B	PP3 BS1 B	S2 BP1 LI	3 PMI PP2 BS BP6	BPI 10B	LB** all panels	-	PP3 BS1 BS2 RP1
			ID=B00HOK4	AllVariants_VR 2	179587016	179587016 -	TGTTG CAAGT TTGGA TGA	TTC GGG exonic TGC exonic	NILL	nonframeshift insertion	TTN:NM_133378:exon7-	4:c.1871s763282322	VA NA	210)9e-05	5	S PM4 PP3 I	8		IUS	UO	m	PP3 BS1 BS2 BP1
			ID=B00HOK5	AllVariants_VR 1	237754015	237754015 A	9	ex onic	RYR2	nonsy nonymous SNV	RYR2:NM_001035 xx on:	31:c.38rs200574919	2 Prot	ably pathogeni 7.8.	34e-05 6.4	56e-05 B	PP3 BS1 B	32 UI	S PM2 PP3	3 U S	•• 110	-	PN2 PP3 BS1 BS2
			ID=B00H0K6	AllVariants_VR 10	75854210	75854210 C	Т	ex onicș plicin g	NCL .	nonsy nonymous SNV	VCL:NM_003373:exon1	1:c.153rs781079975	00 Path	ogenic 5.3)8e-05 6.4	58e-05 B	BS1BS2B	PI BP4 US	S no criteria	2US	** 110	-	BS1 BS2 BP1 BP4
			ID=B00HOK6	AllVariants_VR 10	69970082	69970082 G	۷	exonic	MYPN	nonsy nonymous SNV	MYPN:NM_032578:exon	120x.3\ts142877365	r5 Path	ogenic 0.0	0.0 0.0	005 B	1 Edd 1 Md	SI BS2 U	IMI	7US	one panel	2	PMI PP3 BSI BS2
			ID=B00H0KA	_AllVariants_VR 10	21097546	21097546 G	V	ex onic	NEBL	nonsy nonymous SNV	NEBL:NM_006393:exon	26:c.24 rs143584663	1 Prot	ably pathogen 0.0	0.0	025 B	PP3 BS1 B	PIBP6 US	S PMI PM2 PF	3 3LB	one panel	2	PM2 PP3 BS1 BP1 BP6
			ID=B00H0KB	_AllVariants_VR 2	39262348	392.62348 C	9	splicing	ISOS		NM_005633.exon8.c.107	74+5G>rs145155424	AN NA	0.0	0.0 0.0	096 B	BS1BS2B	P4 BP6		12B	** all panels	-	BSI BS2 BP4 BP6
65	22	по	ID=B00H0KB	AllVariants_VR2	179449683	179449683 G	۷	ex onic	NILL	nonsy nonymous SNV	TTN:NM_003319:exon13	38:c.37. 5	13 Path	ogen ic		0	S PMI PM2	P3 BP1 US	S PMI PM2 PI	2 BPI	00	3	PMI PM2 PP2 BP1
			ID=B00H0KB	AllVariants_VR 1	3329229	3329229 G	С	ex onic	PRDM16	nonsy nonymous SNV	PRDM16:NM_022114.xx	:on9:c:/rs371654192 6	6 Path	ogenic 0.0	0.0	024 B	PP3 BS1 B BP6	S2 BP1 US	S BP6	182	LB several panels	-	PP3 BS1 BS2 BP1 BP6

Larger number of protective genetic modifiers in mild BMD Δ 45-55 patients

Here we report the WGS analysis of genetic modifiers previously reported in DMD patients (*TCTEX1D1, ACTN3, THBS1, LTBP4, TGFBR2, SPP1*). From 19 patients screened by WGS only 18 featured SNPs in published genetic modifiers, shown in Table 3. The deleterious SNPs are illustrated in red and the protective ones in blue, and in order to take into consideration the progressive nature of the disease and the presence of the SNPs, the age distribution was highlighted by a grey scale. Overall, we highlighted a high variability in the presence of protective SNPs, from none to a maximum of eleven.

The deleterious *SPP1* SNPs was identified in the majority of patients with skeletal muscle deficit, also in one of the two severe patients. The *LTBP4* SNPs resulting in a deleterious haplotype T-VTTT was found in three patients, two relatives (p20 \pm and p21 \pm), one with intermediate CSS phenotype and one for which clinical data were not sufficient in order to assign a skeletal muscle clinical severity score and one relatively young and currently mild patient. In contrary, the protective C-IAAM was found in a mild patient with an older age at first clinical signs.

The deleterious *TCTEX1D1* was found in only one intermediate patient altogether

with a protective SNP in *ACTN3*. This patient's first age of skeletal muscle symptoms was at 6 years old and the first muscular deficit was reported at a late stage around the age at 72 years. In addition, this patient's relative included in this cohort, featured only the protective SNP and reported the first skeletal muscle symptoms at age 23. Despite a relatively young actual age, 32 years, he is still free of skeletal muscle deficit suggesting a milder phenotype and a potential candidate for a long-term mild category.

The SNPs profile of genetic modifiers in the two severe patients are of a major interest. Indeed, one of the severe patients does not have any of deleterious SNPs and features two protective SNPs, however he lost ambulation at age of 60 years and features severe cardiomyopathy. The second severe patient has the deleterious *SPP1* SNP and the protective *TGFBR2* SNPS, indeed this patient has lost his ambulation at a very advanced (72 y.o.) age that could be explained by the protective SNPs presence that is supposed to alleviate his phenotype.

In the Figure 5 we depicted the SNP distribution according to the age of first skeletal muscle symptoms and CSS stage. Data showed that patients with early age at first skeletal muscle symptoms or deficit were found with the largest number of deleterious variants, and that patients with

mild severity CSS score tend to have the largest number of SNPs in various protective genetic modifiers.

Altogether these results have allowed to depict a detailed map of various actors involved in phenotype variability that was never studied in BMD Δ 45-55 patients. We

highlight trends compatible with the described effects of the studied SNPs on phenotypes but with a high variability.



Figure 5 SNPs in genetic modifiers distribution. On the left side, SNPs represented according to the age of first skeletal muscle symptoms and at right, distribution according to the Clinical Severity Scale.



Table 3 BMDdel45-55 patient genomic status of SNPs in several genetic modifiers. In red are depicted the deleterious SNPs and in blue the protective ones. In grey are highlighted the age of first clinical skeletal muscle symptoms.

PAGE 97-ARTICLE 1

Family members have different genomic profile based on WGS study

Among the three family cases identified in this study, members of the same family featuring different clinical severity but similar genomic deletion breakpoint tend to have a heterogeneous SNPs profile in interrogated genes. Here, we report a family case of three members with two brothers and one nephew featuring different skeletal muscle phenotypes (p8*, p9*, p11*). The main clinical characteristics and genomic characterization are listed in the Table 4.

	Gene	ID	p8*	p9*	p11*
		rs1060575			
	ΙζΙΕΛΙΟΙ	rs3816989			
	ACTN3	rs1815739			
		rs1004866			
S	THBS1	rs2725797			
fier		rs2624259			
odi		rs814518			-
e m		rs710160	С		
Jen	ΙΤΒΡΛ	rs2303729	Ι		
)	LIDI4	rs1131620	А		
		rs1051303	А		
		rs10880	M(het)		
	TGFBR2	rs4522809			
	SPP1	rs28357094			
		Actual	14	59	71
	ears	SkM	9	30	2
ns	e (y	symptoms	,	50	2
stat	Age	SkM deficit	NA	NA	53
cal	,	LoA	NA	NA	60
lini		Cardiac	normal	normal	CdM
C		Pulmonary	normal	normal	normal
		Cognitive	normal	normal	normal
		CSS	MILD	MILD	SEVERE
	Dp427m	WB	uk	60%	uk
Dystrophin	Dp116	WGS	yes	yes	yes
	Dp140	WGS	ves	ves	ves

Table 4 Family case trio of BMD 45-55 patient family.

Indeed, as detailed here despite his young age p8* features very mild clinical symptoms with calf hypertrophy and elevated CK. During his last clinical evaluation at 12 years, patient had an excellent clinical status except of a muscle force examination of the upper limb (triceps brachii) 4/5 and 5/5 on the rest of his force examination. Gower's sign was negative and no limb contractions were reported. Also, the young boy practice sports with mild limitations and features occasional muscular pain during sustained exercise. His respiratory and cardiac evaluations are normal. His current education is in a regular school and he is one of the best pupils of this class. In addition to his clinical detailed characterization, we searched for his genetic modifiers profile and reported the largest number of protective SNPs which were previously described in literature in DMD patients. Indeed, in comparison to his uncle p9*, this patient was reported to have skeletal muscle symptoms at earlier age (9 y.o.). In contrary, patient p9* featured his first skeletal muscle symptoms at an approximate age of 30 years old, with lower limbs fatigue, calf hypertrophy and quadriceps amyotrophy. Interestingly, the dystrophin protein relative quantification at the diagnostic biopsy was estimated at 60% compared to healthy control. His current cardiac status was not reported recently because of a patient drop-off of the medical follow-up.

The most severe patient, p11* is one of the outliers of this cohort and indeed he doesn't have the same profile of genetic modifiers as his relatives. Indeed, this patient has *ACTN3* and *TGFBR2* SNPs that can be probably associated to the late age of the skeletal muscle deficit. In addition, the lack of the deleterious SNPs confirms the complex mechanism of the skeletal muscle deficit in BMD patients. Unfortunately, we did not have the dystrophin quantification in this patient because the skeletal muscle biopsy wasn't realized at diagnosis.

Altogether this family case reports different genetic modifiers profile in relatives with the same genomic mutation in *DMD* gene. The mild phenotype in this patient trio could be explained by a larger number of protective SNPs. Prospective follow-up of this patients is necessary in order to confirm the reported data. The therapy development in DMD has been largely inspired by the clinical milder phenotype of BMD patients. Several antisens oligonucleotides (AON) treatments are actually FDA and EMA approved and available for DMD patients (EXONDYS 51, VYONDYS 53). Genotype-phenotype studies highlighted the central rod domain sharing deletion of exons 45-55 with less severe muscular involvement, except for of rare cases dilated cardiomyopathy^{17,18,21,35}. Studies with both, oligonucleotides antisense (AON) development and CRISPR/Cas9 systems for NHJR reported encouraging results for the MES45-55 as potential alternative to non-mutation dependent therapies for DMD patients. Here we report the characterization of the largest cohort of BMD patients with specific del45-55 as a predictor to the outcome of MES 45-55 therapy. The clinical characterization of 50 BMD Δ 45-55 patients highlights an exclusively 100% BMD skeletal muscle phenotype. One patient underwent cardiac transplant despite a mild skeletal muscle phenotype. New inhouse Clinical Severity Scale (CSS) was assessed retrospectively in 43 patients. For this clinical scale we focused on two major variables responsible for morbidity and mortality: skeletal muscle weakness with the LoA and the presence and severity of cardiomyopathy. As expected, mild and

intermediate type of CSS phenotype are predominant, only one patient was classified as asymptomatic and two patients lost ambulation. The major reported symptoms as fatigue, effort intolerance. high CK levels and transient episodes of rhabdomyolysis are in line with the previously reported studies. Surprisingly, we had only one patient classified as asymptomatic in contrast with the Taglia et al. study²⁰. Interestingly, patients in mild (MBMD) and intermediate (IBMD) are represented confirming equally the progressive character of the muscular dystrophy. Moreover, the patient stratification according to CSS scale allows a better identification of a slowly progressive nature of the muscular dystrophy in this specific exonic deletion. Indeed, both severe and the majority of IBMD all had initially a mild stage evolution of the disease. At ~age of 40 y.o. the patients had a worsening of the clinical phenotype with the installation of skeletal muscle deficit. A prospective follow-up data will be interesting to report for the family case with three brothers who had inaugural skeletal deficit since very early childhood at 4 y.o. revealed that the two SBMD patients had a ~10 years difference between the age of the appearance of skeletal muscle deficit. Despite the retrospective nature of this work, the CSS

classification reveal the slowly progressive character of the muscular dystrophy in BMD patients with the specific exon 45 to 55 deletion.

Here we highlight a high percentage of cardiomyopathy in 33 % of patients with one patient who underwent cardiac transplant. Several studies reported that Xlinked cardiomyopathies and BMD share the same distribution of deletion mutation hotspots corresponding to the rod domain (exons 45 to 55). In addition, literature data reported a median age of 43 years as the onset of cardiomyopathy in patients with exon 45-55³⁶. We complete this data and detected a later age of onset at mean 46 years. Surprisingly, despite a later onset the total number of cardiomyopathies was high, at 33 % and represents in our opinion an important issue to be studied in prospective studies. Indeed, as reported in literature, the cardiomyopathies in patients with exon 45 to 55 deletion have a trend to severe complications secondary to viral infections and have a high risk of heart failure³⁷. Despite a general favorable phenotype of this cohort, one French patient reported severe heart failure with rapid onset despite a mild skeletal muscle phenotype that required cardiac transplant. Fortunately, patient recovery is excellent. In previously reported Japanese case report the cardiomyopathy management was also positive, suggesting a high degree of therapy responsiveness³⁷. Our results underline a significant CSS age-related decline of the left ventricular fraction.

Earlier BMD genotype-phenotype studies reveled that BMD patients with distal rod domain deletions had a classic Becker muscular dystrophy phenotype despite a high clinical and dystrophin protein level variability. Authors reported correlation of the age at reaching the moderate degree dystrophin levels with (relative quantification by WE) in patients with distal rod domain mutations³⁸. This data indicated the functional role of dystrophin domains. Recently, clinical phenotype was correlated with the structural characteristics of dystrophin at the deletion site and found a strong association with phenotype severity in BMD patients. Precisely, modelling study and biochemical data demonstrated that central rod domain deletions can lead to structural modifications profound of dystrophin and influence the disease severity in BMD patients^{26,35}. In this work we looked closely to exon 45-55 specific correlation of the dystrophin levels with the disease progression and we found a negative correlation to the age of diagnosis. In addition, the dystrophin relative quantification from our group and also in studies several previously published underline the highly heterogeneous dystrophin level is in patients with the exon 45-55 deletion^{21,35,39–43}. Thus, the present

data indicate that in addition to the structural modification of the truncated resulting protein there are additional factors that are influencing the first skeletal muscle symptoms in Becker muscular dystrophy.

Despite the rare disease character of DMD and a relatively low patient number, genome wide association studies (GWAS) were recently conducted and by two distinct approaches was identified two novel gene modifiers as TCTEX1D1, THBS1 ^{27–29}. For the TCTEX1D1 locus deep genotyping of extremely different clinical presentation was validated prospectively in a multicenter European cohort (Bio-NMD) composed of 301 patients with DMD. Whole exome sequencing (WES) performed in DMD patients with extreme phenotypes identified 11 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNPs) associated with age of ambulation loss. Further association of identified SNPs with age of ambulation loss revealed TCTEX1D1 locus on chromosome 1 influencing the DMD phenotype. Previously, LTBP4 (IAAM haplotype) was associated with an ~2year delay in time to loss of ambulation in DMD boys^{28,44}. There is no evidence to our knowledge about the presence of these gene modifiers in BMD patients and we explored this issue by conducting a whole genome sequencing (WGS) in 19 BMD Δ 45-55 patients. The WGS data in 19 BMD Δ 45-55 patients were filtered to analyze only variants located in

cardiomyopathy genes (CARDIOGEN list of 65 genes), and this did not lead us to SNP identify any clear potentially associated with cardiac phenotype. Based on these results we report the benign character of the cohort with Mild and Intermediate BMD patients and a limited number of SBMD patients (n=2). In family cases, we did not identify any common variants regardless of the type of analysis. In literature data, patients with early signs of cardiomyopathy and long survivor without significant patients cardiac involvement shared common variants (rs 1060575, rs 3816989). Moreover, the reported variants associated cardiac involvement and loss of ambulation suggesting that identified gene and variants could involve both cardiac and skeletal muscle²⁹. Here we report the absence of any potential pathogenic variants based on our comparative analysis in severe and intermediate patients. However, we cannot exclude that some of the variants classified as variants of unknown signification (ACMG class 3) do not slightly contribute to the cardiac phenotype of the patients 45 . We underline that WGS was conducted in a small cohort and only two patients featured SBMD that could explain the lack of statistical significance in the conducted analysis. The lack of potential candidate involved in cardiac and skeletal muscle phenotype variation in this report cannot exclude their absolute presence but suggest

the importance of better analysis of the regulatory sequences involved in different isoform's expression of *DMD* gene. Another hypothesis is that some modifier variants may be located in genes that are still not studied at the diagnostic level for cardiomyopathies.

Based on the Japanese recent study on Dp116 pathogenic role in cardiomyopathy we searched the WGS data in BMD Δ 45-55 patients in order to identify if the exon 1 of Dp116 localized in intron 55 was conserved on genomic level³⁷. One of the explanations of the cardiac phenotype variability could be the promoter activation of the Dp116 localized in the intron 55. Indeed, in Yamamoto et al reveled by PCR amplification of Dp116 transcript promoter activation in human cardiac muscle and surprisingly an association for the Dp116 with cardiomyopathy in DMD. Surprisingly, the shorter isophorme of dystrophin as Dp116 did not act as expected the protective compensatory role but in contrary was pathogenic. The Dp116 isophorme was originally described in peripheral nerves and brain and this recent data add a new potential actor in phenotype variability in BMD patients. Indeed, from 4 candidates with cardiomyopathy in BMDΔ45-55 cohort only two of them preserved the exon 1 of Dp116 isophorme. Moreover, the severe patients had different genetic pattern, patient N11 conserved the exon 1 of Dp116 isophorme and patient 19 did not. Interestingly, both patients lost ambulation and despite the onset of first symptoms in early infancy, patient N11 had a rapid decline of skeletal muscle deficit compared to patient 19. Unfortunately, we did not had access to muscle biopsy in order to confirm the expression of Dp116 isoform is these two patients.

As mentioned, literature data reported several genetic modifiers involved in phenotype variability in DMD patients and we hypothesized that same SNPs in genetic modifiers could be involved in phenotype variability in BMD patients. Indeed, BMD patients have generally a milder phenotype and a present but truncated dystrophin protein. We took advantage of this particular feature and analyzed BMD patients with same exonic deletion from 45 to 55. Deep phenotype characterization allowed to identify phenotype variability of skeletal muscle features and assessment of the disease progression by a clinical severity scale.

The majority of reported SNPs are involved in major canonic pathways of great interest in DMD/BMD environment. Indeed, *SPP1*, *TGFBR2*, *LTBP4*, *THBS1* are involved in TGF- β pathway^{28,30,32} and *TCTEXD2* has a potential link to SMAD pathway²⁹. As per *ACTN3* is of a great importance in skeletal muscle structure especially in fast fibers⁴⁶. LTBP4 regulates the transforming growth factor (TGF- β) and several SNP result in two major protein coding haplotypes, one coding for a protective protein isoform (IAAM) and the second one associated with a deleterious protein isoform. LTBP4 SNPs haplotypes display the protective effects with a recessive model. Among several reported SNPs, rs710160 alleles are differentially distributed between VTTT/IAAM haplotypes and phased analysis from DMD patients identified that the rs710160 C allele sub-divided the IAAM haplotype. Despite a largely favorable phenotype of the cohort reported here, there is only one patient with the protective haplotype C-IAAM from 19 screened BMDA45-55 patients. In addition, the same patient has protective SNPs in ACTN3 and TGFBR2 featuring the larger number of SNPs.

However, in this study we reported 3 patients with *LTBP4* SNPs that are resulting in a potential deleterious isoform. In two of these patients (p31 and p21) the age at first clinical signs was in the early childhood. Interestingly, p21 has an association with a protective *ACTN3* SNP and despite an advanced actual age this patient is still ambulant. In contrary, p31 doesn't have any association with other protective SNPs, taking into consideration his young age, 20 years old, a prospective follow-up might be necessary in order to confirm his skeletal muscle evolution.

Another important partner of the TGFB signaling pathways is the thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1 is encoded by THBS1 gene) that interacts with LTBP4²⁷. The rs2725797 associated with LOA and interestingly in skeletal muscle it was reported that rs2725797 and rs rs710160 C result in average with 6.8 years delay of LoA. We supposed that this cumulative feature will be similar for the SNPs described in ACTN3 gene. Indeed, the α -actinine-3 deficiency due to a null mutation (R577X) in ACTN3 gene results in a protective oxidative muscle metabolism with age. Literature data reported that oxidative fibers are relatively spared from degeneration in DMD⁴⁶. In addition, ACTN3 genotype significantly influence elite athletes and healthy individuals. Here, we report rs1815739 as the most frequent SNPs in this BMD specific cohort.

Recent WES study identified *TCTEXD2* SNP associated with the LoA in DMD patients²⁹. In this cohort we report one patient featuring both reported SNPs but we did not find a positive association with the LoA as the patient remain ambulant till late age. We detailed a family case (p8*, p9*, p11*) that illustrated the importance of the WGS in patient stratification. Also, this detailed genomic characterization can allow a better prognosis of disease long term evolution if the diagnosis is performed early in a positive family history. Prospective follow-up will be necessary in order to confirm the potential involvement of the previously described gene modifiers in severe DMD patients to the benign BMD Δ 45-55 cohort.

These results suggest that genetic modifiers have still unrevealed important phenotype regulator partners as might be the noncoding RNA. For example, lncRNA H19 was recently reported to alleviate DMD phenotype by stabilizing dystrophin⁴⁷.

In conclusion, this study confirms the importance of the genetic modifiers profile in disease evolution prognostic in a personalized medicine approach.

Furthermore, new regulatory non-coding sequences were described as important regulatory elements in myogenesis. A variety of lncRNA specific to *DMD* was described by Bovolenta et al. in Duchene female carriers⁴⁸. In fact, their forced expression in human muscle and neuronal cell caused a negative regulation of

endogenous full-length dystrophin isoforms (brain, muscle and Purkinje). The authors hypothesize that the mechanism of action involves specific DMD lncRNA that control muscle dystrophin isoforms by down-modulating dystrophin transcription levels. Unfortunately, in this study there is no correlation data with a more severe phenotype as limited to DMD female carriers. From this report, four lncRNA draw our attention as their localization is boarding the exon 45 and 55 and thus becoming an interesting target of further analysis.

In conclusion, the genotype characterization established its utility in future work to identify benign phenotypes of BMD patients that could be beneficial for the therapy design. This study will shed new light onto the genotype-phenotype link in specific BMD del45-55 cohort, thus increasing the ability to predict the outcome of MES strategy therapy.

REFERENCES:

- 1. Bushby, K. *et al.* Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 1: diagnosis, and pharmacological and psychosocial management. *Lancet Neurol* **9**, 77–93 (2010).
- Mendell, J. R. *et al.* Longitudinal effect of eteplirsen versus historical control on ambulation in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Eteplirsen in DMD. *Ann Neurol.* **79**, 257–271 (2016).
- Bladen, C. L. *et al.* The TREAT-NMD DMD Global Database: Analysis of More than 7,000 Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Mutations. *Human Mutation* 36, 395–402 (2015).
- Anthony, K. *et al.* Dystrophin quantification and clinical correlations in Becker muscular dystrophy: implications for clinical trials. *Brain* 134, 3547–3559 (2011).
- van den Bergen, J. C. *et al.* Dystrophin levels and clinical severity in Becker muscular dystrophy patients. *Journal* of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry 85, 747–753 (2014).
- Bradley, W. G., Jones, M. Z., Mussini, J.-M. & Fawcett, P. R. W. Becker-type muscular dystrophy. *Muscle & Nerve* 1, 111–132 (1978).
- Muntoni, F. *et al.* Deletion of the Dystrophin Muscle-Promoter Region Associated with X-Linked Dilated Cardiomyopathy. *http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJM19930*

9233291304 https://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NE JM199309233291304?url ver=Z39.88

2003&rfr_id=ori%3Arid%3Acrossref. org&rfr_dat=cr_pub%3Dwww.ncbi.nl m.nih.gov (2010)

doi:10.1056/NEJM199309233291304.

- 8. Monaco, A. P. *et al.* Isolation of candidate cDNAs for portions of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene. *Nature* **323**, 646–650 (1986).
- 9. Aoki, Y., Yokota, T. & Wood, M. J. A. Development of multiexon skipping

antisense oligonucleotide therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Biomed Res Int* **2013**, 402369 (2013).

- Aartsma-Rus, A. & van Ommen, G.-J. B. Antisense-mediated exon skipping: A versatile tool with therapeutic and research applications. *RNA* 13, 1609– 1624 (2007).
- Suzuki, H. *et al.* Endogenous Multiple Exon Skipping and Back-Splicing at the DMD Mutation Hotspot. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 17, 1722 (2016).
- Echigoya, Y., Lim, K. R. Q., Nakamura, A. & Yokota, T. Multiple Exon Skipping in the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Hot Spots: Prospects and Challenges. *J Pers Med* 8, (2018).
- Ousterout, D. G. *et al.* Multiplex CRISPR/Cas9-Based Genome Editing for Correction of Dystrophin Mutations that Cause Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Nat Commun* 6, 6244 (2015).
- Amoasii, L. *et al.* Gene editing restores dystrophin expression in a canine model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Science* 362, 86–91 (2018).
- Long, C. *et al.* Postnatal genome editing partially restores dystrophin expression in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. *Science* 351, 400– 403 (2016).
- 16. Tabebordbar, M. *et al.* In vivo gene editing in dystrophic mouse muscle and muscle stem cells. *Science* **351**, 407–411 (2016).
- Béroud, C. *et al.* Multiexon skipping leading to an artificial DMD protein lacking amino acids from exons 45 through 55 could rescue up to 63% of patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Hum Mutat* 28, 196–202 (2007).
- 18. Tuffery-Giraud, S. *et al.* Genotypephenotype analysis in 2,405 patients with a dystrophinopathy using the UMD-DMD database: a model of

nationwide knowledgebase. *Hum Mutat* **30**, 934–945 (2009).

- Aartsma-Rus, A., Van Deutekom, J. C. T., Fokkema, I. F., Van Ommen, G.-J. B. & Den Dunnen, J. T. Entries in the Leiden Duchenne muscular dystrophy mutation database: an overview of mutation types and paradoxical cases that confirm the reading-frame rule. *Muscle Nerve* 34, 135–144 (2006).
- 20. TAGLIA, A. *et al.* Clinical features of patients with dystrophinopathy sharing the 45-55 exon deletion of DMD gene. *Acta Myol* **34**, 9–13 (2015).
- Anthony, K. *et al.* Biochemical characterization of patients with inframe or out-of-frame DMD deletions pertinent to exon 44 or 45 skipping. *JAMA Neurol* 71, 32–40 (2014).
- Nakamura, A. *et al.* Follow-up of three patients with a large in-frame deletion of exons 45–55 in the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) gene. *Journal of Clinical Neuroscience* 15, 757–763 (2008).
- Miyazaki, D. *et al.* Characterization of deletion breakpoints in patients with dystrophinopathy carrying a deletion of exons 45-55 of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) gene. *J Hum Genet* 54, 127–130 (2009).
- 24. Findlay, A. R. *et al.* Clinical phenotypes as predictors of the outcome of skipping around DMD exon 45. *Ann Neurol* **77**, 668–674 (2015).
- 25. Flanigan, K. M. *et al.* Nonsense mutation-associated Becker muscular dystrophy: interplay between exon definition and splicing regulatory elements within the DMD gene. *Hum Mutat* **32**, 299–308 (2011).
- Le Rumeur, E. Dystrophin and the two related genetic diseases, Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies. *Bosn J Basic Med Sci* 15, 14–20 (2015).
- Weiss, R. B., Vieland, V. J., Dunn, D. M., Kaminoh, Y. & Flanigan, K. M. Long-range genomic regulators of THBS1 and LTBP4 modify disease severity in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Annals of Neurology* 0,.

- Flanigan, K. M. *et al.* LTBP4 genotype predicts age of ambulatory loss in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Ann. Neurol.* 73, 481–488 (2013).
- 29. Spitali, P. *et al.* TCTEX1D1 is a genetic modifier of disease progression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *European Journal of Human Genetics* **28**, 815–825 (2020).
- Pegoraro, E. *et al.* Osteopontin in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy (S15.002). *Neurology* 78, S15.002-S15.002 (2012).
- Pegoraro, E. *et al.* SPP1 genotype is a determinant of disease severity in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Neurology* 76, 219–226 (2011).
- Piva, L. *et al.* TGFBR2 but not SPP1 genotype modulates osteopontin expression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy muscle. *The Journal of Pathology* 228, 251–259.
- Swaggart, K. A. *et al.* Annexin A6 modifies muscular dystrophy by mediating sarcolemmal repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 6004– 6009 (2014).
- 34. Fallon, J. R. & McNally, E. M. Biglycan and LTBP4: Leveraging the extracellular matrix for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy therapeutics. *Matrix Biol.* (2018) doi:10.1016/j.matbio.2018.02.016.
- 35. Nicolas, A. *et al.* Becker muscular dystrophy severity is linked to the structure of dystrophin. *Hum Mol Genet* **24**, 1267–1279 (2015).
- Kaspar, R. W. *et al.* Analysis of dystrophin deletion mutations predicts age of cardiomyopathy onset in Becker Muscular Dystrophy. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* 2, 544–551 (2009).
- 37. Yamamoto, T. *et al.* Cardiac Dysfunction in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Is Less Frequent in Patients With Mutations in the Dystrophin Dp116 Coding Region Than in Other Regions. *Circ Genom Precis Med* 11, e001782 (2018).
- 38. Comi, G. P. *et al.* Clinical variability in Becker muscular dystrophy Genetic,
ARTICLE 2

Context:

We defined as Aim 2 the identification of new actors of phenotype variability and dystrophin regulators. In line with this objective we report in article N2 entitled: "Applicability of the lncRNA44s2 study to the design of 45-55 exon skipping tool for DMD therapeutic strategy" the results of lncRNA boarding exon deletion 45-55 characterization.

Abstract:

Recent data showed that long ncRNAs (lncRNA) might be important regulators of proliferation and differentiation processes in skeletal muscle, thus representing promising therapeutic targets and/or biomarkers for Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy (DMD/BMD). DMD and BMD are X-linked myopathies characterized by a progressive muscular dystrophy with or without dilatative cardiomyopathy. Two third of *DMD* gene mutations are represented by deletions and 63% of DMD patients are eligible to 45 to 55 multi-exons skipping (MES), thus becoming BMD patients (BMD Δ 45-55)¹⁹⁰. We previously reported clinical variability in the largest BMD Δ 45-55 cohort. We highlighted that all four lncRNA are differentially expressed during myogenesis in immortalized and primary human myoblasts. In addition, the lncRNA44s2 was pointed out as an accelerator of differentiation. Interestingly, lncRNA44s was associated with a favorable clinical phenotype.

This work is under preparation for publication submission for the Special Issue in "Non-coding RNAs in Health and Disease" of Biomedicines journal.

Applicability of the lncRNA 44s2 study to the design of 45-55 exon skipping tool for DMD therapeutic strategy

Elena Gargaun^{1#}, Sestina Falcone¹, Guilhem Solé³, Rabah Ben Yaou¹⁻², Vincent Tiffreau⁴, Pascale Laforet⁵, Michel Parent⁶, Marie Husson⁷, Pascal Lacombe⁴, Jean-Michel Pedespan⁷, Adrien Kettaneh⁹, Corinne Roche¹⁰, Dominique Gaillard¹¹, Sabrina Sacconi¹², Laurence Faivre¹³, Alexandra Nadaj-Pakleza¹⁴, Jean Michel Vallat¹⁵, Cécile Laroche¹⁵, Julien Durigneux¹⁴, Christine Themar-Noe¹², Marie Laure Negrier⁷, Caroline Espil-Taris⁷, Elise Boucher¹⁸, Anne Delaubier¹⁹, Claire Guillou¹⁹, Jean Marie Cuisset²⁰, Andoni Urtizberea²¹, Anatole Chessel²⁶, Alexia Blesius²³, Nicolas Levy²⁴, France Leturcq²⁵ et France Pietri-Rouxel¹

1 SU, INSERM UMRS974, AIM, Center of Research in Myology; Pitié-Salpêtrière hospital, Paris, France

2 APHP, Centre National de Référence des maladies neuromusculaires Nord/Est/Ile de France, Institute of Myology, Hôpital Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

3 Centre de référence des maladies neuromusculaires AOC, CHU Bordeaux, Bordeaux, France

4 Centre de Référence des Maladies Neuromusculaires Nord/Est/Ile de France, service de Médecine Physique et de Réadaptation, CHRU de Lille, Lille, France

5 Centre de Référence des Maladies Neuromusculaires Nord/Est/Ile de France, Hôpital Raymond Poincaré, Garches, France

6 Anatomie pathologie, Douai, France

7 Centre de référence des maladies neuromusculaires AOC, service de neuropédiatrie, CHU Bordeaux, Bordeaux, France

8 I-Motion - Pediatric Clinical Trials Department, Trousseau Hospital, Paris, France

9 Médecine interne, Hôpital Saint Antoine, Paris, France

10 Electromyographie, CH Moulin Yzeure, Moulin Yzeure, France

11 Service de génétique, CHU Reims, Reims, France

12 Centre de référence des maladies neuromusculaires PACA- Réunion- Rhône Alpes, CHU Nice, Nice, France

13 Service de génétique, CHU Dijon, Dijon, France

14 Centre de référence des maladies neuromusculaires AOC, CHU Angers, Angers, France

15 Centre de référence des maladies neuromusculaires AOC, CHU Limoges, Limoges, France

16 Service de neuropédiatrie, CHU d'Amiens - Hôpital Nord, Amiens, France

18 Centre de génétique humaine, CHU Besançon, Besançon, France

19 Médecine physique et réadaptation, CHU Potiers, Potiers, France

20 Centre de Référence des Maladies Neuromusculaires Nord/Est/Ile de France, CHRU Lille, Lille, France

21 APHP, Centre National de Référence des maladies neuromusculaires Nord/Est/Ile de France, Hendaye, France

22 National Center of Genotyping, Institute of Genomics, Evry, France

23 Institut International de Recherche, IRIS, Servier, Suresnes, France

24 Marseille Medical Genetics, UMR 1251, Centre de Génétique Médicale de Marseille, Aix Marseille University, Marseille, France

25 AP-HP, Laboratoire de génétique et biologie moléculaires, Hôpital Cochin, Université Paris Descartes-Sorbonne Paris Cité, Paris, France

26 Laboratory of Optics and Biosciences/Laboratoire d'Optiques et Biosciences (LOB), CNRS, INSERM, Ecole polytechnique, Institut Polytechnique de Paris, France

Correspondence to: Elena Gargaun, MD, SU, INSERM UMRS974, AIM, Center of Research in Myology; Pitié-Salpêtrière hospital, Paris, France E-mail: e.gargaun-ursache@institut-myologie.org

ABSTRACT

Background: Noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs) have a major role in the regulation of gene expression in physiological and various pathological conditions. Recent data showed that long ncRNAs (lncRNA) might be important regulators of proliferation and differentiation processes in skeletal muscle, thus representing promising therapeutic targets and/or biomarkers for Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy (DMD/BMD). DMD and BMD are X-linked myopathies characterized by a progressive muscular dystrophy with or without dilatative cardiomyopathy. Two third of *DMD* gene mutations are represented by deletions and 63% of DMD patients are eligible to 45 to 55 multi-exons skipping (MES), thus becoming BMD patients (BMD Δ 45-55)¹. We previously reported clinical variability in the largest BMD Δ 45-55 cohort.

Objective: In order to decipher the phenotype variability, we analyzed the genomic lncRNA profile in 38 BMD Δ 45-55 patients and characterized four of lncRNA localized in introns 44 and 56 of *DMD* gene.

Results: We highlighted that all four lncRNA are differentially expressed during myogenesis in immortalized and primary human myoblasts. In addition, the lncRNA44s2 was pointed out as an accelerator of differentiation. Interestingly, lncRNA44s expression was associated with a favorable clinical phenotype.

Conclusion: These findings suggest that lncRNA44s2 is involved in muscle differentiation process and could be a potential disease progression biomarker. Based on these results, we support the MES45-55 therapy and propose that the design of CRISPR/Cas9 MES45-55 assay considers the lncRNA sequences boarding the exonic 45 to 55 deletion.

Key words: long non-coding RNA, lncRNA, ncRNA, Becker muscular dystrophy, BMD, Duchenne muscular dystrophy DMD

INTRODUCTION

Skeletal muscle is the principal actor of the human body movement and posture maintenance. The genesis of the skeletal muscle -myogenesis- encounters several distinct phases^{2,3}. Each step of myogenesis is orchestrated by complex intrinsic and

extrinsic regulators including the myogenic regulatory factors (MRF), a group of highly conserved genes expressed in skeletal muscle lineage as myogenic factor -*Myf5*, myogenic differentiation antigen-MvoD, myogenin-MyoG, myogenic regulatory factor- MRF-4, myosin heavy chain-MHC^{4,5}. The MRF altogether with the Paired box (Pax) family members Pax3 and Pax7 act at hierarchically defined timepoints to regulate cell cycle, proliferation and differentiation^{6,7}. Moreover, literature data underline that common progenitor cell maintains muscle growth during late embryonic development and assure the adult muscle growth and repair^{7–9}.

Along with the multiple myogenic regulatory factors, the long non-coding RNA (lncRNA), a potential, emerge as new key role players^{10–} ¹³. Aberrant regulations of growth and the development process of skeletal muscle acts as an important step in the pathophysiology of various neuromuscular disorders. Recent high-throughput RNA sequencing (RNAseq) experiments identified lncRNA that are differentially expressed during skeletal myogenesis^{14,15}. In addition, some of these transcripts are dysregulated in dystrophic versus wild-type muscles suggesting an involvement in the pathological course. Alterations in the regenerative and dystrophic processes may influence the disease progression and patient outcome including in Becker and Duchenne muscular dystrophies (BMD/DMD).

Both BMD/DMD are X-linked allelic disorders caused by mutations in DMD gene^{16,17}. DMD is characterized by mutations leading mRNA transcription interruption resulting in absent dystrophin protein and severe muscular deficit with loss of ambulation (LoA) in young boys and shortened life span. In contrast, during the BMD pathophysiologic process the mRNA open reading frame is maintained resulting in the production of a shortened but functional dystrophin leading to a less severe phenotype. Due to this exceptional particularity the therapeutic dogma is to convert DMD into BMD by altering the pre-mRNA splicing by exon skipping in order to restore the open reading frame allowing the translation of an internally deleted and partially functional protein¹⁸⁻²⁰. Actual FDA/EMA approved antisens oligonucleotides (AONs) as EXONDYS 51(exon skipping 51) and VYONDYS 53 (exon skipping 53) cover up approximative 10% and 13 % of patient deletion mutation respectively. In order to enlarge the coverage of patient number eligibility up to 63% of patient deletion mutation, the multiple exon skipping (MES) of exons 45 to 55 by antisens oligonucleotides

(AON) and CRISPR-Cas9 therapies are currently in development. Thereby, the nonhomologous end-junction (NHEJ) reframing of *DMD* 45-55 exons in immortalized DMD patient muscle cells (ex.48-50del) lead to successful dystrophin rescue^{21–23}.

In our previous study (Gargaun et al. in underlined the preparation), we have phenotype variability in Becker patients with exon 45-55 deletion (BMD Δ 45-55). Here we report breakpoint analysis by whole genome sequencing (WGS), performed in 19 patients of the BMD Δ 45-55 population and show that the specific breakpoint involves the deletion of the sequences of lncRNA. To go further, we analyzed the presence of lncRNA boarding the DMD 45-55 deletion in 38 BMDA45-55 patients and examined their skeletal muscle expression. The lncRNA 44s and 44s2 expression pattern was studied in skeletal muscle biopsy of control, BMDA45-55 patient. BMDdel3-7 patients and BMD Δ 45-55. Profile of expression of these IncRNA in dystrophic immortalized and primary cells (Myo45-55/Myo45-52) confirmed what was observed the skeletal muscle biopsies. Furthermore, overexpression of the ncRNA44s2 revealed its role in skeletal muscle regeneration mechanism.

Altogether, these results raise the question of the correlation between the favorable clinical phenotype of BMD Δ 45-55 and the lncRNAs in intron 44.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethic statement

This study was reviewed and approved by the French Institutional Review Board. Written consent was obtained for the diagnostic purposes. All participants were assigned deidentified numbers. Diagnosis muscle biopsies were collected from BMD and DMD patients and healthy controls with signed informed consent.

Cell culture

Isolated human primary myoblasts from healthy subject and DMD 45-52 deletion patient were kindly provided by Pr F Muntoni College London, UK). The (King's BMD Δ 45-55 human primary myoblasts were provided by the Dr Streichenberger (HCL Lyon, France). The human immortalized lines (Myo45-52 and WT) were provided by Dr V Mouly, Dr K Mamchaoui and Dr A Bigot (MyoLine facilities Institute of Myology, Paris, France) (Mamchaoui et al, 2011).

For proliferation, both primary and immortalized myoblasts were maintained in skeletal muscle cell growth medium (DMEM supplemented with 5µg/ml of insulin, 5ng/ml of EGF, 0.5ng/ml of bFGF, 0.2 µg/ml of dexamethasone only for immortalized cell lines, 25µg/ml of fetuin, 20% of fetal bovine serum and 16% of medium 199). For differentiation experiments, primary and immortalized myoblasts were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 2% horse serum. Proliferation and differentiation for both primary and immortalized cell lines were supplemented with 50ug/mL of gentamycin.

DNA/RNA purification and analysis

Healthy control and BMD, DMD patient's DNA extraction from diagnostic blood samples were analyzed by DNA kit (Macherey-Nagel). Total RNA of skeletal muscle biopsies and human primary and immortalized myoblasts from a healthy subject (ctrl) and from a DMDdel45-52 patient (DMDdel45-52) and BMDA45-55 patient (DMDdel45-55) extractions were performed using Nucleospin miRNA kit (Macherey-Nagel). Reverse transcription (RT) was performed on 250 ng of mRNA by using the Superscript II and random hexamers (Life Technologies). RT-PCR products were separated by electrophoresis on 3% Agarosis

gel with ethidium bromide. qPCR was performed on OneStep system with SYBR Green/ TaqMan reagent using primers shown in Table 1. Relative expression between proliferating and differentiated myoblasts and transduced and control myoblasts was measured in duplicates with in 4 separate experiences. Statistical significance was analyzed using two-tailed Student's test and ANOVA on GraphPad Prism.

Adeno-associated virus vector (AAV) production and lncRNA overexpression experiments

The lncRNA44s2 cDNA sequence has been cloned in a pSMD2 plasmid (lnc44s2pSMD2) under the control of the strong CMV promoter and a polyA signal (Addgene pSMD2). After the bacterial colony and plasmid amplification, the lnc44s2-pSMD2 was transmitted to the AAV facility (Center of Research, Institute of Myology) for the generation of AAV9- lnc44s2 Serotype 9 AAV vectors were generated using a threeplasmid transfection protocol as described elsewhere(ref). The proliferation and differentiation medium specified were earlier.

For the proliferation experiments, the human immortalized and primary myoblasts from BMD∆45-55 and DMD45-52 control. patients were plated 24 h before transduction (D0) (3.5E+05) in a 24-well plate in proliferation medium. At D1 myoblasts were transduced at MOI (3.0E5) in 300 µl with AAV-nc44s2, AAV-Mock-GFP and transduction medium for the wild type (WT) condition. Cells were counted on the Acova plate and the cell platelet was collected at the third day of proliferation (P3).

For the differentiation experiments, the human immortalized and primary myoblasts from control, BMDA45-55 and DMD45-52 patients were plated 24 h before transduction (D0) (5.0E+05) in a 24-well plate until confluent (approximative at 80% of cell confluence) and then switched to differentiation medium. 80% At of confluence the myoblasts were transduced at MOI (3.0E5) in 300 µl with AAV-nc44s2, AAV-Mock-GFP. In wild type (WT) condition the proliferating medium was changed to differentiation medium at 80% of confluence. Cell platelet was collected at the third day of differentiation (D3).

Immunohistochemistry

Primary and immortalized human myotubes were fixed with Paraformaldehyde 4% 10 min at RT and washed 3 times in PBS. Fixed cells were permeabilized with 0.5%Triton X-100/PBS (Sigma-Aldrich), for 10 min at room temperature and blocked with bovine serum albumin BSA 4% for 45 min at room temperature. Primary hybridoma antibody MF20 (Institute of Myology) were applied overnight at 4°C, washed and visualized with fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibody Donkey anti-goat (Alexafluor 594 conjugate, Life Technologies, 1:500) for 1h at room temperature. Fixed cells were washed in PBS/1% BSA/0.1% saponin and then in PBS for 10 min. Images were analyzed with EVOS microscope using x 10/x20 objective.

Bioinformatic analysis

Whole Genome Sequencing (WGS) was performed in 19 patients by Illumina sequencing. The bioinformatic analysis of each patient in this group was performed by two different bioinformatic tools: VarAFT Annotation and Filter for the variant analyses. VarAFT provided experiments quality, annotation and filtration of VCF files²⁴. The DNA breakpoint analysis, was performed by the BreakDancerMax tool that could predict five types of structural variants: insertions, deletions, inversions, inter- and intrachromosomal translocations. This method allows to treat next-generation short pairedend sequencing reads using read pairs that are mapped with unexpected separation distances

RESULTS

BMDA45-55 patients lncRNA breakpoints

impact in lncRNA sequences

In our previous work we underlined a clinical phenotype variability in the largest cohort of Becker patients (BMD Δ 45-55) and demonstrated the involvement of the miR-708 and miR-34c in the regulation of the nNOS expression and therefore to the pathomechanism of dystrophic muscle of these BMD patients²⁵. The present research raised the question of the regulation

or orientation. The deletion read precision is about +/- 20 base pairs.

mechanisms in the phenotype variability in BMD Δ 45-55 patients. To determine the precise deletion coordinates a Whole Genome sequencing (WGS) analysis was carried out in 19 patients. This analysis was realized using Breakdance software and we have achieved a +/- 20 pair base precision deletion coordinates (Figure 1) and based on WGS determined that each patient displayed a specific deletion breakpoint. We then investigated the impact of the specific breakpoint on the lncRNA sequence presence in the WGS analyzed patients (Table 1).



Figure 1Neo-intron of deleted 45-55 exons in DMD gene. (A) Scheme presentation of the WGS detection of the deletion breakpoint (black boxes) in 19 patients $BMD\Delta 45$ -55. (B) Scheme presentation of the canonic exon 45-55 deletion neo-intron with the lncRNA (colored boxes for lncRNA and arrows to indicate the transcription sense. The exons 1 to 44 and 56to 79 are illustrated in clear red boxes).

	IncRNA genomic sequence					
BMDdel45-55 patients N°	44s	44s2	55s	55as	no IncRNA	DNA profile
1	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
2	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
3	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
4	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
5	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
6	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
7	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
8	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
9	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
10	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
11	1	0	0	0	0	PNNN
12	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
13	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
14	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
15	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
16	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
17	1	0	0	0	0	PNNN
18	1	0	0	0	0	PNNN
19	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
20	1	0	0	0	0	PNNN
21	1	0	0	0	0	PNNN
22	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
23	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
24	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
25	1	0	0	0	0	PNNN
26	1	1	1	0	0	PPPN
27	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
28	1	1	1	1	0	PPPP
29	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
30	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
31	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
32	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
33	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
34	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
35	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
36	1	1	0	0	0	PPNN
37	1	0	0	0	0	PNNN
38	0	0	0	0	1	NNNN

Table 1 IncRNA genomic sequence presence detected by PCR in 38 patients.

Only one BMD Δ 45-55 patient displayed a large deletion that involved all lncRNA sequences (2%), in 7 patients the lncRNA 44s2,55s and 55as were deleted (18%), in 18 patients the deletion breakpoint removed only

the lncRNA localized in intron 55 (47%) and in 11 patients (29%) the deletion conserved all the lncRNAs. Overall, we report a major trend of intron 44lncRNA conservation and a second one conserving all lncRNAs. To further increase the significance of this observation; the breakpoint profiling was completed by the detection of lncRNA sequences boarding the exonic deletion in a total of 38 patients (19 additional BMDdel45-55 patients) on DNA samples extracted form diagnostic blood samples (Table 1). The results revealed two most frequent deletion breakpoints, one is preserving the non-coding sequences localized in the intron 44 and the second one is conserving all the lncRNA both from intron 44 and intron 56. These data highlighted that the lncRNA 44s and 44s2 are spared by the deletion in the majority of the BMD Δ 45-55 patients (n=30, 79%)(Figure2B). Also, despite the increase in the patients number only in one patient all lncRNA sequences were deleted. Analysis of available features of clinical phenotype reveled the trend to less severe clinical phenotype in patients with the conserved lncRNA44s (Figure2C).



Figure 2 lncRNA profile in BMDA45-55 patients (n=38). (A) lncRNA detection by PCR from diagnostic DNA. (B) Scheme presentation of the most frequent lncRNA genomic presence profiles (C) Phenotype correlation with lncRNA(nc) genomic clusters Abbreviations: MBMD =Mild, IBMD=Intermediate, SBMD= Severe Becker muscular dystrophy, ex=exon)

IncRNA expression BMD/DMD patients

skeletal muscle biopsies

IncRNA expression was investigated in skeletal muscle biopsies of 4 BMD (BMD5, 15, 6, 29, 23), 4 DMD patients (del45-50x2, del51, del51-55) and in 3 controls by RT-PCR. Data showed that the IncRNA 44s2 and 55s were poorly expressed in the patient DMDdel51-55 compared to the control, DMDdel51 and DMDdel45-50. (Figure 3). In addition, the IncRNA 55as expression was not detectable in all tested DMD patients and its expression was highly variable in two of the controls (Figure 3 A).

To explore the issue of the lncRNA expression relative variability a quantification by RT-qPCR was performed in additional muscular biopsies :3 BMD Δ 45-55, two BMDdel3-7, one BMDdel3-5 patient and 3 (DMD8=del7-44, DMD patients DMD14=del46-52, DMD7=del48-52) (Figure 3 B). Indeed, to address the question of the potential impact in the spectrin repeat deleted region on the expression of the lncRNA, we selected several BMD patients with different in-frame deletion mutations.

For the DMD patients, the choice of the mutation was influenced by the available muscular biopsies and also by the exon skipping eligibility of the mutations, patient DMDdel7-44 theoretically would be eligible to exon 45 skipping, patient DMDdel46-52 to MES 45-55 and patient DMDdel48-52 to exon skipping 53.

First, the lncRNA expression analysis showed that all the lncRNA were expressed in all control subjects' biopsies. Secondly, the BMD∆45-55 patients had а similar expression level of all lncRNA compared to controls. Interestingly, all BMD Δ 45-55 patients lncRNA expression levels was higher compared to the lncRNA expression in BMDde3-5/3-7 patients. Finally, the lncRNA expression in DMD patients was significantly lower compared to control and BMD Δ 45-55 patients. Altogether, these data underlined a lower expression of lncRNA localized in the intron 44 and 56 in DMD patients. However, in BMDA45-55 patients' biopsies similar expression to control and statistically significantly higher expression compared to BMDdel3-7 patients was observed.

Subjects	Genomic status	lncRNA profile
Control	Healthy controls	PPPP
BMDdel45-55	3 patients del45-55	PPNN
DMD	DMD7-44, DMD46-52, DMD48-52	PPPP
BMD	BMDdel3-7 (n=2), BMDdel3-5 (n=1)	РРРР

Table 2 Genomic profile of control, DMD/BMD patient selected for the expression analysis in muscular biopsies.



IncRNA profile in controls and DMD/BMD patients

Figure 3 lncRNA profile in control and DMD/BMD patients. (A) lncRNA expression assessment by RT-PCR of 4 lncRNA (nc55s2 assessment was designed because of alternative splicing feature of 55s lncRNA). (B) expression assessment of lncRNA in muscular biopsies of control, DMD, BMD patients by RT-qPCR Abbreviations: ctr=control, DMD=Duchenne muscular dystrophy, BMD= Becker muscular dystrophy

Low lncRNA expression during proliferation

in dystrophic human myoblasts

lncRNA expression analysis in patient muscular biopsies pointed out the lncRNA44s2 was less expressed in patients with severe dystrophic condition. Therefore, to address the potential involvement of the lncRNA44s2 in the dystrophic process, we took advantage on having immortalized cell lines from healthy subject (WT-I) and DMDdel45-52 (Myo45-52-I) patients. First, presence of the lncRNA sequences was investigated at the genomic level in these two cell lines and in a muscular biopsy (healthy control). All of the lncRNA sequences were found complete in DNA of both, cellular lines and muscular biopsies. Expression of these lncRNA was then investigated by RT-PCR.

Data revealed the expression of all lncRNAs in WT-I myoblasts and the missing lncRNA44s2 and 55as expression in Myo45-52-I cells (Figure 4A).

The profile of the lncRNA expression was then addressed during the proliferation process. First, a comparative analysis of the proliferation rate of the two immortalized cell lines was performed and showed a statistically significant higher rate of Myo45-52-I cells proliferation compared to WT-I myoblasts (Figure 4B). Then, lncRNA expression investigated during was proliferation and the results revealed a significantly weaker expression of all IncRNA in Myo45-52-I compared to control WT-I myoblasts (Figure 4C right).



Figure 4 lncRNA genomic profile and expression assessment in human myoblasts. (A) DNA and RNA profiling in muscular biopsy from healthy control (ctr) and immortalized human myoblasts from healthy control and DMDdel45-52 deletion patient (Myo45-52-I). (B) Proliferation assessment at different timelines (day 0-to day 3/P0-P3) in human immortalized and primary human myoblasts from healthy control, BMDA45-55 (Myo45-55) and DMD45-52 patients. Proliferative rate is illustrated in a growth chart for each cell line. (C) lncRNA expression profile during proliferation (left) in human primary and (right) in immortalized myoblasts (D) lncRNA expression profile during differentiation (left) in human primary and (right) in immortalized myoblasts (black columns illustrate nc44s, red columns=nc44s2, green columns=nc55s, violet columns=nc55as) were analyzed by RT-qPCR.

In addition, the genomic lncRNA sequences investigated in primary human were myoblasts of control, BMDA45-55(Myo45-55) and DMDdel45-52(Myo45-52) patients. First, proliferation rate was shown to be significantly higher in Myo45-55 cells compared to WT and Myo45-52 (Figure 4B). Consequently, during proliferation the expression profile in Myo45-55 and Myo45-52 of all lncRNA of interest displayed a significantly lower expression compared to control myoblasts (Figure 4Cleft). Interestingly there is no difference between the lncRNA 44s/44s2 expression level between the Myo45-52 and Myo45-55 at day 3 of proliferation (Figure 4C left).

In conclusion, lncRNA expression analysis at three days of proliferation in both, immortalized and primary cell lines identified a significantly lower level of expression in dystrophic cell lines compared to control. Proliferation rate experiments identified higher rate of proliferation in dystrophic myoblasts in both cell lines. Compared to control, Myo45-55 myoblasts displayed the highest rate of proliferation in primary cell lines and Myo45-52 in immortalized cell lines.

Low lncRNA expression during

differentiation in human myoblasts

The differentiation capacity of the myoblasts was evaluated by the fusion index calculated at 3 days of differentiation (myotubes nuclei count/total nuclei number in at least three representative images). This index revealed significantly lower differentiation of Myo45-52-I compared to WT-I myoblasts. As expected, Myo45-52-I illustrated a lower number of myotubes compared to WT-I immortalized myoblasts. In primary myoblasts, the fusion index in Myo45-55 showed significantly higher differentiation compared to WT (fusion index = 0.6) and Myo45-52 (fusion index = 0.3) (Figure 4C).

The lncRNA expression was investigated at 3 days of differentiation in immortalized myoblasts and showed a trend to higher expression in WT-I compared to Myo45-52-I cells but we could not demonstrate a significant difference between the conditions due to high cellular variability (Figure 4D

Furthermore, right). at 3 days of differentiation the expression of lncRNA 44s in Myo45-55 and Myo45-52 reached a similar level of fold change expression to respectively). The nc44s and 44s2 have approximately 4 times higher expression compared to proliferation assessment (Figure 4D left). lncRNA 55s and 55as were absent in Myo45-55 during proliferation and differentiation assessments reflecting the genomic deletion pattern.

Based on the results of lncRNA expression investigations in skeletal muscle biopsies and according to the expression profile of the lncRNA in human myoblasts, the lncRNA 44s2 was selected as candidate for the lncRNA mechanism study during myogenesis. control (fold change at 1.2) and for Myo45-55 and Myo45-52 reached a significantly higher level than control (1.2 and 1.0

IncRNA from intron44 and 55 were described as downregulating the full-length mRNA dystrophin expression in in vitro experiments and DMD female carriers (Bovolenta et al). Thus, we analyzed the mRNA level of dystrophin expression by RT-qPCR, during proliferation and differentiation. DMD myoblasts do not express dystrophin protein and already at 3 days of differentiation Myo45-52 and Myo45-55 human primary myoblasts expressed significantly lower dystrophin transcripts compared to WT.

Interestingly, as depicted in Figure 5, we undergone nc44s2 Over Expression (OE) experiment in the same cell lines. At 3 days of proliferation, in Myo45-52 significantly lower dystrophin mRNA expression was reported between OE nc44s2 condition (AAV9nc44s2) and control. Surprisingly the dystrophin mRNA expression in Myo45-52 was higher compared to control condition. However, similar trend was observed at 3 days of differentiation in Myo45-52 condition and control myoblasts. From reported results we could not confirm the downregulation of dystrophin mRNA at three days of differentiation (Figure 5).



Figure 5 mRNA dystrophin expression assessment. (A) mRNA dystrophin expression assessment by RT-qPCR Taqman at three days of proliferation reveals similar level of expression in human primary myoblasts (ctr, Myo45-55, Myo45-52). As expected, we reveal significant difference of mRNA dystrophin expression between ctr and Myo45-55, Myo45-52 at three days of differentiation (B) mRNA dystrophin expression is illustrated in OEnc44s2 experiment in the same cell lines at three days of proliferation and differentiation. We report significant difference between ctr and OEnc44s2 condition (AAV9nc44s2) but surprisingly the expression in control condition in Myo45-52 is the highest compared to ctr and Myo45-52 in opposite to expression profile illustrated above. However, similar trend is observed at 3 days of differentiation in Myo45-52 condition and Ctr myoblasts.

Abbreviations: ctr=control, Myo45-55=myoblasts issued from $BMD\Delta 45-55$ patients and Myo45-52=myoblasts issued from a DMDdel45-52 patient.

IncRNA44s2 accelerates the differentiation in

human primary myoblasts

The phenotype correlation in BMD Δ 45-55 patients with the lncRNA genomic presence profile underlined the lncRNA 44s and 44s2 as two candidates of phenotype variability actors. In primary myoblasts issued from control, BMDA45-55 and DMDdel45-55 patients an increase of lncRNA44s and 44s2 expression at 3 days of differentiation was observed. Based on reported results, the lncRNA44s2 was selected to assess its role during myogenesis. To do so, the lnc44s2 sequence was over-expressed (OE) in WT, Myo45-55 and Myo45-52 myoblasts using an AAV9 vector (AAV9-nc44s2) (Figure 6A). The transduction efficiency at three days of proliferation was estimated at 60% in Myo45-55 and 45% in Myo45-52 and WT cell lines (cell count of GFP+ myoblasts/ total number of myoblasts in 3 images) (Supplementary Data Figure 2A). The lnc44s2 OE was

analyzed by RT-qPCR and data confirmed a significantly higher expression of lnc44s2 in all three cell types (Supplementary data Figure2B). The lncRNA44s2 OE induced a decrease of proliferation rate in all three cell AAV9-nc44s2 lines between treated condition compared to AAV9-control (Figure 6B). In order to determine the regulatory role of lncRNA 44s2 during proliferation myomarkers expression was investigated at 3 days of proliferation. IncRNA expression profile did not change during proliferation thus, as expected, the Myf5 expression was not significantly different between control and OEnc44s2 condition (Figure 6C). However, the expression of MyoD was significantly increased in the treated AAV9nc44s2 condition compared to AAV9-control in the Myo45-55 cell line. Despite a similar trend with the increase in the MyoD expression fold change from 0.6 compared to 0.8 in AAV9-control in the WT we did not reach statistical significance (Figure 6C).



19

Figure 6 nc44s2 OE study during myogenesis in human primary myoblasts. (A) Experimental protocol, 3 cell lines were transduced via AAV9 vector with nc44s2 during proliferation (platting day 0, transduction at day 1(P1) and platelet harvest at day 3 (P3), for the differentiation experiment, cells were platted at day 0 and transduced at 80% of confluence, platelet harvest at day 3 (D3) (B) Growth charts depicting the proliferation rate in three cell lines, red color illustrates the AAV9 control condition, green the AAV9nc44s2 (statistically significant decrease in Myo45-55 myotubes) (C) MyoD and Myf5 expression assessment at proliferation day three (significant increase in MyoD expression in Myo45-55 p=0.02 by two-way ANOVA) (D) MyHCIIb and MyoD expression at 3 days of differentiation (significant increase in Myo45-55 of MyHCIIb, p=0.03 by two-way ANOVA) (E) Immunofluorescence experiment illustrating the myotubes at 3 days of differentiation in three cell lines, blue=DAPI, green = MF20, DAPI/MF20 visualizes at X10 magnification followed by fusion index evaluation (statistical increase in myotubes in Myo45-55/52).

In order to determine the regulatory role of lncRNA 44s2 during proliferation myomarkers expression was investigated at 3 days of proliferation. lncRNA profile did not change during proliferation thus, as expected, the Myf5 expression was not significantly different between control and OEnc44s2 condition (Figure 6C). However, the expression of MyoD was significantly increased in the treated AAV9-nc44s2 condition compared to AAV9-control in the Myo45-55 cell line. Despite a similar trend with the increase in the MyoD expression fold change from 0.6 compared to 0.8 in AAV9control in the WT myoblasts we did not reach statistical significance (Figure 5B).

These findings suggested the lnc44s2 involvement during the differentiation and lead us to study its potential regulatory role at three days of differentiation. First, we confirmed an efficient transduction in all cell lines, the GFP+/total myoblasts count estimated a 50% rate of transduction in Myo45-55 myoblasts, 30% in control and 50% in Myo45-52 (Supplementary data Figure 2B). The lnc44s2 OE was analyzed by RT-qPCR (Supplementary data Figure 2C). Surprisingly, we did not reach significant increase in the fold change of the IncRNA44s2 OE condition in WT and Myo45-52 cell lines at three days of differentiation despite a similar trend to the increase with 4- and 6-fold change in the IncRNA44s2 expression respectively (Figure 5C). Then, we analyzed the expression of a late differentiation myomarker, the Myosin Heavy Chain (MHC) by RT-qPCR and underlined a significant increase in the fold change of AAV9-nc44s2 condition compared to AAV9-control in the Myo45-55 and WT cell line at three days of differentiation (Figure 6D). In addition, the fusion index analysis at the same timepoint revealed a significant increase in myotubes, thus a statistically significant increased differentiation rate in Myo45-55 and Myo4552 AAV9-nc44s2 condition compared to AAV9-control (Figure 6E and D).

Altogether, based on the decrease of proliferation rate in treated conditions in all three cell lines, the increase of differentiation

DISCUSSIONS

In this translational study we address the question of the role of lncRNA in the BMD phenotype variability based on clinical phenotype characterization, in silico analysis of BMD Δ 45-55 patients and in vitro experiments. We selected 4 lncRNA boarding the in-frame exons 45 to 55 deletion mutation in the DMD gene of BMD Δ 45-55 patients. In a previous report we have described the favorable clinical phenotype characterization of the largest cohort of BMDA45-55 patients(n=50) according to a Clinical Severity Scale (CSS). Here we present in silico analysis of the breakpoint of the deletion (+-20pb) in 19 patients BMD Δ 45-55 based on whole genome sequencing data (WGS).

Miyazaki et al. have studied the deletion breakpoint in three BMD Δ 45-55 patients and identified specific breakpoints to each patient but did not identify any significant homology between the distant and proximal myomarkers expression at three days of differentiation and in addition the increase of fusion index in treated condition in Myo45-55 demonstrate the role of lncRNA44s2 during the differentiation process.

sequences²⁶. In this report, the WGS analysis of 19 patients reveal that family cases (n=3) have similar breakpoint and that there are two most frequent breakpoint sites (+-20pb). Interestingly only one patient had a very large deletion of 200 kb. This particular feature of the intron 44 and 55 are probably explained by the large size of the introns²⁷. Also, several previous works have identified a deletion hotspot in *DMD* gene involving exons 45- $55^{19,20,26,28}$.

We completed this initial data with the profile of the genomic presence of the 4 lncRNA in a total number of 38 patients (Table 1). In this study we identified that 19 patients have a specific breakpoint that preserves the lncRNA sequences localized in the introns 44, 11 patients preserve all lncRNA sequences, 7 patients have only lncRNA 44s and one patient have no lncRNA sequences (Figure 1). Also, we highlighted that there are two most frequent clusters of the lncRNA presence, one preserving the lncRNA from intron 44 and the second preserving all lncRNA.

Interestingly, we identified a correlation of favorable mild CSS skeletal muscle phenotype and unique presence of lncRNA44s on genomic level (n=7). The CSS severity scale of the skeletal muscle phenotype confirmed the exclusive BMD phenotype in the specific BMD Δ 45-55 cohort and reveled the slowly progressive evolution of the muscular dystrophy. Therefore, we analyzed the clinical phenotype in 7 patients from the cluster with unique lncRNA44s and identified that with a mean age at 37+-20 years. It appears that for these patients there are high chances to remain in a mild CSS type as their severity type was assessed at similar age when supposed to reach the intermediate CSS type (mean at 37+-19 y.o). In the cluster with lncRNA44s and 44s2 the patient mean age is 39+-19 and the only severe CSS patient who lost ambulation at 72 y.o. had a milder deficit in the upper limb and was autonomous for the wheelchair transfers. Altogether this information, suggest a trend to less severe phenotype in patients who preserve the lncRNA localized in intron 44. Also, the expression levels of lncRNA 44s and 44s2 were at similar levels between control and BMD Δ 45-55 muscular biopsies (n=3) but in contrary, had significantly poor expression in

BMDdel3-7(n=2- del3-5 (n=1) and DMD patients (n=3) compared suggesting a positive correlation with the less severe phenotype. The age of the collected skeletal muscle biopsy was at 38 and 58 for the BMD Δ 45-55 patients it was not documented for the last one.

Concomitantly, in vitro study of lnc44s2 overexpression in human primary myoblasts of control, Myo45-55 (BMD45-55 patient) and Myo45-52 (DMD 45-52 patient) revealed its role in the differentiation acceleration. Indeed, literature data point out the role of lncRNA in the regulation of the cellular proliferation and differentiation processes^{12,13}. It is well known that quiescent satellite cells express Pax7 and that myogenesis is initiated by the mitosis activation and followed by the activation of the myogenic transcription factors like *MyoD*, *Myogenin*, *Myf5* and *Desmin*^{6,8,29,30}.

Recent literature data report Linc-MD1 as specifically activated during differentiation in $cells^{31-33}$. myoblasts satellite and Interestingly, Linc-MD1 is expressed in newly regenerating fiber and is abundant in dystrophic condition similar to our results of the lncRNA 44s, 44s2 and 55s.55as expression profiling in human primary and Myo45-55 immortalized myoblasts (BMD Δ 45-55 patient). Upstream of the

MyoD locus is localized the MUNC lncRNA (MyoD upstream noncoding) which initiate transcription in the DRR (distal regulatory region) RNA locus^{34,35}. Overexpression and downregulation experiments of MUNC in myoblasts result in the increase/decrease of *Myogenin, MyH3*. In a similar way, based on our findings lncRNA 44s2 increase the *MyoD* expression at three days of proliferation suggesting a differentiation determination. Following, the myosin heavy chain (MyHC) increase at three days of differentiation confirming the late differentiation process.

Bovolenta et al. reported the downregulation of a luciferase reporter construct carrying the minimal promoter region of the muscle dystrophin isoform by the overexpression of IncRNA from intron 44 and 55 in human rhabdomyosarcoma and neuronal cells³⁶. Interestingly, previous report detected a significant difference in the dystrophin protein quantification which varied from 50 to 80% in BMD Δ 45-55 patients³⁷. Anthony et al. underlined in their study based on various DMD mutations, including del45-55 patients (n=4) not only a variability in the BMD population but generally positive а correlation of dystrophin protein expression with clinical severity. The BMDel45-55 patients from this English cohort had a range of 60 to 90% of dystrophin protein WB

quantification. In addition, the clinical classification was mild for all four of them despite the presence in two patients of skeletal muscle deficit (patient 10 and $11)^{38}$. From the previous study on phenotypic and genotypic characterization we reported a of WB negative correlation relative dystrophin quantification with the age at the diagnosis in BMDA45-55 with positive skeletal muscle deficit suggesting that there are additional factors than dystrophin that are involved in triggering the functional deficit.

The therapeutic dogma is to transform severe phenotype, DMD patients into milder BMD patients^{39,40}. Actual AONs approved therapies are limited to one exon skipping. To improve that, ongoing preclinical effort is to perform multi-exon skipping^{27,28,41,42}. The complete multi-exon skipping with а combination treatment of up to 10 oligonucleotides of the large deleted exon 45-55 BMD patients revealed significant technical and practical hurdles to develop this type of therapy^{18,20,39,43}. In contrary to the selective limited number DMD patients and continuously life-time administrate OAN therapy, genome editing has the ability to make permanent changes to the DMD gene sequence^{23,44,45}. Ousterout et al. demonstrated the efficacity and feasibility of a gene editing strategy to restore the dystrophin reading frame by targeting the mutational hotspot at exons45-55 in skeletal muscle myoblasts from DMD patients²¹. In a different study, Young et al successfully corrected three DMD hiPSC lines that required ~530kb, 670kb, 725kb NHEJ of the DMD gene. In addition, the localization of sgRNA did not preserve any of lncRNA sequences localized in intron 44 and 55 and were localized approximately 500bp close to the exon 44 and exon 56 respectively in order to assure a small but functionally generated new intron and perform an NHEJ of up to 725kb^{46,47}. Interestingly, compared to our results, we have identified only one patient with a similar very large spontaneous DMD gene deletion. As the therapeutic relevance of the MES45-55 could be deduced from the clinical status of BMD∆45-55 patients carrying spontaneous deletion, we suggest to follow the reported breakpoints during the design of chimeric introns by MES.

These results of in vitro study in human primary myoblasts from BMD∆45-55 patients suggests that the lncRNA sequences localized in intron 44 and 55 could be interpreted as an indicator of the regeneration. We hypothesize that the rescue myogenesis regulated by lncRNA in dystrophic muscles will at first compensate the dystrophy. The lncRNA expression in the BMD Δ 45-55 patients is similar to a control subject, representing an early stage of the muscular dystrophy disease. With the progression of the disease, the dystrophic process will stress out the proliferation and differentiation equilibrium and the lncRNA will no longer be expressed, as seen in DMD patients muscular biopsies. Based on this data, the expression of lncRNA 44s2 can then be associated with a favorable outcome reflecting the regeneration process during which it is expressed.



Figure 7 lncRNA role during regeneration in dystrophic skeletal muscle

On the other hand, the downregulatory role of these lncRNA on the dystrophin mRNA pointed out by Bovolenta et al. may be triggered at early stage of the disease by the dystrophin protein presence; the progressive loss of this protein would then lead to the downregulation the lncRNA expression. The advancement of the dystrophy with the exhaustion of the pool of skeletal muscle stem cells could potentially explain the lack of expression of lncRNA 44s and 44s2 in DMD skeletal muscle biopsies. Overall, these findings suggest that lncRNA 44s2 is involved in muscle differentiation process and could be a potential disease progression biomarker.

REFERENCES:

- 1. Béroud, C. *et al.* Multiexon skipping leading to an artificial DMD protein lacking amino acids from exons 45 through 55 could rescue up to 63% of patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Hum Mutat* **28**, 196–202 (2007).
- 2. Tajbakhsh, S. Stem cells to tissue: molecular, cellular and anatomical heterogeneity in skeletal muscle. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* **13**, 413–422 (2003).
- Tajbakhsh, S. Skeletal muscle stem and progenitor cells: reconciling genetics and lineage. *Exp Cell Res* 306, 364–372 (2005).
- Tajbakhsh, S., Rocancourt, D., Cossu, G. & Buckingham, M. Redefining the genetic hierarchies controlling skeletal myogenesis: Pax-3 and Myf-5 act upstream of MyoD. *Cell* 89, 127–138 (1997).
- 5. Tajbakhsh, S. Skeletal muscle stem cells in developmental versus regenerative myogenesis. *J Intern Med* **266**, 372–389 (2009).
- Relaix, F., Rocancourt, D., Mansouri, A. & Buckingham, M. A Pax3/Pax7dependent population of skeletal muscle progenitor cells. *Nature* 435, 948–953 (2005).
- Relaix, F. Skeletal muscle progenitor cells: from embryo to adult. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 63, 1221–1225 (2006).
- Bentzinger, C. F., Wang, Y. X. & Rudnicki, M. A. Building Muscle: Molecular Regulation of Myogenesis. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* 4, (2012).
- Kuang, S., Kuroda, K., Le Grand, F. & Rudnicki, M. A. Asymmetric selfrenewal and commitment of satellite stem cells in muscle. *Cell* 129, 999– 1010 (2007).

- Cheng, J.-T. *et al.* Insights into Biological Role of LncRNAs in Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. *Cells* 8, 1178 (2019).
- Chen, C., Tang, Y., Sun, H., Lin, X. & Jiang, B. The roles of long noncoding RNAs in myocardial pathophysiology. *Biosci Rep* 39, (2019).
- Ballarino, M., Morlando, M., Fatica, A. & Bozzoni, I. Non-coding RNAs in muscle differentiation and musculoskeletal disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* 126, 2021–2030 (2016).
- Martone, J., Mariani, D., Desideri, F. & Ballarino, M. Non-coding RNAs Shaping Muscle. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 7, (2020).
- Arrigoni, A. *et al.* Analysis RNA-seq and Noncoding RNA. *Methods Mol Biol* 1480, 125–135 (2016).
- Giraldez, M. D. *et al.* Phospho-RNA-seq: a modified small RNA-seq method that reveals circulating mRNA and lncRNA fragments as potential biomarkers in human plasma. *EMBO J* 38, (2019).
- Bushby, K. *et al.* Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 1: diagnosis, and pharmacological and psychosocial management. *Lancet Neurol* 9, 77–93 (2010).
- 17. Aartsma-Rus, A., Van Deutekom, J. C. T., Fokkema, I. F., Van Ommen, G.-J. B. & Den Dunnen, J. T. Entries in the Leiden Duchenne muscular dystrophy mutation database: an overview of mutation types and paradoxical cases that confirm the reading-frame rule. *Muscle Nerve* 34, 135–144 (2006).
- Hwang, J. & Yokota, T. Recent advancements in exon-skipping therapies using antisense oligonucleotides and genome editing for the treatment of various muscular dystrophies. *Expert Rev Mol Med* 21, e5 (2019).

- Niks, E. H. & Aartsma-Rus, A. Exon skipping: a first in class strategy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Expert Opin Biol Ther* 17, 225–236 (2017).
- Echigoya, Y., Lim, K. R. Q., Nakamura, A. & Yokota, T. Multiple Exon Skipping in the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Hot Spots: Prospects and Challenges. J Pers Med 8, (2018).
- Ousterout, D. G. *et al.* Multiplex CRISPR/Cas9-Based Genome Editing for Correction of Dystrophin Mutations that Cause Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Nat Commun* 6, 6244 (2015).
- Nelson, C. E. *et al.* In vivo genome editing improves muscle function in a mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Science* 351, 403–407 (2016).
- Long, C. *et al.* Postnatal genome editing partially restores dystrophin expression in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. *Science* 351, 400–403 (2016).
- Desvignes, J.-P. *et al.* VarAFT: a variant annotation and filtration system for human next generation sequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Res* 46, W545–W553 (2018).
- 25. Guilbaud, M. *et al.* miR-708-5p and miR-34c-5p are involved in nNOS regulation in dystrophic context. *Skeletal Muscle* **8**, (2018).
- Miyazaki, D. *et al.* Characterization of deletion breakpoints in patients with dystrophinopathy carrying a deletion of exons 45-55 of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) gene. *J Hum Genet* 54, 127–130 (2009).
- Aoki, Y., Yokota, T. & Wood, M. J. A. Development of multiexon skipping antisense oligonucleotide therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Biomed Res Int* 2013, 402369 (2013).
- Suzuki, H. *et al.* Endogenous Multiple Exon Skipping and Back-Splicing at the DMD Mutation Hotspot. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 17, 1722 (2016).

- Rudnicki, M. A. *et al.* MyoD or Myf-5 is required for the formation of skeletal muscle. *Cell* 75, 1351–1359 (1993).
- Forcina, L., Cosentino, M. & Musarò, A. Mechanisms Regulating Muscle Regeneration: Insights into the Interrelated and Time-Dependent Phases of Tissue Healing. *Cells* 9, (2020).
- Legnini, I., Morlando, M., Mangiavacchi, A., Fatica, A. & Bozzoni, I. A Feedforward Regulatory Loop between HuR and the Long Noncoding RNA linc-MD1 Controls Early Phases of Myogenesis. *Mol Cell* 53, 506–514 (2014).
- Cesana, M. *et al.* A Long Noncoding RNA Controls Muscle Differentiation by Functioning as a Competing Endogenous RNA. *Cell* 147, 358–369 (2011).
- Hitachi, K. *et al.* Expression Levels of Long Non-Coding RNAs Change in Models of Altered Muscle Activity and Muscle Mass. *Int J Mol Sci* 21, (2020).
- 34. Cichewicz, M. A. *et al.* MUNC, an Enhancer RNA Upstream from the MYOD Gene, Induces a Subgroup of Myogenic Transcripts in trans Independently of MyoD. *Mol Cell Biol* 38, (2018).
- Mueller, A. C. *et al.* MUNC, a long noncoding RNA that facilitates the function of MyoD in skeletal myogenesis. *Mol Cell Biol* 35, 498–513 (2015).
- Bovolenta, M. *et al.* The DMD locus harbours multiple long non-coding RNAs which orchestrate and control transcription of muscle dystrophin mRNA isoforms. *PLoS ONE* 7, e45328 (2012).
- 37. Gentil, C. *et al.* Dystrophin Threshold Level Necessary for Normalization of Neuronal Nitric Oxide Synthase, Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase, and Ryanodine Receptor-Calcium Release Channel Type 1 Nitrosylation in Golden

Retriever Muscular Dystrophy Dystrophinopathy. *Hum. Gene Ther.* **27**, 712–726 (2016).

- Anthony, K. *et al.* Dystrophin quantification and clinical correlations in Becker muscular dystrophy: implications for clinical trials. *Brain* 134, 3547–3559 (2011).
- Verhaart, I. E. C. & Aartsma-Rus, A. Therapeutic developments for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Nat Rev Neurol* 15, 373–386 (2019).
- England, S. B. *et al.* Very mild muscular dystrophy associated with the deletion of 46% of dystrophin. *Nature* 343, 180–182 (1990).
- Aartsma-Rus, A. & van Ommen, G.-J. B. Antisense-mediated exon skipping: A versatile tool with therapeutic and research applications. *RNA* 13, 1609– 1624 (2007).
- Aoki, Y. *et al.* Bodywide skipping of exons 45–55 in dystrophic mdx52 mice by systemic antisense delivery. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109, 13763–13768 (2012).
- 43. Cordova, G., Negroni, E., Cabello-Verrugio, C., Mouly, V. & Trollet, C.

Combined Therapies for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy to Optimize Treatment Efficacy. *Front. Genet.* **9**, 114 (2018).

- 44. Lim, K. R. Q., Yoon, C. & Yokota, T. Applications of CRISPR/Cas9 for the Treatment of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Journal of Personalized Medicine* 8, 38 (2018).
- 45. Amoasii, L. *et al.* Gene editing restores dystrophin expression in a canine model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Science* **362**, 86–91 (2018).
- 46. Young, C. S. *et al.* A single CRISPR-Cas9 deletion strategy that targets the majority of DMD patients restores dystrophin function in hiPSC-derived muscle cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 18, 533–540 (2016).
- 47. Young, C. S., Mokhonova, E., Quinonez, M., Pyle, A. D. & Spencer, M. J. Creation of a Novel Humanized Dystrophic Mouse Model of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy and Application of a CRISPR/Cas9 Gene Editing Therapy. *J Neuromuscul Dis* 4, 139–145 (2017).

Supplementary data



С			WG	S				Bl	REAKPC	DINT – DI	NA PCR	
	patient WGS	44s	44s2	55s	55AS	patient WGS	44s	44s2	55s	55 s2	55AS	patient WGS
	BOOHOJT	Р	Р	N	PN	BOOHOJT	Р	Р	N	N	N	BOOHOJT
	BOOHOJU	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOJU	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOJU
	BOOHOJV	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOJV	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOJV
	BOOHOJW	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOJW	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOJW
	BOOHOJY	Р	Р	N	PN	BOOHOJY	Р	Р	N	N	N	BOOHOJY
	BOOHOJZ	Р	Р	N	N	BOOHOJZ	Р	Р	N	N	N	BOOHOJZ
	BOOHOK0	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOK0	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOK0
	BOOHOK1	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOK1	Р	Р	Р	Р	N	BOOHOK1
	BOOHOK2	Р	Р	N	PN	BOOHOK2	Р	Р	N	N	N	BOOHOK2
	BOOHOK3	Р	Р	N	PN	BOOHOK3	Р	Р	N	N	N	BOOHOK3
	BOOHOK4	Р	Р	N	PN	BOOHOK4	Р	Р	N	N	N	BOOHOK4
	BOOHOK5	Р	N	N	N	BOOHOK5	Р	N	N	N	N	BOOHOK5
	BOOHOK6	Р	Р	N	N	BOOHOK6	Р	Р	N	N	N	BOOHOK6
	BOOHOK7	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOK7	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOK7
	BOOHOK8	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOK8	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	BOOHOK8
	BOOHOK9	Р	Р	N	N	BOOHOK9	Р	Р	N	N	N	BOOHOK9
	BOOHOKA	N	N	N	PN	BOOHOKA	N	N	N	N	N	BOOHOKA
	BOOHOKB	Р	N	N	PN	BOOHOKB	Р	N	N	N	N	BOOHOKB



Figure 8 Supplementary data (A) Proliferation (B) Differentiation OEAAV9nc44s2 experiment (C) WGS in 19 patients and PCR validation of lncRNA intron 44 and 55 (D) Blast of lncRNA 55as primers

ARTICLE 3

Context:

During my first year of PhD I have participated to the study of miR-708 et miR-34 in the nNOS regulation in dystrophic process and I report the published article entitled:" miR-708-5p and miR-34c-5p are involved in nNOS regulation in dystrophic context".

Abstract:

Our group previously revealed a decrease of nNOS expression in BMD patients (BMDdel45-55) all presenting a deletion of exons 45 to 55 in *DMD* gene, impacting the nNOS binding site of Dystrophin. Moreover, the degree of severity in the phenotype of these patients was correlated with the delocalization of nNOS into cytoplasm of fibers. Here, we screened the expression of 617 miRNAs in muscular biopsies of control subjects and BMDdel45-55 patients using TLDA. Four miRNAs were selected for their overexpression in BMDdel45-55 patients compared to controls and because they potentially could target the nNOS-3'UTR.

Project contribution:

I have transfected with antimiR-708 and antimiR-34 DMDdel45-55 and control myoblasts and studied resulting nNOS expression by RT-qPCR. In consequence, nNOS expression was higher in transfected conditions compared to control.

For this study, I have performed RNA extraction and RT, RT-qPCR experiments. Also, I have participated to the results interpretation and article revision.

These experiments allowed to reveal nNOS expression regulation by miR-708 and miR-34 in human immortalized myoblasts.

RESEARCH

Skeletal Muscle



(CrossMark

miR-708-5p and miR-34c-5p are involved in nNOS regulation in dystrophic context

Marine Guilbaud¹, Christel Gentil¹, Cécile Peccate¹, Elena Gargaun¹, Isabelle Holtzmann¹, Carole Gruszczynski¹, Sestina Falcone¹, Kamel Mamchaoui¹, Rabah Ben Yaou^{1,2}, France Leturcq³, Laurence Jeanson-Leh⁴ and France Piétri-Rouxel^{1*}

Abstract

Background: Duchenne (DMD) and Becker (BMD) muscular dystrophies are caused by mutations in the *DMD* gene coding for dystrophin, a protein being part of a large sarcolemmal protein scaffold that includes the neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS). The nNOS was shown to play critical roles in a variety of muscle functions and alterations of its expression and location in dystrophic muscle fiber leads to an increase of the muscle fatigability. We previously revealed a decrease of nNOS expression in BMD patients all presenting a deletion of exons 45 to 55 in the *DMD* gene (BMDd45-55), impacting the nNOS binding site of dystrophin. Since several studies showed deregulation of microRNAs (miRNAs) in dystrophinopathies, we focused on miRNAs that could target nNOS in dystrophic context.

Methods: By a screening of 617 miRNAs in BMDd45-55 muscular biopsies using TLDA and an in silico study to determine which one could target nNOS, we selected four miRNAs. In order to select those that targeted a sequence of 3'UTR of *NOS1*, we performed luciferase gene reporter assay in HEK393T cells. Finally, expression of candidate miRNAs was modulated in control and DMD human myoblasts (DMDd45-52) to study their ability to target nNOS.

Results: TLDA assay and the in silico study allowed us to select four miRNAs overexpressed in muscle biopsies of BMDd45-55 compared to controls. Among them, only the overexpression of miR-31, miR-708, and miR-34c led to a decrease of luciferase activity in an *NOS1-3*'UTR-luciferase assay, confirming their interaction with the *NOS1-3*' UTR. The effect of these three miRNAs was investigated on control and DMDd45-52 myoblasts. First, we showed a decrease of nNOS expression when miR-708 or miR-34c were overexpressed in control myoblasts. We then confirmed that DMDd45-52 cells displayed an endogenous increased of miR-31, miR-708, and miR-34c and a decrease of nNOS expression, the same characteristics observed in BMDd45-55 biopsies. In DMDd45-52 cells, we demonstrated that the inhibition of miR-708 and miR-34c increased nNOS expression, confirming that both miRNAs can modulate nNOS expression in human myoblasts.

Conclusion: These results strongly suggest that miR-708 and miR-34c, overexpressed in dystrophic context, are new actors involved in the regulation of nNOS expression in dystrophic muscle.

Keywords: Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD), Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD), miRNA, nNOS

* Correspondence: france.pietri-rouxel@upmc.fr

¹Sorbonne Université-UMRS974-Inserm-Institut de Myologie, 105 bd de l'Hôpital, 75013 Paris, France

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© The Author(s). 2018 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

Background

Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) is a progressive and fatal X-linked neuromuscular disorder caused by mutations in dystrophin gene (DMD) [1, 2]. The disease is due to mutations that disrupt the translational reading frame, leading to the loss of the protein dystrophin expression. Mutations in the DMD gene that preserve the open reading frame allow the production of an abnormal truncated dystrophin still retaining some functional capacity, leading to a milder muscle disease (Becker muscular dystrophy or BMD) [3, 4]. This feature is the rationale of exon skipping therapy and genome editing strategies now in development [5-7]. The principle of these approaches is to delete one or multiple exons in order to obtain the production of a truncated dystrophin, inducing a phenotypic conversion of DMD into BMD. To apply these strategies to a larger number of eligible patients, the skipping of exons 45 to 55 of the DMD gene has been proposed since that could correct the reading frame in about 63% of DMD patients with deletions [8, 9]. Given the perspective of this approach, the therapeutic relevance of the resulting 45-55 truncated dystrophin may be deduced from the clinical status of BMD patients carrying spontaneous deletion of exons 45 to 55 of the DMD gene (BMDd45-55). Likewise, molecular investigations of factors involved in pathophysiological process occurring in muscle of these patients are of great interest.

Dystrophin is a 427-kDa protein that links the cytoskeleton to sarcolemma via the dystrophin-associated protein complex (DAPC) [10]. DAPC provides stability and integrity to the muscle membrane during contraction. The loss of dystrophin leads to a breakdown of the DAPC complex, and as consequences, the muscle fibers become more sensitive to mechanical stresses, leading to muscle degeneration, chronic inflammation, or increased fibrosis [11, 12]. Among the partners of the dystrophin, the neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS), that synthesizes nitric oxide (NO) , was shown to play critical roles in a variety of muscle functions, including not only contraction, regeneration, atrophy, glucose uptake, and blood perfusion [13] but also transcriptional regulation [14]. Indeed, NOS enzymatic activity was recently demonstrated as essential for the rescue of muscle mass after atrophy induced by unloading [15], as well as in reducing the extent of atrophy during disease [16], and these effects were mostly assigned to activation of muscle stem cells by the NO production. Three different isoforms of nNOS, namely nNOSa, nNOSB, and nNOSµ, were described to be expressed in the skeletal muscle. The nNOSµ, the major one, contains a PDZ domain which allows its binding to the rod domain of the dystrophin at the spectrin-like repeats 16 and 17 (R16/17) encoded by exons 42-45 [17]. It has been shown that in the absence of dystrophin, nNOSµ was delocalized from the sarcolemma of the muscular fibers and its expression decreased [18, 19]. Alteration of nNOSµ expression and location was described to contribute to DMD pathophysiology by the disturbance of NO signaling leading to an increase of the muscle fatigability [20, 21].

Our goal was to identify the molecular factors that can modulate the expression of nNOS and the muscular biopsies of BMDd45-55 patients that were sought to be a pertinent tool. Indeed, in these patients, the deletion of the 45-55 exons in dystrophin mRNA should partially delete the spectrin motif repeat 17 in the resulting protein and could alter the nNOSµ anchoring. A previous study revealed that the BMDd45-55 patients displayed variable clinical and histological phenotypes and that a subsequent decrease of nNOS protein expression occurred in these patients compared to healthy subjects [22]. Furthermore, several studies demonstrated a deregulation of miRNA expression profiles in dystrophinopathies [14, 23-26]. Cacchiarelli et al.'s study showed also that the loss of nNOS sarcolemmal localization leads to the deregulation of the expression of several microRNAs (miRNAs) [14]. miRNAs are short noncoding RNA that regulate mRNA post-transcriptionally either by promoting mRNA degradation or by inhibiting protein translation [27]. miRNAs have been shown to regulate functions of the skeletal muscle both in normal and pathological states [14, 28-30]. Altogether, these studies suggest a link between miRNA expression, nNOS expression, and physiopathology of dystrophinopathies. Thus, the aim of the present study was to identify miR-NAs that could modulate nNOS expression by screening the miRNA profile in BMDd45-55 muscular biopsies.

Methods

Ethics approvals

Muscle biopsies were collected from patients after informed consent, and this study was performed with agreement from the Committee for the Protection of Persons (CPP) concerned.

Cohort of patients

Nine Becker muscular dystrophy (BMD) patients characterized for a deletion of exons 45–55 of the *DMD* gene were studied. These patients were already described [22]. Indeed, the clinical status of the patients was scored using the Gardner–Medwin and Walton scale (GMWS) [31], and the histopathological status based on routine hematoxylin and eosin (HE) staining of muscle cryosections has been investigated showing a large histological disparity. These criteria allowed defining three classes of severity: (i) "mild" (GMWS ≤ 2 [i.e., still able to normally climb stairs] and normal muscle biopsy); (ii) "moderate" (GMWS ≤ 2 or mild dystrophic muscle biopsy); (iii) "severe" + (GMWS ≤ 2 and/or dystrophic muscle biopsy) (Table 1). The 9 patients were biopsied at an age ranging from 9 to 69 years old for diagnostic purposes after

Name	Severity class	Age at muscle biopsy	Histopathological status (*)	nNOSµ protein expression (**)
Ctrl 1		26	Ν	++
Ctrl 2		40	Ν	++
Ctrl 3		10	Ν	++
Ctrl 4			Ν	++
Ctrl 5			Ν	++
Patients				
BMD 1	Moderate	35	+/- (35)	+/-
BMD 2	Severe +	13	+ (13)	+
BMD 4	Severe +	33	++ (33)	+
BMD 7	Moderate	40	+/- (40)	+
BMD 8	Moderate	12	+/- (12)	+/-
BMD 11	Mild	69	N (69)	+
BMD 12	Moderate	18	+/- (18)	+/-
BMD 18	ND			
BMD 31	ND			

Table 1 Clinical and histopathological phenotypes compared with nNOSµ expression in BMDd45-55 patients

(*) N normal, +/- mild dystrophy, + and ++ severe dystrophy, ND not determined, (**) +/- traces or not detectable in Western blot, + weak, ++ normal

informed consent, and these biopsies were used during the experiments in the present article. In addition, the five muscle biopsies used as healthy control muscles (Ctrl) were recovered as surgical wastes from orthopedic surgery of individuals without neuromuscular diseases. All human muscle biopsies were flash frozen in isopentane cooled in liquid nitrogen and evaluated for dystrophin and nNOS expression by Western blotting [22].

Taqman Low-Density Array (TLDA)

Total RNA (including miRNA and mRNA) were extracted from about 30 mg of muscular biopsy using the NucleoSpin[©] miRNA kit from Macherey-Nagel. Total RNA (200 ng) was reverse-transcribed with the Megaplex Primer Pools A and B (human version 3), and miR-NAs were quantified after a pre-amplification step, with TaqMan Array MicroRNA Cards A and B (human version 3) on the 7900HT Real-Time PCR System (AB) according to the manufacturer's guidelines. Relative quantification was performed with 2^{-dCT} method, using the mean of all miRNA expressed as normalizer.

miR-target predictions

The ability of candidate miRNAs to target *NOS1-3* 'UTR was evaluated with Diana-microT algorithm and TargetScan v6.2.

Individual RT-qPCR

Thirty milligrams of muscular biopsies from 3 healthy subjects and patients BMD1, 2, 4, 8, and 11 was extracted using the NucleoSpin© miRNA kit (Macherey-Nagel). One hundred nanograms of RNA was reverse-transcribed with Universal cDNA synthesis kit II (Exiqon) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Complementary DNAs (cDNAs) were analyzed by real-time quantitative PCR performed on Light Cycler 480 instrument (Roche) using Exilent SybR Green Master Mix (Exiqon). LNA[™] PCR Primers set from Exiqon were used for miRNA expression analysis (miR-212: 204170, miR-708: 204490, miR-34c: 205659, miR-31: 204236). miRNA expression was normalized on miR-30b-5p expression (204765) using 2^{-dCT} method.

Luciferase assay

Genomic DNA was extracted from biopsies of healthy subject using NucleoSpin[®] Tissue kit from Macherey-Nagel, following the manufacturer's instructions. gDNA was eluted after incubation of the silica membrane 3 min, twice in 50 μ L of Elution Buffer BE, followed by centrifugation 1 min at 11,000g, being 100 μ l of total gDNA.

*NOS1-3'*UTR (Ensembl: ENST00000618760) was cloned downstream of Firefly luciferase gene in HSVTK-Luc3' modified plasmid. As this 3'UTR is 7183 pb in length, it is too large to be fully cloned in this plasmid. Therefore, we cut it in 4 overlapping parts using following primers that add restriction sites (in bold) on gDNA fragments (Table 2).

Fragments were amplified using Mastermix Phusion with the following protocol: 98 °C 30s; 10 cycles of 98 °C 10s, 58 °C 30s, and 72 °C 1 min; and 20 cycles of 98 °C 10s, 61 °C 30s, 72 °C 1 min, and 72 °C 10 min.

Amplicons were purified with NucleoSpin[©] Gel and PCR cleanup from Macherey-Nagel. 3'UTR parts were then cloned in HSVTK-Luc3' modified plasmid between XbaI and EcorV sites.

Guilbaud et al. Skeletal Muscle (2018) 8:15

Table 2 Primers use	d to fragment NO	S1-3'UTR
---------------------	------------------	----------

	5	
Position in 3'UTR)	Forward primer	Reverse primer
Part 1 (1-1896)	F1-5'TTG TCTAGA CTGGACCCTCTTGCCCAGC-3'	R1-5'AAG GATATC CAGGGGAAATTGGGATTAAAGG-3'
Part 2 (1773-3685)	F2-5'-AACTCTAGACTATGACTCACCTTGCTCTGC-3'	R2-5'-ATC GATATC CTTACATGCTCCCTGTCCGTG-3'
Part 3 (3607-5523)	F3-5'-AAT TCTAGA CTGGTAGCTTCTGGAAGGTAAG-3'	R3-5'AAT GATATC GCCACAAGGCAGGGACTGGC-3'
Part 4 (5358-7149)	F4-5'-TAG TCTAGA GAAACACAGGTCTGAGGGTCTG-3'	R4-5'-CC GATATC ATTGTAACCATAATGCAAACAAGC-3'
2 2 2 2 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		

Added restriction sites are indicated in bold characters (Xbal and EcorV)

Each 3'UTR construction (24.5 ng) was co-transfected in 293T-HEK cells with 25 pg of either miR-negative control (AM17111, Ambion) or miR-212, miR-31, miR-34c, or miR-708 (AM17100, Ambion) using lipofectamine 2000 diluted in Optimem reduced medium. The plasmid CMV-Renilla luciferase (0.25 ng) was also transfected in each condition as normalizer. Five hours posttransfection, Optimem reduced medium is replaced with DMEM added with FBS 10%. Twenty-four hours after transfection Firefly and Renilla luciferase luminescences were quantified with Dual-Glo Luciferase Assay System (according to the manufacturer's instructions) on Flexstation 3 Microplate reader. Firefly luciferase activity was normalized on Renilla luciferase activity.

Human myoblast transfection

Human immortalized myoblasts from a healthy subject (ctrl) and from a DMDd45-52 patient (DMDd45-52) were used [32]. Myoblasts were plated 48 h before transfection at 3×10^4 /well of 6-well plate or 6×10^3 /well of 24-well plate in proliferation medium composed of DMEM supplemented with 5 µg/ml of insulin, 5 ng/ml of EGF, 0.5 ng/ml of bFGF, 0.2 µg/ml of dexamethasone, 25 µg/ml of fetuin, 20% of fetal bovine serum, and 16% of medium 199. Cells were transfected with 12.5 pg of either miR-negative control (AM17111, Ambion); miR-31, miR-34c, or miR-708 (AM17100, Ambion); or antimiR-34c or antimiR-708 (AM17000, Ambion) using lipofectamine 2000 diluted in Optimem reduced medium. Twenty-four hours after transfection, transfection medium was replaced with proliferation medium for 24 h.

miRNA expression

Cells were harvested in 300 µl of Buffer ML (NucleoSpin[®] miRNA, Macherey-Nagel). Total RNA (small + large RNA) was extracted from lysed cells with NucleoSpin[®] miRNA kit (Macherey-Nagel) following the manufacturer's instructions. cDNA generated with Universal cDNA synthesis kit II (Exiqon) according to the manufacturer's instructions was analyzed by real-time quantitative PCR performed on Light Cycler[®] 480 instrument (Roche) using Exilent SybR Green Master Mix (Exiqon). LNA[™] PCR Primers set from Exiqon were used for miRNA expression analysis (miR-708: 204490, miR-34c: 205659,

miR-31: 204236). miRNA expression was normalized on SNORD44 expression (203902) using 2^{-dCT} method.

Western blotting

For nNOS detection, cells were lysed in 50 μ l of RIPA buffer (150 mM NaCl,50 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid, pH 7.4, 5 mM ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid, 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxy-cholate, 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 1 mM PMSF with a mix of protease inhibitors (Roche), and centrifuged 10 min 1500g at 4 °C.

Protein extracts (20 $\mu g)$ were denaturated in Laemmli buffer 2× added of 10% of 2-mercaptoethanol 30 min at room temperature (RT) and incubated 15 min in ice and then 15 min at RT. Proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE (4-12%, Invitrogen) and transferred to nitrocellulose. Membranes were blocked in tris-buffered saline 0. 1% Tween-20 with 5% non-fat dry milk 1 h at RT and incubated overnight at 4 °C, with rabbit polyclonal nNOS antibody (R-20, Santa Cruz, 1:100) or with mouse monoclonal GAPDH antibody (MAB9748, Tebu-Bio, 1:8000). After being washed in TBS 0.1% Tween, membranes were incubated for 1 h at RT with secondary antibodies: goat anti-rabbit-horseradish peroxidase (HRP) (1/50000) or sheep anti-mouse HRP (1/15000) (Jackson Immunoresearch). Western blots were revealed with enhanced chemiluminescence (Thermo Scientific) with Image Quant LAS 4000 system (GE Healthcare Life Sciences).

Immunostaining

Cells in 24-well plate were washed with PBS and fixed with paraformaldehyde 4% 10 min at RT and washed 3 times in PBS. Fixed cells were permeabilized with 0.5% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich), washed, and blocked in PBS/5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 40 min at RT. Cells were then incubated in PBS/1% BSA/0.1% saponin with a goat polyclonal anti-nNOS antibody (Ab1376, Abcam, 1:500), overnight at RT; washed in PBS/1%BSA/ 0.1% saponin; and incubated for 1 h with secondary antibody: Donkey anti-goat (Alexafluor 594 conjugate, Life Technologies, 1:500) and with DAPI (1:5000, Sigma). Fixed cells were then thoroughly washed in PBS/1% BSA/0.1% saponin and then in PBS and mounted in Fluoromount (Southern Biotech). Images were acquired
with Leica DM2500 confocal microscope using $\times\,63$ objective.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis were performed using Student's t test. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Methods used for the Additional file 4: Figure S1 are described in Additional file 1.

Results

miRNA expression profiling in BMDd45-55 muscular biopsies

To start our analysis, we took advantage of having a collection of muscle biopsies of Becker patients (BMDd45-55) bearing an in-frame deletion of exons 45 to 55 in the *DMD* gene and well characterized from a genetic point of view [22]. This collection has been the subject of a preliminary study which showed notably a decrease in the expression of the protein nNOS in the muscle of the studied patients [22]. We examine here a potential role of miRNA in the regulation of nNOS expression by investigating the expression levels of 617

miRNAs using Tagman Low-Density Array (TLDA) in muscle biopsies of 9 BMDd45-55 patients, compared to 5 control subjects (Table 1). From TLDA data (Additional file 2), we established a list of miRNAs overexpressed in the muscles of BMDd45-55 patients with the criteria of a fold change higher than 2 and a p value less than or equal to 0.05. By comparing miRNA expression levels between BMDd45-55 and healthy muscles as control (Fig. 1a), a total of 66 miR-NAs were identified based on the defined criteria of fold change and p value. Furthermore, the TLDA data were also analyzed by comparing the level of miRNAs expressed in muscles of severe patients with those expressed in muscles of all the other patients (Fig. 1b). This analysis allowed the identification of 29 overexpressed miRNAs. It should be noted that none of these 29 miRNAs were found in the list of miRNAs overexpressed in BMD muscles compared to healthy subjects (Fig. 1a), probably because of the too small number of severe muscle biopsies preventing the fold change value from being statistically significant when included to the values obtained for all the BMD patients.



miR-708-5p, miR-31-5p, and miR-34c-5p target 3'UTR sequences of *NOS1* gene

To select miRNAs that could modulate nNOS expression, the total sequence of the 3'UTR of the NOS1 gene (NOS1-3'UTR) was submitted to two predictive software, i.e., TargetScan Human and microRNA.org, that process alignment of the target sequence with human miRNA databases (Fig. 2a). From this study, 12 and 24 miRNAs were identified by the 2 predictive software, respectively. Surprisingly, there was no common miRNAs between the two lists. By combining the previous TLDA analysis criteria and the in silico investigation data, 4 miRNAs named miR-31-5p (miR-31), miR-708-5p (miR-708), miR-34c-5p (miR-34c), and miR-212-3p (miR-212) were finally selected. Overexpression of these 4 miRNAs was then validated by performing individual RT-qPCR on 5 BMDd45-55 and 3 healthy muscular biopsies (Fig. 2c). A higher level of expression of the 4 miRNAs was detected in BMDd45-55 compared to control muscles with a fold change of 6.6, 4.4, 10.1, and 3.3 for miR-31, miR-708, miR-34c, and miR-212, respectively, confirming the results obtained by TLDA (Fig. 2b, Additional file 2). Furthermore, by analyzing the sequence of the NOS1-3'UTR regarding the 4 selected miRNAs, we identified 5 sequences as potential targets of miR-31, 5 for miR-708, 9 for miR-34c, and 3 for miR-212 (Additional file 3: Table S1 and Fig. 3a). Their ability to bind NOS1-3'UTR was then tested in vitro using the luciferase reporter gene. If a miRNA interacted with NOS1-3'UTR, we would measure a decreased luciferase signal. Nevertheless, the NOS1-3'UTR being 7165 pb in length, it is too large to be fully cloned. Therefore, our strategy was to design 4 sequences (parts #1, #2, #3, and #4) which succeed one another with overlapping avoiding a miRNA-binding sequence being lost and covering all the NOS1-3'UTR sequence (Fig. 3a). Each part was sub-cloned in a plasmid downstream of the luciferase gene, and each of the 4 plasmids was co-transfected in HEK293T cells with one candidate or a non-specific control miRNA mimic. This strategy would also provide a more detailed information about the sequence of NOS1-3'UTR implicated in miRNA interaction. Our data showed a significant decrease of luciferase activity when the part #2 was co-transfected with the miR-31 and the part #3 with the miR-708 and when the parts #1, or #3, or #4 were co-transfected with the miR-34c. Nevertheless, no decrease of the reporter gene was observed when miR-212 was co-transfected with the parts #1, #2, #3, nor #4. These results demonstrated that miR31, miR-708, and miR34c, but not miR-212, were able to target NOS1-3'UTR sequences leading to a decrease of the reporter gene Firefly luciferase expression.

Altogether, these results demonstrate that these 4 miR-NAs were overexpressed in the muscles of BMDd45-55

patients compared to control muscle or in severe patients compared to other patients and that only 3 of them could target sequences present in the *NOS1-3'* UTR and modulate reporter gene activity.

miR-31, miR-708, and miR-34c effect on nNOS expression in human myoblasts

In order to address the causal relationship between the overexpression of the 3 selected miRNAs and the nNOS expression in muscular context, we carried out experiments using immortalized human myoblasts from healthy subject (control) and from a patient displaying a deletion of the exons 45 to 52 (DMDd45-52) in the DMD gene [29]. First, these DMDd45-52 myoblasts were validated as an appropriate cellular model regarding the expression of the 3 selected miRNAs. Quantification by RT-qPCR confirmed a higher level of expression for miR-31, miR-708, and miR-34c in DMDd45-52 cells compared to control with a fold change of 2.2, 2.2, and 3.8, respectively (Fig. 4a). Furthermore, the expression of nNOS protein was investigated by Western blot and showed a significant decrease in DMDd45-52 compared to control cells (Fig. 4b). Additionally, immunostaining experiments, allowing the detection of the protein nNOS in the cytoplasm and into the nucleus of muscle cells, confirmed that nNOS staining was weaker in the DMDd45-52 compared to the control myoblasts (Fig. 4c). Overall, these results were consistent with those obtained on BMDd45-55 muscle biopsies, namely a higher level of miR-31, miR-708, and miR-34c and a decrease in the expression of nNOS, thus allowing the use of these DMDd45-52 myoblasts as a suitable in vitro cellular model.

To evaluate the effects of the miR-31, miR-708, or miR-34c on the nNOS expression, each of them was transfected in control myoblasts (Fig. 5a). Overexpression of the miRNAs was verified by RT-qPCR (Fig. 5a). The location and expression of nNOS protein were first investigated by immunostaining on the transfected myoblasts (Fig. 5b). Analysis of the pictures showed a decrease of the nNOS labelling in the nuclei of cells overexpressing miR-708 or miR-34c. However, no effect on nNOS expression and location could be observed when miR-31 was overexpressed compared with myoblasts transfected with the non-specific control miRNA. The reduction in the nNOS level was confirmed by Western blot experiments showing a decrease of about 30% of nNOS expression in cells overexpressing miR-708 or miR-34c, while no significant decrease could be observed in overexpressing miR-31 (Fig. 5c). Altogether, these results demonstrated that miR-708 or miR-34c could modulate nNOS expression in human healthy myoblasts.

In DMDd45-52 myoblasts, miR-708 and miR-34c expressions increased and nNOS expression decreased



compared to control myoblasts (Fig. 4); we thus investigated in these cells the consequences of an inhibition of the miR-708 or the miR-34c by using specific antisense oligonucleotides (antimiR-708 or antimiR-34c) on the nNOS expression level (Fig. 6). The inhibition of miR-708 or the miR-34c levels by their antimiRNAs was validated by RT-qPCR experiments (Fig. 6a). In these cells, the nNOS location and expression were also investigated. Immunofluorescence experiments showed an increased staining in the nuclei of cells in which the miR-708 or the miR-34c were inhibited compared to cells transfected with a non-specific control miRNA (Fig. 6b). These results were confirmed by Western blot experiments that showed a significant increase of 2.2 of nNOS expression in cells transfected with antimiR-708 or antimiR-34c (Fig. 6c).

Discussion

In this study, we used a variety of bioinformatic, molecular, and cell biological methods to demonstrate the role of miRNAs in driving nNOS expression. We selected 4 miRNAs (i.e., miR-31, miR-708, miR-34c, and miR-212)



since they were overexpressed in muscular biopsies of BMDd45-55 patients compared to healthy subjects or in muscular biopsies of patients with severe phenotypes compared to other patients. We then determined, in silico, that these miRNAs could target sequences in NOS1-3'UTR. A luciferase reporter study validated the targeting of NOS1-3'UTR by miR-31, miR-708, and miR-34c. Finally, we validated the effects of the candidate miRNAs in myoblasts. The experiments were carried out on myoblasts which were a more homogeneous cell population than those of myotubes, from which we never observed 100% of differentiated myotubes and for which efficacy of transfection experiments with miR and antagomiR was much more effective than on differentiated cells. We thus demonstrated that miR-708 and miR-34c could decrease nNOS expression in human healthy myoblasts and that their inhibition led to an increase of this protein in DMDd45-52 human cells.

Several studies showed a deregulation of miRNA expression in muscles of DMD or BMD patients [14, 23, 33] or in serum of DMD patients [26, 34]. Eisenberg et al. studied miRNA profile expression in 10 muscular diseases, and they showed an upregulation of 5 common miRNAs in these diseases [33]. They showed also a particular miRNA expression profile shared by DMD patients and severe BMD patients but not with moderate BMD patients.

Among the selected miRNAs in our study, miR-31 was already shown to be overexpressed in mdx mice and in muscular biopsies of DMD patients [14, 23, 35]. We found here the same results in muscular biopsies of BMDd45-55 patients, in DMDd45-52 myoblasts, and in TA muscle of mdx mice (data not shown). Unlike our results, Cacchiarelli and colleagues did not observe an increase of miR-31 expression in the biopsies of BMD patients. However, no information on the *DMD* gene mutations and/or phenotypes was given for the patients



included in Cacchiarelli et al.'s study. As we found a higher expression of miR-31 in severe phenotypes than in moderate phenotypes (Fig. 2c), we assume that Cacchiarelli et al.'s patients had moderate phenotypes and therefore might not exhibit a high level of miR-31. The fact that miR-31 could target nNOS by mRNA decay was described in human atrial myocytes from patients with atrial fibrillation [36]. In this study, the precise targeted sequence was identified, and it appears to be the same that we identified by the system of cloning NOS1-3'UTR downstream luciferase reporter gene setup in our study (Fig. 3). Surprisingly, our data revealed a slight decrease of nNOS expression by miR-31 overexpression in control human myoblasts. One reason could be the level of miR-31. Indeed, in Reilly et al. 's work, miR-31-fold increase was 2×10^4 compared to control condition whereas in our study, miR-31 increased by a factor of 4×10^3 (Fig. 5a) and therefore non-sufficient to exhibit a significant effect. However, we could not transfect more miR-31 because of deleterious effect of transfection on human myoblasts.

Nevertheless, one has to consider that the complex regulation displayed by non-coding RNAs might be different according to the studied tissues.

Concerning miR-708 and miR-34c, our results showed an effect of these two miRNAs on nNOS expression in human healthy and DMDd45-52 myoblasts. miR-708 is mostly described in cardiac muscle, where it was proposed to be involved in myocardium regeneration. Indeed, its overexpression in newborn rodents leads to the differentiation of cardiac progenitors to cardiomyocytes by targeting MAPK14, a cell cycle gene [37]. Otherwise, miR-708 expression is decreased in murine myoblasts atrophied by dexamethasone treatment, suggesting that miR-708 is involved in muscular development [38]. For miR-34c, several studies described it as overexpressed in mdx mice and in DMD patients [23, 35]. Our data were in the same way as miR-34c is overexpressed in BMDd45-55 muscle biopsies, in DMDd45-52 myoblasts, and in *mdx* mice (data not shown). This miRNA was shown to be a promoter of differentiation of murine myoblasts targeting YY1, a transcription factor involved

Guilbaud et al. Skeletal Muscle (2018) 8:15

Page 10 of 13



in cell proliferation [39] and of porcine satellite cells by inhibiting Notch1 signal pathway that is involved in satellite cell quiescence [40].

The present study revealed that the nNOS expression could be modulated by miR-708 and miR-34c. Our results clearly showed their effect at the protein level, although we did not success to detect nNOS mRNA in myoblasts to demonstrate also the decay of its transcript. Interestingly, it should be noted that the isoform of nNOS that was detected in myoblasts by Western blot is about 140 kDa in size. In mature skeletal muscle, the nNOSµ, a 165-kDa protein, is the major isoform; it is linked to dystrophin via its PDZ domain [41] and thus located mainly at the sarcolemma (Additional file 4: Figure S1). However, this isoform seems too large to correspond to the nNOS isoform detected in myoblasts. Another isoform, the nNOSB which is 136 kDa in size, not displaying the PDZ domain [42], was described to be present in the Golgi apparatus of skeletal muscle fibers where it modulates the contractile apparatus [17] or at the sarcolemma of mice TA muscles [43]. Western blot experiments on human muscular biopsy of healthy subjects showed a major 160 kDa in size nNOS isoform, as expected but also the 140-kDa isoform (Additional file 4: Figure S1). Additionally, we described here that the nNOS protein was localized in the nuclei of human myoblasts, as shown by immunostaining experiments. Western blots carried out on nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions confirmed that 140 kDa nNOS was detected in nuclei of control and DMDd45-52 myoblasts (Additional file 4: Figure S1). Furthermore, a protein of about 160 kDa in size was only visible in nuclear extracts of both types of cells. These data were compared to those obtained from immunostaining experiments performed on DMD patient muscular biopsies which revealed nNOS expression in the nuclei of fibers of DMD muscle whereas nNOS is sarcolemmal in control muscle as expected (Additional file 4: Figure S1). Nuclear 160-kDa nNOS localization has been already described during C2C12 differentiation; however, authors of this study used a N-terminal nNOS antibody, that did not allow the detection of nNOS- β , and therefore a 140 kDa



nNOS isoform [44]. Our data suggest the presence of an isoform of nNOS not yet described in nuclei of myoblasts. At transcriptional level, the precise sequence of a transcript that encodes a nNOS of 140 kDa in size is not described in databases (i.e., Ensembl.org). The complexity of the mechanisms modulating *NOS1* transcription indicates that the nNOS isoform expressed in myoblasts and regulated by miR-34c and miR-708 has not been precisely identified and that information on the transcriptional regulation of its gene remains to be thorough.

The exact role of nNOS in nuclear compartment is still not well-defined. However, NO production has been designated as a key player which mediates epigenetic changes through the direct control of histone deacetylases (HDACs). Indeed, in the mdx mice defective for NO pathway, the activity of HDAC2 resulted to be specifically increased [45]. Profiling of human DMDd45-52 patient myoblasts confirmed the dysregulation of miR-1 but also found a significant

dysregulation in the expression of miR-29a, both of which regulate a dystrophin-nNOS-HDAC2 pathway [14]. In the present study, we could not exclude a link between nuclear nNOS location, HDAC2 nitrosylation, and the modulation of the miR-31, miR-708, and/or miR-34c expression. Nevertheless, a study in its own right will be necessary to establish this link.

Conclusions

Altogether, the present work highlights two miRNAs overexpressed in dystrophic human muscle as modulators of nNOS expression. This work could explain some pathological consequences caused by nNOS deficiency (i.e., muscle fatigability due to insufficient vasodilation in exercise, switch to glycolytic metabolism). In particular, modification of NOS1 expression has a significant negative impact on dystrophic muscle regenerative capacity [15], and it has been shown that treatment with NO donors can attenuate atrophy and metabolic changes and prevent changes in regulation [16]. We show here that

Guilbaud et al. Skeletal Muscle (2018) 8:15

inhibitors of miR-708 and/or miR-34c could also be considered as therapeutic targets to rescue these defects by increasing the expression of nNOS. Furthermore, the expression and the sarcolemmal localization of the nNOS by interacting with the dystrophin has been shown to be crucial for contractile activity and muscular strength recovery in the canine DMD model (GRMD) [46]. Thus, a therapeutic strategy combining the inhibition of miR-708 and miR-34c with the restoration of dystrophin will most likely be a benefit for the improvement of phenotype of DMD and BMD patients.

Additional files

Additional file 1: Supplementary methods. (DOCX 12 kb)

Additional file 2: TLDA data. (XLSX 749 kb)

Additional file 3: Table S1. Predictive candidate miRNA binding sites on the human NOS1 3'UTR (DOCX 12 kb)

Additional file 4: Figure S1. Nuclear localization of nNOS in DMD muscular biopsy and in myoblasts. a) Control (ctrl) and DMD human muscular biopsy sections immunolabeled with anti-nNOS (red) antibody, nuclei with Dapi (blue), and imaged by confocal microscopy. Representative of 4 DMD patients. b) nNOS, GAPDH, and histone H3 (H3) immunoblots on cytoplasmic (CE) and nuclear (NE) protein extracts from control (ctrl) and DMDd45-52 myoblasts and total extract of control human muscular biopsy (ctrl biopsy). (TIFF 912 kb)

Abbreviations

BMD: Becker muscular dystrophy; DAPC: Dystrophin-associated protein complex; DMD: Duchenne muscular dystrophy; GMWS: Gardner--Medwin and Walton scale; GRMD: Golden Retriever muscular dystrophy; HDAC: Histone deacetylase; nNOS: Neuronal nitric oxide synthase; TLDA: Taqman Low-Density Array

Acknowledgements

We thank Philippos Mourikis, Frédéric Auradé, and Nicolas Vignier for providing us the luciferase plasmids, primers, and technical advices.

Funding

This work was supported by the Association Française contre les Myopathies (AFM), the Association Institut de Myologie (AIM), the Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), and Sorbonne Université.

Availability of data and materials

The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on a reasonable request.

Authors' contributions

FPR conceived the study. FPR and MG wrote the paper. MG made most of the experiments. LJL performed the TLDA assays. KM provided the immortalized human myoblasts. FL and RBY provided the BMDd45-55 muscular biopsies and clinical information about patients. CGe, CP, EG, IH, CGr, and SF provided technical and helpful material. MG, FPR, CGe, SF, KM, FL, and RBY reviewed the final version of manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Muscle biopsies were collected from patients after informed consent, and this study was performed with agreement from the Committee for the Protection of Persons (CPP) concerned.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Author details

¹Sorbonne Université-UMRS974-Inserm-Institut de Myologie, 105 bd de l'Hôpital, 75013 Paris, France. ²AP-HP, Centre de Référence Maladies Neuromusculaire Nord, Est, Ile-de-France, G.H. Pitié-Salpêtrière, F-75013 Paris, France. ³Laboratoire de Génétique et Biologie Moléculaire, Hôpital Cochin, Paris, France. ⁴Généthon, 1 rue de l'Internationale, 91000 Evry, France.

Received: 26 January 2018 Accepted: 4 April 2018 Published online: 27 April 2018

References

- Monaco AP, Neve RL, Colletti-Feener C, Bertelson CJ, Kurnit DM, Kunkel LM. Isolation of candidate cDNAs for portions of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene. Nature. 1986;323:646–50.
- Koenig M, Hoffman EP, Bertelson CJ, Monaco AP, Feener C, Kunkel LM. Complete cloning of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) cDNA and preliminary genomic organization of the DMD gene in normal and affected individuals. Cell. 1987;50:509–17.
- Monaco AP, Bertelson CJ, Liechti-Gallati S, Moser H, Kunkel LM. An explanation for the phenotypic differences between patients bearing partial deletions of the DMD locus. Genomics. 1988;2:90–5.
- Koenig M, Beggs AH, Moyer M, Scherpf S, Heindrich K, Bettecken T, et al. The molecular basis for Duchenne versus Becker muscular dystrophy: correlation of severity with type of deletion. Am J Hum Genet. 1989;45:498–506.
- Goyenvalle A, Davies KE. Engineering exon-skipping vectors expressing U7 snRNA constructs for Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene therapy. Methods Mol Biol. 2011;709:179–96.
- Nelson CE, Hakim CH, Ousterout DG, Thakore PI, Moreb EA, Rivera RMC, et al. In vivo genome editing improves muscle function in a mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Science. 2016;351:403–7.
- Tabebordbar M, Zhu K, Cheng JKW, Chew WL, Widrick JJ, Yan WX, et al. In vivo gene editing in dystrophic mouse muscle and muscle stem cells. Science. 2016;351:407–11.
- Béroud C, Tuffery-Giraud S, Matsuo M, Hamroun D, Humbertclaude V, Monnier N, et al. Multiexon skipping leading to an artificial DMD protein lacking amino acids from exons 45 through 55 could rescue up to 63% of patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Hum Mutat. 2007;28:196–202.
- Young CS, Hicks MR, Ermolova NV, Nakano H, Jan M, Younesi S, et al. A single CRISPR-Cas9 deletion strategy that targets the majority of DMD patients restores dystrophin function in hiPSC-derived muscle cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2016;18:533–40.
- Ervasti JM, Campbell KP. A role for the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex as a transmembrane linker between laminin and actin. J Cell Biol. 1993;122: 809–23.
- Ohlendieck K, Matsumura K, Ionasescu VV, Towbin JA, Bosch EP, Weinstein SL, et al. Duchenne muscular dystrophy: deficiency of dystrophin-associated proteins in the sarcolemma. Neurology. 1993;43:795–800.
- Chang WJ, Iannaccone ST, Lau KS, Masters BS, McCabe TJ, McMillan K, et al. Neuronal nitric oxide synthase and dystrophin-deficient muscular dystrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1996;93:9142–7.
- Stamler JS, Meissner G. Physiology of nitric oxide in skeletal muscle. Physiol Rev. 2001;81:209–37.
- Cacchiarelli D, Martone J, Girardi E, Cesana M, Incitti T, Morlando M, et al. MicroRNAs involved in molecular circuitries relevant for the Duchenne muscular dystrophy pathogenesis are controlled by the dystrophin/nNOS pathway. Cell Metab. 2010;12:341–51.
- Aguiar AF, Vechetti-Júnior IJ, Souza RW, Piedade WP, Pacagnelli FL, Leopoldo AS, et al. Nitric oxide synthase inhibition impairs muscle regrowth following immobilization. Nitric Oxide. 2017;69:22–7.
- Anderson JE, Zhu A, Mizuno TM. Nitric oxide treatment attenuates muscle atrophy during hind limb suspension in mice. Free Radic Biol Med. 2018; 115:458–70.
- Baldelli S, Barbato DL, Tatulli G, Aquilano K, Ciriolo MR. The role of nNOS and PGC-1α in skeletal muscle cells. J Cell Sci. 2014;127:4813–20.
- Brenman JE, Chao DS, Xia H, Aldape K, Bredt DS. Nitric oxide synthase complexed with dystrophin and absent from skeletal muscle sarcolemma in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Cell. 1995;82:743–52.

Guilbaud et al. Skeletal Muscle (2018) 8:15

- Chao DS, Gorospe JR, Brenman JE, Rafael JA, Peters MF, Froehner SC, et al. Selective loss of sarcolemmal nitric oxide synthase in Becker muscular dystrophy. J Exp Med. 1996;184:609–18.
- Kobayashi YM, Rader EP, Crawford RW, Iyengar NK, Thedens DR, Faulkner JA, et al. Sarcolemma-localized nNOS is required to maintain activity after mild exercise. Nature. 2008;456:511–5.
- Percival JM, Anderson KNE, Huang P, Adams ME, Froehner SC. Golgi and sarcolemmal neuronal NOS differentially regulate contraction-induced fatigue and vasoconstriction in exercising mouse skeletal muscle. J Clin Invest. 2010;120:816–26.
- Gentil C, Leturcq F, Ben Yaou R, Kaplan J-C, Laforet P, Pénisson-Besnier I, et al. Variable phenotype of del45-55 Becker patients correlated with nNOSµ mislocalization and RYR1 hypernitrosylation. Hum Mol Genet. 2012;21:3449–60.
- Greco S, De Simone M, Colussi C, Zaccagnini G, Fasanaro P, Pescatori M, et al. Common micro-RNA signature in skeletal muscle damage and regeneration induced by Duchenne muscular dystrophy and acute ischemia. FASEB J. 2009;23:3335–46.
- Vignier N, Amor F, Fogel P, Duvallet A, Poupiot J, Charrier S, et al. Distinctive serum miRNA profile in mouse models of striated muscular pathologies. PLoS One. 2013;8:e55281.
- Jeanson-Leh L, Lameth J, Krimi S, Buisset J, Amor F, Le Guiner C, et al. Serum profiling identifies novel muscle miRNA and cardiomyopathy-related miRNA biomarkers in golden retriever muscular dystrophy dogs and Duchenne muscular dystrophy patients. Am J Pathol. 2014;184:2885–98.
- Hu J, Kong M, Ye Y, Hong S, Cheng L, Jiang L. Serum miR-206 and other muscle-specific microRNAs as non-invasive biomarkers for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. J Neurochem. 2014;129:877–83.
 Bartel DP. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell.
- Bartel DP. MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell. 2004;116:281–97.
- Horak M, Novak J, Bienertova-Vasku J. Muscle-specific microRNAs in skeletal muscle development. Dev Biol. 2016;410:1–13.
- Chen J-F, Mandel EM, Thomson JM, Wu Q, Callis TE, Hammond SM, et al. The role of microRNA-1 and microRNA-133 in skeletal muscle proliferation and differentiation. Nat Genet. 2006;38:228–33.
- Chen J-F, Tao Y, Li J, Deng Z, Yan Z, Xiao X, et al. microRNA-1 and microRNA-206 regulate skeletal muscle satellite cell proliferation and differentiation by repressing Pax7. J Cell Biol. 2010;190:867–79.
- Gardner-Medwin D, Walton JN. The clinical examination of the voluntary muscles. In: Walton JN, editor. Disorders of voluntary muscles. Edinburgh, London: Churchill-Livingstone; 1974. p. 517–60.
- Mamchaoui K, Trollet C, Bigot A, Negroni E, Chaouch S, Wolff A, et al. Immortalized pathological human myoblasts: towards a universal tool for the study of neuromuscular disorders. Skelet Muscle. 2011;1:34.
- Eisenberg I, Eran A, Nishino I, Moggio M, Lamperti C, Amato AA, et al. Distinctive patterns of microRNA expression in primary muscular disorders. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2007;104:17016–21.
- Zaharieva IT, Calissano M, Scoto M, Preston M, Cirak S, Feng L, et al. Dystromirs as serum biomarkers for monitoring the disease severity in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. PLoS One. 2013;8:e80263.
- Roberts TC, Blomberg KEM, McClorey G, Andaloussi SE, Godfrey C, Betts C, et al. Expression analysis in multiple muscle groups and serum reveals complexity in the MicroRNA transcriptome of the mdx mouse with implications for therapy. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids. 2012;e39:1.
- Reilly SN, Liu X, Carnicer R, Recalde A, Muszkiewicz A, Jayaram R, et al. Up-regulation of miR-31 in human atrial fibrillation begets the arrhythmia by depleting dystrophin and neuronal nitric oxide synthase. Sci Transl Med. 2016;8:340ra74.
- Deng S, Zhao Q, Zhou X, Zhang L, Bao L, Zhen L, et al. Neonatal heartenriched miR-708 promotes differentiation of cardiac progenitor cells in rats. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17060875.
- Shen H, Liu T, Fu L, Zhao S, Fan B, Cao J, et al. Identification of microRNAs involved in dexamethasone-induced muscle atrophy. Mol Cell Biochem. 2013;381:105–13.
- Wang Y, Newton DC, Robb GB, Kau C-L, Miller TL, Cheung AH, et al. RNA diversity has profound effects on the translation of neuronal nitric oxide synthase. PNAS. 1999;96:12150–5.
- Hou L, Xu J, Li H, Ou J, Jiao Y, Hu C, et al. MiR-34c represses muscle development by forming a regulatory loop with Notch1. Sci Rep. 2017;7:9346.
- Molza A-E, Mangat K, Le Rumeur E, Hubert J-F, Menhart N, Delalande O. Structural basis of neuronal nitric-oxide synthase interaction with dystrophin repeats 16 and 17. J Biol Chem. 2015;290:29531–41.

- Brenman JE, Xia H, Chao DS, Black SM, Bredt DS. Regulation of neuronal nitric oxide synthase through alternative transcripts. Dev Neurosci. 1997;19:224–31.
- Baum Ó, Schläppi S, Huber-Abel FA, Weichert A, Hoppeler H, Zakrzewicz A. The beta-isoform of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) lacking the PDZ domain is localized at the sarcolemma. FEBS Lett. 2011;585:3219–23.
- Aquilano K, Baldelli S, Ciriolo MR. Nuclear recruitment of neuronal nitricoxide synthase by α-syntrophin is crucial for the induction of mitochondrial biogenesis. J Biol Chem. 2014;289:365–78.
- Colussi C, Mozzetta C, Gurtner A, Illi B, Rosati J, Straino S, et al. HDAC2 blockade by nitric oxide and histone deacetylase inhibitors reveals a common target in Duchenne muscular dystrophy treatment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105:19183–7.
- 46. Gentil C, Le Guiner C, Falcone S, Hogrel J-Y, Peccate C, Lorain S, et al. Dystrophin threshold level necessary for normalization of neuronal nitric oxide synthase, inducible nitric oxide synthase, and ryanodine receptorcalcium release channel type 1 nitrosylation in golden retriever muscular dystrophy dystrophinopathy. Hum Gene Ther. 2016;27:712–26.

Ready to submit your research? Choose BMC and benefit from:

- fast, convenient online submission
- thorough peer review by experienced researchers in your field
- rapid publication on acceptance
- support for research data, including large and complex data types
- gold Open Access which fosters wider collaboration and increased citations
- maximum visibility for your research: over 100M website views per year

At BMC, research is always in progress.

Learn more biomedcentral.com/submissions



ARTICLE 4

Context:

Before I have begun my CIFRE/ANRT scholarship I was a sub-investigator in natural history and clinical trials phase 1, 2, 3 in DMD, SMA and myotubular myopathy (MTM) at the I-Motion platform of paediatric clinical trials. This experience motivated me to look for a translational project in order to start a PhD. I report here a published review based on my personal experience in AON treatment of SMA type 1 and 2 patients on the was proposal of the scientific committee of the French Society of Myology.

This report underlines a high phenotype and therapy response variability in SMA patients, which is in line with the manuscript subject.

Abstract:

Spinraza is the first FDA/EMA approved therapy in SMA type 1, 2, 3 patients. The first injection in EAP program was realized in France under the ATU program at the I-Motion platform of paediatric clinical trials. This review reports the overview of the literature focused on long-term efficacy results in SMA type 1 and 2 patients and reveals a clinically heterogeneous population with a great variability in therapy response. Overall, relatively long-term results confirm the initial data that early therapy initiation is correlated to better response.



médecine/sciences 2019 ; 35 (hors série n° 2) : 11-4

> Une révolution est actuellement en cours dans le domaine des maladies neuromusculaires avec l'arrivée de nouvelles thérapies. L'amyotrophie spinale (SMA ou spinal muscular atrophy) est parmi les maladies pionnières de ce bouleversement thérapeutique. Le premier traitement approuvé et mis sur le marché en Europe et aux États-Unis est un oligonucléotide antisens dénommé nusinersen et commercialisé par le laboratoire Biogen sous le nom de Spinraza®. Il a comme indication les SMA de types 1, 2 et 3. La première injection de Spinraza® dans le cadre d'une ATU/EAP (Autorisation Temporaire d'Utilisation/Expanded Access Program ou programmes d'accès étendu) a été réalisée en France par le centre d'essais l-Motion. Les résultats des essais cliniques et des données de la littérature sur l'utilisation du nusinersen dans la SMA infantile sont discutés dans cette revue. Ces études rapportent une amélioration de la fonction motrice chez les patients SMA tous types confondus y compris les patients de type 3 [1,2]. Une administration précoce du traitement s'accompagne d'une meilleure réponse clinique. Une meilleure compréhension de l'hétérogénéité génétique et clinique devient indispensable dans le monitoring et le suivi à long terme de ces patients. <

État des lieux

La SMA est une des maladies neuromusculaires les plus fréquentes de l'enfant mais concerne également les adultes. C'est la cause génétique la plus fréquente de mortalité infantile [3]. Selon l'âge du début des premiers signes et le niveau moteur maximal atteint, la SMA est classée selon cinq types. La SMA de type 0 avec un début des signes dans la période anté- ou néonatale. La SMA de type 1 (ou maladie du Werdnig-Hoffmann) se caractérise par un début des premiers signes

> m/s hors série n° 2, vol. 35, novembre 2019 DOI : 10.1051/medsci/2019181

Les oligonucléotides anti-sens dans la SMA

Retour d'expérience et données de la littérature

Elena Gargaun



Institut de Myologie G.H. Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France e.gargaun-ursache@institutmyologie.org

avant l'âge de 6 mois et une durée de vie sans traitement inférieure à 9-18 mois. Certains patients, dits de type 1bis, survivent plus de 18 mois mais n'acquièrent jamais la station assise indépendante. Pour la SMA de type 2, les premiers signes apparaissent après 6 mois et les enfants sont capables de se tenir assis de façon indépendante pendant plus d'une minute. Pour la SMA de type 3, (ou maladie de Kugelberg-Welander) le début est plus tardif, avec un risque important de perte progressive d'une marche autonome initialement acquise. Enfin la SMA de type 4 est caractérisée par un début des symptômes à l'âge adulte [4].

La SMA a une incidence de l'ordre de 1/10 000 naissances avec une fréquence de porteurs sains hétérozygotes de 1/50 [5]. C'est une maladie autosomique récessive due à des mutations dans le gène *SMN1 (survival motor neuron* 1) localisé sur le chromosome 5q13.2 [6]. Elle se caractérise par une faiblesse musculaire proximale suite à la dégénérescence progressive des motoneurones de la corne antérieure de la moelle épinière et du tronc cérébral. La prévalence communément admise pour la France (enquête SMA-Flash, Filnemus) tourne autour de 1200 patients SMA dont 8 % de type 1, 47 % de type 2, 42 % de type 3 et 2 % de type 4 [7].

Données génétiques dans la SMA

Dans 95 % des cas environ, la SMA est due à une délétion homozygote, soit de l'exon 7, soit des exons 7 et 8, du gène *SMN1* (5q12.2-q13.3) codant la protéine de survie du motoneurone (SMN). Situé en région centromérique, le gène SMN2, est capable de produire la protéine SMN, mais celle-ci est non fonctionnelle dans 90 % des cas à cause d'une erreur d'épissage. La seule différence entre les deux gènes réside dans la substitution C->T qui génère un épissage alternatif de l'exon 7. Les 10 % de la protéine SMN produite par le gène SMN2 sont insuffisants pour maintenir la survie et le fonctionnement normal des motoneurones [6]. Le rôle de la protéine SMN n'est pas encore complètement connu. Elle est associée avec la biogenèse de la protéine nucléaire ribonucléique (snRNP) et le métabolisme des ARN messagers [8]. De plus, les données de la littérature suggèrent qu'en son absence survient une dégénérescence des neurones sensitifs et de la jonction neuromusculaire [8].

Hétérogénéité phénotypique des patients atteints de SMA

Le nombre de copies du gène *SMN2* est inversement corrélé avec le phénotype clinique. Il est important de souligner que le nombre de transcrits *SMN2* n'est pas forcement identique au nombre de copies de *SMN2* à cause de la variabilité de la régulation de la transcription inter individus. Des données récentes ont rapporté des polymorphismes du *SMN2* en tant que modificateurs géniques [9 -11]. Malgré cela, aux États-Unis, le groupe de travail multidisciplinaire *SMA NBS* a émis les recommandations d'algorithme thérapeutique basé sur le nombre des copies de *SMN2* pour les patients SMA diagnostiqués par dépistage néonatal [12]. Il est important de connaître et de comprendre au mieux l'hétérogénéité génique et clinique des patients pour le diagnostic et le pronostic clinique mais également pour comprendre et quantifier la réponse thérapeutique.

Options thérapeutiques

Diverses thérapies incluant des oligonucléotides antisens (ASO) et des petites molécules ont été mises au point pour interférer avec l'épis-

sage alternatif de *SMN2* augmentant la transcription de l'ARN messager et par voie de conséquence de la protéine SMN produite. Parmi ces nouvelles thérapies, Spinraza® (nom commercial du nusinersen) s'administre en injections intrathécales, avec une dose fixe de 12 mg par administration pour tous les patients tout âge confondu [1, 2]. Le traitement doit débuter le plus tôt possible après le diagnostic, avec quatre doses de charge aux jours 0, 14, 28 et 63. Une dose d'entretien doit ensuite être administrée tous les quatre mois.

D'autres options thérapeutiques telles que l'injection unique d'AAV par voie intraveineuse pour traiter les enfants SMA de moins de deux ans (Zolgensma®) et les petites molécules (comme la flunarizine) ne seront pas abordées dans cette revue.

Les essais cliniques nusinersen dans la SMA

Les résultats précliniques encourageants et des études en ouvert ont permis la réalisation des essais cliniques de phase 3 pour évaluer l'efficacité thérapeutique du nusinersen chez les patients SMA de types 1 et 2 (*Tableau l*).

En Europe, le nusinersen a été administré initialement dans le cadre d'un programme d'autorisation temporaire d'utilisation (ATU/EAP). Certains résultats du suivi de ces patients seront discutés ci-dessous.

SMA de type 1

Dans l'essai clinique multicentrique ENDEAR (CS3B) de phase 3 contrôlé en double aveugle ont été inclus

	CS3A	Endear (CS3B)	CS2/CS12	Cherish CS4	Nurture
Sponsor	lonis	Biogen	lonis	Biogen	Biogen
Design de l'étude	En ouvert	Contrôlé	En ouvert	Control vs procédure placebo	Contrôlé ou en ouvert
Ν	20	123	28-58	126	17
Critères d'inclusion	<7 mois SMA1	<7 mois SMN2=2 SMA1	2-15 ans SMA 2,3	2-12 ans SMA2	Présymptomatique Exam neuro NL CMAP1 mV
Evaluations	Survie/resp. HINE2 CHOP INTEND CMAP	Survie/resp. HINE2 CHOP INTEND CMAP	HFMSE 6MWT RULM	HFMSE RULM	Survie/resp. HINE2 CMAP

Tableau I. Essais cliniques avec traitement par Spinraza[®] (Nusinersen) (adapté de Claudia A. Chiriboga [13]). AS : amyotrophie spinale ; N : nombre des patients ; NL : normal ; exam neuro : examen neurologique ; resp. : ventilation respiratoire permanente, trachéostomie ou ≥ 16 h de ventilation ; HINE2 : The Hammersmith Infant Neurological Examination ; CHOP INTEND : The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Infant test for Neuromuscular Disorders ; HFMSE : Hammersmith Functional Motor Scale Expanded ; 6MWT : test de marche de 6 min ; RULM : Revised Upper Limb Module ; CMAP : Compound Muscle Action Potential.

121 enfants avec SMA de type 1, tous avec deux copies de SMN2 et âgés de moins de 7 mois à la visite de sélection. L'étude a été arrêtée prématurément au bout de 13 mois suite aux résultats d'analyse intermédiaire qui ont montré une réponse positive significative du test HINE (Hammersmith Infant Neurological Examination) chez les patients sous traitement. Les patients ont été tous inclus dans le groupe traité et à la fin de l'étude les survivants ont été inclus dans l'étude CS11 [1].

SMA de type 2

Dans l'essai clinique CHERISH (CS4) de phase 3 multicentrique, contrôlé en double aveugle, 126 enfants ont été inclus. Les patients inclus présentaient une SMA de type 2 (2 à 12 ans), sans scoliose sévère ou rétractions articulaires avec une randomisation de 2:1. L'analyse intermédiaire à 15 mois a mis en évidence une différence significative du score HFMSE (Hammersmith Functional Motor Scale Expanded) entre le groupe traité versus contrôle, ce qui a conduit à un arrêt prématuré de l'étude et la mise en place d'une phase d'extension CS11 [2].

Patients présymptomatiques

Dans l'étude NURTURE (CS5/SM201), 17 patients ont été inclus avec diagnostic prénatal ou à la naissance de SMA. La majorité des patients avait deux copies de SMN2 (12/17). Tous les patients traités ont survécu sans aide ventilatoire et ils continuent de progresser dans leur développement psychomoteur.

Patients SMA de type 1/1bis tout âge confondu traités sous ATU

Plusieurs études récentes ont évalué l'évolution clinique chez des patients SMA de types 1 et 1bis traités par Spinraza® dans le cadre de l'ATU (EAP) [13, 14]. En comparaison avec les essais cliniques, les patients inclus dans ces cohortes étaient d'âges variables et avec une durée d'évolution de la maladie plus longue et un début de traitement parfois bien au-delà de la limite des 6 mois choisie lors des essais cliniques. Globalement, les évaluations motrices chez les patients avec un début de traitement précoce avant 7 mois ont été comparables aux résultats rapportés dans les essais cliniques. L'étude italienne rapporte une amélioration après 12 mois de traitement des résultats de CHOP INTEND (Children's Hospital of Philadelphia Infant Test Neuromuscular Disorder scale) (moyenne 5,46 points) et dans moins de 15 % des cas une aggravation dans cette cohorte [9]. Dans une étude allemande, il a été proposé aux parents de donner leur appréciation sur l'évolution sur le plan moteur chez les enfants SMA de type 1bis traités. Dans 93,4 % de cas, la réponse au traitement a été jugée favorable par les familles. Cette appréciation n'était toutefois pas significativement corrélée avec les résultats du CHOP-INTEND [13]. Par ailleurs, il est encore difficile d'établir une corrélation des progrès identifiés avec la CHOP-INTEND et leur traduction au quotidien chez les patients avec SMA de type 1. Cette échelle reste néanmoins un outil précieux de suivi des patients SMA. Après la mise sur le marché du nusinersen, la question de poursuivre ce type de traitement lourd et onéreux se pose pour les patients avec peu ou avec des progrès modestes. Dans l'étude italienne, moins de 7,5 % des patients ont arrêté le traitement [13]. Le suivi des patients, issus de différents pays de la Communauté Européenne, a mis en évidence une différence de prise en charge entre centres et entre pays.

Conclusion

Spinraza[®] (nusinersen) est le premier traitement approuvé et mis sur le marché en Europe et aux États-Unis. La première injection de Spinraza® dans le cadre d'une ATU a été réalisée en France (Institut I-Motion, Hôpital Trousseau). Le traitement des patients SMA de type 1 est maintenant devenu possible dans de nombreux centres hospitaliers en France. Spinraza® est aussi disponible actuellement pour les patients SMA de types 2 et 3. L'intérêt du traitement serait de préserver les acquisitions des patients et d'empêcher la progression de la maladie. Chez les patients avec la SMA de type 1bis, l'indication au cas par cas semblerait être une attitude plus prudente suite aux résultats modestes chez ces patients dans les cohortes traitées initialement dans le cadre d'une ATU. Les données précliniques et les résultats des essais thérapeutiques mettent en évidence l'existence d'une fenêtre d'administration thérapeutique pour une meilleure réponse clinique. Ces données ouvrent le débat autour du dépistage néonatal pour la mise en place du traitement dans les délais recommandés par les essais cliniques. Un groupe de travail ad hoc est désormais en place sous l'égide de la filière FILNEMUS rassemblant les professionnels de santé concernés et les représentants de patients. Les études publiées sur les cohortes des patients traités sous ATU en Europe ont mis en évidence une large hétérogénéité dans la prise en charge de ce type de

Leçons apprises

- · Diagnostic urgent avec un choix de traitement disponible.
- · Nécessité d'accompagnement des familles devant ce choix cornélien.
- Nécessité d'organisation locale pour la mise en place précoce du traitement.
- Création d'un registre pour la surveillance de l'évolution des patients traités.
- · Plusieurs choix thérapeutiques bientôt disponibles.
- · Nécessité d'ouvrir le débat autour du dépistage néonatal de la SMA.
- · Implémentation des standards de soins.
- · Hétérogénéité génique et clinique des patients.

PAGE 157-ARTICLE 4

patients, avec la présence dans certains cas de l'assistance ventilatoire et/ou des différences dans le type de rééducation motrice et la prise en charge nutritionnelle. Ces études soulignent largement l'intérêt de l'implémentation des standards de soins concomitante à toute démarche thérapeutique. ◊

Antisense oligonucleotides in SMA: lessons learned and literature data

LIENS D'INTÉRÊT

E. Gargaun a travaillé en tant qu'investigateur dans les essais cliniques sur le nusinersen et a réalisé les premières injections dans le cadre de l'ATU en France à I-Motion.

RÉFÉRENCES

- Finkel RS, Chiriboga CA, Vajsar J, et al. Treatment of infantile-onset spinal muscular atrophy with nusinersen: a phase 2, open-label, dose-escalation study. Lancet 2016; 388: 3017-26.
- CA Chiriboga, Swoboda KJ, Darras BT, et al. Results from a phase 1 study of nusinersen (ISIS-SMN(Rx)) in children with spinal muscular atrophy. Neurology Mar 2016; 86: 890-7.
- 3. Darras BT. Spinal muscular atrophies. Pediatr Clin North Am 2015 ; 62 : 743-66.
- Kolb SJ, Coffey CS, Yankey JW, et al. Natural history of infantile-onset spinal muscular atrophy. Ann Neurol 2017; 82: 883-91.
- Verhaart IEC, Robertson A, Wilson IJ, et al. Prevalence, incidence and carrier frequency of 5q-linked spinal muscular atrophy : a literature review. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2017; 12:124.
- Lefebvre S, Bürglen L, Reboullet S, et al. Identification and characterization of a spinal muscular atrophy-determining gene. Cell 1995; 80: 155-65.

- Urtizberea JA, Daidj F. Réseau Filnemus. Med Sci (Paris) 2018; 34 (hs2): 32-4.
- Kariya S, Obis T, Garone C, et al. Requirement of enhanced survival motoneuron protein imposed during neuromuscular junction maturation. J Clin Invest 2012; 124: 785–800.
- Bernal S, Alías L, Barceló MJ, et al. The c.859G>C variant in the SMN2 gene is associated with types II and III SMA and originates from a common ancestor. Med Genet 2010; 47: 640-2.
- 10. Vezain M, Saugier-Veber P, Goina E, et al. A rare SMN2 variant in a previously unrecognized composite splicing regulatory element induces exon 7 inclusion and reduces the clinical severity of spinal muscular atrophy. Hum Mutat 2010; 31: E1110-25.
- Wu X, Wang SH, Sun J, et al. A-44G transition in SMN2 intron 6 protects patients with spinal muscular atrophy. Hum Mol Genet 2017; 26: 2768-80.
- 12. Glascock J, Sampson J, Haidet-Phillips A, et al. Treatment algorithm for infants diagnosed with spinal muscular atrophy through newborn screening. J Neuromuscul Dis 2018; 5: 145-58.
- Pane M, Coratti G, Sansone VA, et al. Nusinersen in type 1 spinal muscular atrophy: twelve-month real-world data. Ann Neurol 2019; 86: 4 43-51.
- 14. Pechmann A, Langer T, Schorling D, et al. Evaluation of children with SMA type 1 under treatment with Nusinersen within the expanded access program in Germany. J Neuromuscul Dis 2018; 5: 135-43.

TIRÉS À PART E. Gargaun



Retrouvez toutes les Actualités de la Myologie sur les sites de :

la Société Française de Myologie www.sfmyologie.org

la filière de santé neuromusculaire **FILNEMUS** www.filnemus.fr



CHAPTER III: DISCUSSION

CLINICAL CHARACTERIZATION

This thesis project was initiated based on clinical observation of phenotype heterogeneity in patients with similar genetic pattern. Phenotypic and genotypic characterization of BMDdel45-55 patients can reveal the potential therapy efficacy of MES 45-55. Thus, detailed characterization of this population was very timely and of great importance considering the rapid advancement of development of therapy strategies and personalized screening.

SKELETAL MUSCLE CHARACTERIZATION ACCORDING TO THE CLINICAL SEVERITY SCALE (CSS)

Here we present the clinical retrospective characterization of the largest BMDdel45-55 patients. Despite the retrospective character of this study, main clinical features and precisely the skeletal muscle and cardiac involvement has been described in 50 patients. Skeletal muscle symptoms and deficit were characterized by a new in-house Clinical Severity Scale (CSS). Phenotype distribution in this cohort was reported according CSS type and in 100% patients featured BMD phenotype with in the large majority mild (MBMD) and intermediate (IBMD) type and only one asymptomatic (ABMD) patients and two severe (SBMD). Compared to reported data in literature we described a more heterogeneous phenotype than Taglia et al., indeed in their study authors reported 9 BMDel45-55 patients with in large majority except one asymptomatic diagnosis. There is no evidence form the reported clinical feature in favor of skeletal muscle deficit and the muscular involvement was apparently limited to calf and quadriceps hypertrophy⁶⁹. Six asymptomatic patients were reported in a different study with high CK as predominant cause of diagnosis. Interestingly, one additional patient had skeletal muscle deficit and lost ambulation at 79 years¹⁹⁷. This data is in line with our report as we showed a slowly progressive evolution and only 2 patients with loss of ambulation. Interestingly, retrospective CSS scoring in SBMD and IBMD allowed us to show the progressive character of the disease

by identification of the age at reaching intermediate and severe stage. In addition, the duration of the disease evolution free of skeletal muscle deficit and preserved ambulation was reported and reflect the quality of life of BMDdel45-55 patients.

Also, based on the slowly progressive character of disease in this specific mutation, we were able to reveal that there are two different profiles in this population. Indeed, there is a small number of patients that have a trend to remain mild and thus will remain free of skeletal muscle deficit. In the second one, patients will feature walking and running difficulties and considering the advanced age of loss of ambulation, these patients are still at risk to have partial of total wheelchair bound after the age of 60 years. Based on this data and despite a favorable phenotype of BMDdel45-55 patients we confirm the heterogeneous phenotype of skeletal muscle features.

Indeed, previous reports from our team described clinical and histological characteristic in 12 patients with BMDdel45-55⁷¹. The clinical status was based on Gardner-Medwin and Walton scales and included data of disease progression as several patients had reports of 20 years follow-up. CSS scoring classified as IBMD the same patients identified as with moderate phenotype in the first study. In addition, the histological status based on hematoxylin and eosin (HE) staining in the patients with IBMD reveled fiber size heterogeneity and advanced dystrophic features with adipocytes and fibrosis similar to DMD samples. **This data illustrates a good correlation of CSS scale with the clinical and histopathological conditions in BMDdel45-55**. Moreover, dystrophin quantification in the same patients showed variability in the relative quantification with values ranging from 50% to 90%.

While it is important to underline that muscular biopsy data should be interpreted taking into consideration the age of realization, the muscle type but also the delay from the disease first skeletal muscle symptoms, this data implies that patients with similar clinical phenotype can have different amount of dystrophin protein. This imply that therapy development targeting dystrophin restoration should consider additional functional outcome measures in addition to dystrophin relative quantification.

CARDIAC IMPAIRMENT

In addition to skeletal muscle phenotype we reported a heterogeneity in cardiac impairment. Indeed, in this work we highlight that BMDdel45-55 has a high percentage of cardiomyopathy in 33 % of patients and one patient who underwent cardiac transplant. Compared to literature data patients with del48 in DMD gene is reported to have 20% of CDM (n=10) (Bello et al 2016). Also, in this work we reported a later age of onset of CMD (mean 46 years). Recent literature data reported that disruption of spectrin repeat phasing as in *DMD* exon 45-49 deletion is associated with significantly earlier onset of DCM^{204,205}.

Most interestingly, based on the age of the LVEF examination and the CSS phenotype, we report three distinct groups of patients, the first one is the young patients without CDM with MBMD and ABMD, the second adults without CDM (IBMD) and the third one the adults with CDM (IBMD and SBMD). In addition, one patient undergone cardiac transplant despite a mild clinical phenotype.

Altogether, the clinical characterization allowed us to confirm the BMD phenotype in 100% and reveal a skeletal muscle and cardiac heterogeneity within this cohort of patients. This data confirms the favorable outcome of MES45-55 therapy development. Also, patient stratification should be considered by CSS type and cardiac impairment.

GENOTYPIC CHARACTERIZATION

WGS ANALYSIS

In order to address the question of the clinical heterogeneity in this specific BMDdel45-55 populations we performed WGS analysis in 19 patients. We searched for SNPs potentially associated with skeletal muscle and cardiac phenotype. Except for one SNP in one patient we did not found any potential cardiac SNP. Surprisingly, in family cases, we did not identify any common variants regardless of the type of analysis. Our results are in line with literature data, patients with early signs of cardiomyopathy and long survivor patients without significant

cardiac involvement shared common variants (rs 1060575, rs 3816989). Moreover, the reported variants associated cardiac involvement and loss of ambulation suggesting that identified gene and variants could involve both cardiac and skeletal muscle²⁰¹.

Taking into consideration the limited amount of WGS data, we looked closely in the characterization of two patients with SBMD according to CSS who displayed additionally severe cardiomyopathy. Interestingly these patients did not have similar disease progression, except for the age of first clinical signs reported in early childhood. In patient 11, Severe BMD and with severe cardiomyopathy we report a SNP in FLNC gene identified as a potential candidate for future studies. Based on a recent study on Dp116 pathogenic role in cardiomyopathy we searched the WGS data in BMDdel45-55 patients in order to identify if the exon 1 of Dp 116 localized in intron 55 was conserved on genomic level ^{206,207}. One of the explanations of the cardiac phenotype variability could be the promoter activation of the Dp116 localized in the intron 55. In a recent study authors reveal association for the Dp116 with cardiomyopathy in DMD. Indeed, one of the SBMD patient, N11 conserved the exon 1 of Dp116 isophorme and patient 19 did not. Interestingly, patient N11 had a rapid decline of skeletal muscle deficit compared to patient 19. Unfortunately, we did not had access to muscle biopsy in order to confirm the expression of Dp116 isoform is these two patients. Interestingly, the same patients N11 with the identified potential pathogenic SNP in FLNC gene association conserved also the exon1 of Dp116 localized in intron 55. Ongoing gene modifier detection in WGS data of BMDdek45-55 patients will allow to complete this personalized profiling.

We reported the results of SNPs analysis in cardiac gene responsible for major cardiac impairment and highlighted the absence of any potential association of reported SNPs with pathogenic potential in 19 patients with BMDdel45-55. Identification of patients with extreme clinical conditions according to CSS scale and cardiac impairment revealed one SBMD patients with association of SNP in *FLNC* gene and genomic presence of exon1 Dp116 isophorme that could possible participate to the severity of his phenotype. Additional experiments are necessary to demonstrate this hypothesis. Altogether, these data suggest a favorable outcome for MES45-55 and demonstrate WGS utility in patient stratification.

BREAKPOINT ANALYSIS

In addition to the SNP and gene modifiers profiling we analyzed the breakpoint in 19 WGS patients. In result, we determined that except for family cases, each patient had his singular breakpoint (+-20bp) (figure 1 in article 2). Previously reported breakpoint analysis in 3 BMDdel45-55 patients did not revealed any substantial homologies between the normal DNA and in one case, the breakpoint was located in LINE-1 repetitive element. We identified the all repetitive elements form intron 44 and 55 (data not shown).

GENOMIC PROFILE AND CHARACTERIZATION OF LNCRNA LOCALIZED IN INTRON 44 AND 55

Furthermore, the breakpoint analysis in 19 patients identified different clusters of genomic presence in four lncRNA sequences boarding exon deletion 45-55 (lncRNA 44s, 44s2, 55s and 55as). We completed WGS data with PCR sequence detection in 38 BMDdel45-55 patients. Interestingly, phenotype correlation allowed us to reveal favorable phenotype in patients preserving lncRNA44s localized in intron 44. Indeed, our in vitro experiment data in human primary and immortalized myoblasts reveal accelerated differentiation. lncRNA 44s2 over expressed increase *MyoD* and *MyHC* expression at 3 days of differentiation. Moreover, in muscle biopsies study from BMDdel45-55 patients the lncRNA expression was similar to control suggesting active regeneration process. Interestingly, the lncRNA expression was very week in muscular biopsies of DMD and BMDdel3-5 and del3-7 patients. This data confirms phenotype variability among BMD patients and suggests that lncRNA expression could be associated with phenotype severity and participate to phenotype variability.

In contrary to the literature data, we did not confirm the negative regulatory role of lncRNA on pre-mRNA of dystrophin. One of the explanations can be the fact that the lncRNA (44s, 44S2 and 55s) over expression study of Bovolenta et al was conducted in human rhabdomyosarcoma

and neuroblastoma cells. It could be interesting to conduct lncRNA44S2 over expression at different time-points of differentiation and study the dystrophin mRNA expression consequently.

Altogether these data identify the lncRNA 44s2 as a potential biomarker of DMD and BMD disease progression. Literature data described in the introduction section reported the potential of lncRNA as therapeutic, disease progression biomarkers. Indeed, based on our hypothesis that lncRNA44s2 reflects the regeneration potential of skeletal muscle, absent expression in the severe DMD phenotype could be monitored during therapy clinical trials and indicate a potential efficacy of a drug by inverting this expression pattern.

CONCLUSION

Indeed, we hypothesized that lncRNA 44s and 44s2 expression could reflect the regeneration activity. Figure 3 from article 2 illustrates the expression pattern of lncRNA in 3 different type of patients. The phenotypic spectrum of these patients could be interpreted as reflecting the severity spectrum of the muscular dystrophy.

First, healthy control biopsy could reflect physiologic myogenesis in adult skeletal muscle. Following, BMDdel45-55 patients muscle biopsy is supposed to illustrate a favorable clinical phenotype with ongoing active regeneration. Finally, we depicted this theoretical expression distribution in the following Figure 17. According to our hypothesis, controls (WT) and DMD patients have similar patient severity distribution (Figure 17 right axis, in red) and BMD patients are more heterogeneous. As for lncRNA expression (Figure 17 left axis, in blue) based on reported results from expression assessment in skeletal muscle biopsies, the DMD patients represent the lowest level of expression corresponding to the severity of the disease with severe DMD patients with absent regeneration.



Figure 20 Theoretical lncRNA expression in control, BMD and DMD patients.

Our results reflect lncRNA expression in DMD myoblast at three days of differentiation but do not find lncRNA expression in muscular biopsies form DMD subjects. There are several possible explanations, the first one is that human primary myoblasts could preserve some basal level of regeneration activity. Indeed, we reported a low level of MyoD expression at three days of proliferation, with an increase in MyoD expression only at 3 days of differentiation. This data suggests a delayed differentiation in human primary myoblasts from DMDdel45-52 patient (see MyoD expression in figure 4 form article 2). In contrary, the skeletal muscle biopsy reflects an advanced stage of skeletal muscle dystrophy with low level lncRNA expression. Secondly, the absence of dystrophin protein could participate to the low level of lncRNA expression. Indeed, BMDdel45-55 patients display a truncated but functional dystrophin in opposite to the DMD patients that do not express dystrophin at all. We can hypothesize that dystrophin presence could trigger lncRNA expression as a regulatory expression loop illustrated in Figure 18 bellow. Additional functional data of reported lncRNA could explore these theoretical hypotheses.



Figure 21lncRNA hypothetical regulatory loop in BMD and DMD.

In closing, this work allows a detailed phenotypic and genotypic characterization of the largest BMDdel45-55 cohort and confirm the favorable MES 45-55 prognostic. Moreover, the clinical heterogeneity in this specific cohort underlines the importance of the WGS and CSS stratification for future clinical trials.

CHAPTER IV: CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVES

RETROSPECTIVE CLINICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF BMDDEL45-55 BY A CLINICAL SEVERITY SCALE (CSS). PROSPECTIVE FEASIBILITY AND APPLICATION IN CLINICAL TRIALS?

In this work we studied phenotypic and genotypic characterization of BMDdel45-55 patients. Clinical characterization was retrospectively reported by assessing an in-house CSS. This severity scale allows to identify the progressive evolution of the muscular dystrophy. We demonstrated an age dependent correlation of CSS types suggesting a progressive course of the disease. In addition, the interrater variability was very low and inter-operator reproducibility was estimated at 100%.

Currently limited number of clinical trials are ongoing in BMD. One of the explanations of this is the lack of clear outcome for therapy efficacy monitoring. Moreover, in opposite to DMD clinical trials where dystrophin restauration is a major indicator of therapy efficacy, in BMD there is no clearly identified biomarker of disease monitoring nor therapy efficacy.

Based on the example of clinical trials in Spinal Muscular Atrophy (SMA), a clinical severity scale was used in addition to the genetic pattern in order to better stratify patients in phase 3 randomized clinical trials versus placebo. Indeed, treated infants with this lethal disorder survived but also switched from type 1 to type 2 demonstrating gain in quality of life.

Currently, several different scales are used in order to address the question of skeletal muscle deficit but their assessment require time and previous training.

Our proposed CSS has the advantage of responding to the main question of any consultation or clinical trial: the presence of absence of skeletal muscle deficit or loss of ambulation. In on opinion, based on this simple scoring of severity degree clinical meaningful improvement could be applied even to heterogeneous population as BMD patients.

WGS UTILITY IN PATIENT FOLLOW-UP, THERAPY DEVELOPMENT AND IN CLINICAL TRIALS?

As demonstrated in this work, patient stratification according to a clinical severity scale and by performing WGS allowed to identify several patients with extreme clinical features. Indeed, from 100 % BMD cohort only two patients lost ambulation at 60 and 72 years old and both presenting severe cardiomyopathy. Interestingly, the breakpoint analysis allowed to identify the preservation of exon1 Dp116 that was described as associated with severe cardiomyopathy in DMD patients and in addition a potential pathogenic SNP association in FLNC gene. Ongoing study will allow to interrogate the presence of gene modifiers in this cohort. Altogether, this study highlights the utility of WGS in patient follow-up by better monitoring cardiac impairment.

Moreover, the detailed characterization of breakpoint in these patients allowed us to identify a lncRNA genomic cluster associated with a favorable clinical phenotype. This characterization could be useful for the MES development by CRISPC-Cas9 assay. Based on literature data CRISPC-Cas9 gRNA in actual development are localized closely to exons 44 and 56. In this report we identify only one patient with a large deletion excluding all lncRNA form intron 44 and 55. Based on these results, we can suggest that preservation of lnc44s2 could be beneficial in the development of a potential CRISPC-Cas9 gRNA therapy. Further experiments are necessary in order to validate this assumption and interrogate the role of lncRNA of interest.

IMPLICATION OF LNCRNA 44S, 55S AND 55AS IN THE REGENERATION PROCESS AND THE DYSTROPHIN EXPRESSION REGULATION?

In this work, we analyzed the lncRNA44s2 function by an OE experiment in human primary and immortalized myoblasts. We demonstrated the implication of lncRNA44s2 in differentiation in Myo45-55 cell line. However, we did not confirm previously reported negative regulation of mRNA dystrophin by OE of lncRNA44s2. One of the explanations could be the difference in the cell type used, the necessity to have more cell lines with same genetic pattern and perform longer experiments. Unfortunately, it was not possible during this work to access to primary myoblasts issued from different patients but with similar genetic mutation, of healthy control, BMDdel45-55 nor DMD45-52. However, we managed to use immortalized and primary myoblasts form the same patients for our experiments and confirm the reported results in both type of cell lines.

During my first year of PhD I have tried to create genetically modified cell lines using CRISPR-Cas9 gRNA in order to reproduce the identified genomic lncRNA clusters in BMDdel45-55 patients. Unfortunately, due to technical difficulties I had to abandon this approach.

In the figure below is depicted the initial strategy that was to transfect (Tx) directly the CRISPR-Cas9 sgRNA in immortalized myoblasts from healthy control. We used two pairs of sgRNA construct and despite a better Tx efficiency with the Tx110+117 sgRNA (Figure 23A) we did not obtain an efficient genomic modification of the transduced myoblasts.



Figure 22 Scheme illustration of CRISPR sgRNA genomic localization. In green are depicted the couple of sgRNA Tx110+117 and in red the second used couple Tx110.

A Transfection in human myoblasts with CRISPR-Cas9 sgRNA 110 plasmid



Average transfection efficiency about 4% (nb+Cherry fb/nb total fb in 5 images)

B Transfection in human myoblasts with CRISPR-Cas9 sgRNA 110+117



Average transfection efficiency about 5-7% (nb+Cherry fb/nb total fb in 5 images)

Figure 23 Human myoblasts CRISPR sgRNA transfection (Tx) assay. (A)M-Cherry positive fibers count after Tx with sgRNA 110 and 117. (B)M-Cherry positive fibers count after Tx with sgRNA 110.

In addition, we have selected the M-Cherry + cells by FACS (Figure 24). Despite the selection and a second Tx we did not reached a sufficient number of genomic modified myoblasts that were verified by RT-PCR with a nested "poison PCR" (Figure 25).



Figure 24 FACS selection. Detection of M-Cherry + cells by cell size and complexity by forward (FSS) and side scatter areas (SCC) gating with two controls (scramble transfected cells and normal human myoblasts).



Figure 25 mRNA DYSdel45-55 detection by "poison" nested RT-PCR. (A)Test nl illustrates the first strategy in order to improve the deletion efficiency by FACS sorting (B) by double Tx of same sgRNA and (C) by combined transfection. Despite all the attempted strategies sequencing validation failed.

Currently, a collaborative project with Matteo Bovolenta is ongoing with Généthon platform of CRISPR-Cas9 cell lines. In this project I have designed several genetic profiles for the future cell lines according with the profiles of lncRNA clusters. We have already tested and validated the CRISPR-Cas9 gRNA that are boarding the lncRNA44s2 in order to designs a KO model.

We hope that this project will provide experimental validation of different combined or single lncRNA KO.

In conclusion, given the rapid progress of MES 45-55 therapy development it is crucial to have precise prediction of the potentially resulting phenotype. In this work, we demonstrated the necessity of deep phenotyping and NGS in order to improve actual data in a strategic population of BMD patients by combining detailed phenotype description with WGS data for patient stratification and identification of potential phenotype modifiers. We hope that this work will help to demonstrated the utility of genetic sequencing and precise phenotypic characterization in the day-to day healthcare to bring precision medicine closer to BMD and DMD patients. We have also studied novel lncRNA regulatory factors, shown their involvement in cell proliferation and differentiation and potentially muscle regeneration processes, and identified them as potential therapy biomarkers. Nevertheless, despite the increasing number of reported biomarker candidates, the FDA and EMA regulatory agencies require functional relevance of drug development. Thus, among lessons learned from clinical trials is the importance of natural history data to have a well-defined baseline and the awareness of current outcome measures limits. However, compared to 10 years ago, we have the privilege of several therapeutic compounds being available but with sometime limited effects or for eligible DMD patients only. Deep phenotyping and precision medicine will help in ushering along the next generation of treatments by identifying new therapies suitable to each individual patient based on a precise analysis of genetic, environmental and lifestyle factors.

REFERENCES:

- 1. Frontera, W. R. & Ochala, J. Skeletal muscle: a brief review of structure and function. *Calcif Tissue Int* **96**, 183–195 (2015).
- 2. Luther, P. K. The vertebrate muscle Z-disc: sarcomere anchor for structure and signalling. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* **30**, 171–185 (2009).
- 3. Rassier, D. E. Sarcomere mechanics in striated muscles: from molecules to sarcomeres to cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **313**, C134–C145 (2017).
- 4. Laporte, R., Hui, A. & Laher, I. Pharmacological modulation of sarcoplasmic reticulum function in smooth muscle. *Pharmacol Rev* **56**, 439–513 (2004).
- 5. Schartner, V. *et al.* Dihydropyridine receptor (DHPR, CACNA1S) congenital myopathy. *Acta Neuropathol* **133**, 517–533 (2017).
- 6. Gillespie, D. Recruiting RyRs to Open in a Ca2+ Release Unit: Single-RyR Gating Properties Make RyR Group Dynamics. *Biophys J* **118**, 232–242 (2020).
- 7. Tajbakhsh, S. Skeletal muscle stem and progenitor cells: reconciling genetics and lineage. *Exp Cell Res* **306**, 364–372 (2005).
- 8. Tajbakhsh, S., Rocancourt, D., Cossu, G. & Buckingham, M. Redefining the genetic hierarchies controlling skeletal myogenesis: Pax-3 and Myf-5 act upstream of MyoD. *Cell* **89**, 127–138 (1997).
- 9. Tajbakhsh, S. Skeletal muscle stem cells in developmental versus regenerative myogenesis. *J Intern Med* **266**, 372–389 (2009).
- 10. McKinnell, I. W. & Rudnicki, M. A. Developmental biology: one source for muscle. *Nature* **435**, 898–899 (2005).
- 11. Kuang, S., Kuroda, K., Le Grand, F. & Rudnicki, M. A. Asymmetric self-renewal and commitment of satellite stem cells in muscle. *Cell* **129**, 999–1010 (2007).
- 12. Bentzinger, C. F., Wang, Y. X. & Rudnicki, M. A. Building Muscle: Molecular Regulation of Myogenesis. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* **4**, a008342 (2012).
- 13. Sassoon, D. *et al.* Expression of two myogenic regulatory factors myogenin and MyoD1 during mouse embryogenesis. *Nature* **341**, 303–307 (1989).
- Asfour, H. A., Allouh, M. Z. & Said, R. S. Myogenic regulatory factors: The orchestrators of myogenesis after 30 years of discovery. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* 243, 118–128 (2018).
- 15. Tapscott, S. J. The circuitry of a master switch: Myod and the regulation of skeletal muscle gene transcription. *Development* **132**, 2685–2695 (2005).
- 16. Berkes, C. A. & Tapscott, S. J. MyoD and the transcriptional control of myogenesis. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **16**, 585–595 (2005).
- 17. Seale, P. *et al.* Pax7 is required for the specification of myogenic satellite cells. *Cell* **102**, 777–786 (2000).
- 18. Kuang, S., Chargé, S. B., Seale, P., Huh, M. & Rudnicki, M. A. Distinct roles for Pax7 and Pax3 in adult regenerative myogenesis. *J Cell Biol* **172**, 103–113 (2006).
- 19. Bjornson, C. R. R. *et al.* Notch signaling is necessary to maintain quiescence in adult muscle stem cells. *Stem Cells* **30**, 232–242 (2012).
- Mourikis, P. & Relaix, F. Activated Muscle Satellite Cells Chase Ghosts. *Cell Stem Cell* 18, 160–162 (2016).
- 21. Baghdadi, M. B. *et al.* Notch-Induced miR-708 Antagonizes Satellite Cell Migration and Maintains Quiescence. *Cell Stem Cell* **23**, 859-868.e5 (2018).
- 22. Liu, J., Sato, C., Cerletti, M. & Wagers, A. Notch signaling in the regulation of stem cell self-renewal and differentiation. *Curr Top Dev Biol* **92**, 367–409 (2010).

- 23. Brack, A. S., Conboy, I. M., Conboy, M. J., Shen, J. & Rando, T. A. A temporal switch from notch to Wnt signaling in muscle stem cells is necessary for normal adult myogenesis. *Cell Stem Cell* **2**, 50–59 (2008).
- 24. Ballarino, M. *et al.* Novel long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) in myogenesis: a miR-31 overlapping lncRNA transcript controls myoblast differentiation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **35**, 728–736 (2015).
- 25. Chen, R. *et al.* Roles of lncRNAs and circRNAs in regulating skeletal muscle development. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)* **228**, e13356 (2020).
- 26. Cheng, J.-T. *et al.* Insights into Biological Role of LncRNAs in Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. *Cells* **8**, 1178 (2019).
- 27. Lu, L. *et al.* Genome-wide survey by ChIP-seq reveals YY1 regulation of lincRNAs in skeletal myogenesis. *EMBO J* **32**, 2575–2588 (2013).
- 28. Shiekhattar, R. The Yin and Yang of enhancer-like RNAs. *EMBO J* **32**, 2533–2534 (2013).
- 29. Cai, A. & Kong, X. The development of CRISPR-mediated systems in the study of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Hum Gene Ther Methods* (2019) doi:10.1089/hgtb.2018.187.
- 30. Mueller, A. C. *et al.* MUNC, a long noncoding RNA that facilitates the function of MyoD in skeletal myogenesis. *Mol Cell Biol* **35**, 498–513 (2015).
- Cichewicz, M. A. *et al.* MUNC, an Enhancer RNA Upstream from the MYOD Gene, Induces a Subgroup of Myogenic Transcripts in trans Independently of MyoD. *Mol Cell Biol* 38, (2018).
- 32. Jungbluth, H. & Muntoni, F. Therapeutic Aspects in Congenital Myopathies. *Semin Pediatr Neurol* **29**, 71–82 (2019).
- Hernández-Ochoa, E. O. & Schneider, M. F. Voltage sensing mechanism in skeletal muscle excitation-contraction coupling: coming of age or midlife crisis? *Skelet Muscle* 8, 22 (2018).
- 34. Franzini-Armstrong, C. The relationship between form and function throughout the history of excitation-contraction coupling. *J Gen Physiol* **150**, 189–210 (2018).
- 35. Allen, D. G., Whitehead, N. P. & Froehner, S. C. Absence of Dystrophin Disrupts Skeletal Muscle Signaling: Roles of Ca2+, Reactive Oxygen Species, and Nitric Oxide in the Development of Muscular Dystrophy. *Physiol Rev* **96**, 253–305 (2016).
- 36. Constantin, B. Dystrophin complex functions as a scaffold for signalling proteins. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes* **1838**, 635–642 (2014).
- Percival, J. M. Perspective: Spectrin-Like Repeats in Dystrophin Have Unique Binding Preferences for Syntrophin Adaptors That Explain the Mystery of How nNOSμ Localizes to the Sarcolemma. *Front. Physiol.* 9, (2018).
- 38. Tarakci, H. & Berger, J. The sarcoglycan complex in skeletal muscle. *Front Biosci* (Landmark Ed) **21**, 744–756 (2016).
- 39. Blake, D. J. *et al.* Coiled-coil regions in the carboxy-terminal domains of dystrophin and related proteins: potentials for protein-protein interactions. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **20**, 133–135 (1995).
- 40. Stone, M. R., O'Neill, A., Catino, D. & Bloch, R. J. Specific interaction of the actinbinding domain of dystrophin with intermediate filaments containing keratin 19. *Mol Biol Cell* **16**, 4280–4293 (2005).
- 41. Belanto, J. J. *et al.* Independent variability of microtubule perturbations associated with dystrophinopathy. *Hum Mol Genet* **25**, 4951–4961 (2016).

- 42. Banks, G. B., Judge, L. M., Allen, J. M. & Chamberlain, J. S. The polyproline site in hinge 2 influences the functional capacity of truncated dystrophins. *PLoS Genet.* **6**, e1000958 (2010).
- 43. Bork, P. & Sudol, M. The WW domain: a signalling site in dystrophin? *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* **19**, 531–533 (1994).
- 44. Le Rumeur, E., Winder, S. J. & Hubert, J.-F. Dystrophin: More than just the sum of its parts. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Proteins and Proteomics* **1804**, 1713–1722 (2010).
- 45. Delalande, O., Czogalla, A., Hubert, J.-F., Sikorski, A. & Le Rumeur, E. Dystrophin and Spectrin, Two Highly Dissimilar Sisters of the Same Family. *Subcell Biochem* **82**, 373–403 (2017).
- 46. Legardinier, S. *et al.* Mapping of the lipid-binding and stability properties of the central rod domain of human dystrophin. *J. Mol. Biol.* **389**, 546–558 (2009).
- 47. Rentschler, S. *et al.* The WW domain of dystrophin requires EF-hands region to interact with beta-dystroglycan. *Biol Chem* **380**, 431–442 (1999).
- 48. Ishikawa-Sakurai, M., Yoshida, M., Imamura, M., Davies, K. E. & Ozawa, E. ZZ domain is essentially required for the physiological binding of dystrophin and utrophin to beta-dystroglycan. *Hum Mol Genet* **13**, 693–702 (2004).
- 49. Newey, S. E. *et al.* A novel mechanism for modulating synaptic gene expression: differential localization of alpha-dystrobrevin transcripts in skeletal muscle. *Mol Cell Neurosci* **17**, 127–140 (2001).
- 50. Blake, D. J., Weir, A., Newey, S. E. & Davies, K. E. Function and genetics of dystrophin and dystrophin-related proteins in muscle. *Physiol Rev* **82**, 291–329 (2002).
- 51. Hoffman, E. P., Brown, R. H. & Kunkel, L. M. Dystrophin: The protein product of the duchenne muscular dystrophy locus. *Cell* **51**, 919–928 (1987).
- 52. Muntoni, F., Torelli, S. & Ferlini, A. Dystrophin and mutations: one gene, several proteins, multiple phenotypes. *Lancet Neurol* **2**, 731–740 (2003).
- 53. Aoki, Y., Yokota, T. & Wood, M. J. A. Development of multiexon skipping antisense oligonucleotide therapy for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Biomed Res Int* **2013**, 402369 (2013).
- 54. Bladen, C. L. *et al.* The TREAT-NMD DMD Global Database: Analysis of More than 7,000 Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Mutations. *Human Mutation* **36**, 395–402 (2015).
- 55. Tuffery-Giraud, S. *et al.* Genotype-phenotype analysis in 2,405 patients with a dystrophinopathy using the UMD-DMD database: a model of nationwide knowledgebase. *Hum Mutat* **30**, 934–945 (2009).
- 56. Monaco, A. P. *et al.* Isolation of candidate cDNAs for portions of the Duchenne muscular dystrophy gene. *Nature* **323**, 646–650 (1986).
- 57. Koenig, M., Monaco, A. P. & Kunkel, L. M. The complete sequence of dystrophin predicts a rod-shaped cytoskeletal protein. *Cell* **53**, 219–228 (1988).
- 58. Koenig, M. *et al.* The molecular basis for Duchenne versus Becker muscular dystrophy: correlation of severity with type of deletion. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **45**, 498–506 (1989).
- 59. Nicolas, A. *et al.* Becker muscular dystrophy severity is linked to the structure of dystrophin. *Hum Mol Genet* **24**, 1267–1279 (2015).
- 60. Soltanzadeh, P. *et al.* Clinical and genetic characterization of manifesting carriers of DMD mutations. *Neuromuscul Disord* **20**, 499–504 (2010).
- 61. Giliberto, F. *et al.* Symptomatic female carriers of Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD): genetic and clinical characterization. *J Neurol Sci* **336**, 36–41 (2014).
- 62. Aartsma-Rus, A., Van Deutekom, J. C. T., Fokkema, I. F., Van Ommen, G.-J. B. & Den Dunnen, J. T. Entries in the Leiden Duchenne muscular dystrophy mutation database: an

overview of mutation types and paradoxical cases that confirm the reading-frame rule. *Muscle Nerve* **34**, 135–144 (2006).

- 63. Chelly, J. *et al.* Effect of dystrophin gene deletions on mRNA levels and processing in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies. *Cell* **63**, 1239–1248 (1990).
- 64. Kamdar, F. & Garry, D. J. Dystrophin-Deficient Cardiomyopathy. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **67**, 2533–2546 (2016).
- 65. Flanigan, K. M. *et al.* DMD Trp3X nonsense mutation associated with a founder effect in North American families with mild Becker Muscular Dystrophy. *Neuromuscul Disord* **19**, 743–748 (2009).
- 66. Weiss, R. B., Vieland, V. J., Dunn, D. M., Kaminoh, Y. & Flanigan, K. M. Long-range genomic regulators of THBS1 and LTBP4 modify disease severity in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Annals of Neurology* **0**,.
- 67. Suzuki, H. *et al.* Endogenous Multiple Exon Skipping and Back-Splicing at the DMD Mutation Hotspot. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* **17**, 1722 (2016).
- 68. Nakamura, Y. *et al.* Identification of sleep hypoventilation in young individuals with Becker muscular dystrophy: A pilot study. *Brain and Development* **40**, 537–543 (2018).
- 69. TAGLIA, A. *et al.* Clinical features of patients with dystrophinopathy sharing the 45-55 exon deletion of DMD gene. *Acta Myol* **34**, 9–13 (2015).
- 70. Lai, Y. *et al.* Dystrophins carrying spectrin-like repeats 16 and 17 anchor nNOS to the sarcolemma and enhance exercise performance in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. *J. Clin. Invest.* **119**, 624–635 (2009).
- 71. Gentil, C. *et al.* Dystrophin Threshold Level Necessary for Normalization of Neuronal Nitric Oxide Synthase, Inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase, and Ryanodine Receptor-Calcium Release Channel Type 1 Nitrosylation in Golden Retriever Muscular Dystrophy Dystrophinopathy. *Hum. Gene Ther.* **27**, 712–726 (2016).
- 72. Waldrop, M. A. *et al.* Low-level dystrophin expression attenuating the dystrophinopathy phenotype. *Neuromuscul Disord* **28**, 116–121 (2018).
- 73. Nicholson, L. V. *et al.* Integrated study of 100 patients with Xp21 linked muscular dystrophy using clinical, genetic, immunochemical, and histopathological data. Part 2. Correlations within individual patients. *J. Med. Genet.* **30**, 737–744 (1993).
- 74. Gentil, C. *et al.* Variable phenotype of del45-55 Becker patients correlated with nNOSµ mislocalization and RYR1 hypernitrosylation. *Hum Mol Genet* **21**, 3449–3460 (2012).
- 75. Brown, K. J. *et al.* Accurate Quantitation of Dystrophin Protein in Human Skeletal Muscle Using Mass Spectrometry. *J Bioanal Biomed* **Suppl 7**, (2012).
- 76. Muntoni, F. *et al.* Deletion of the Dystrophin Muscle-Promoter Region Associated with X-Linked Dilated Cardiomyopathy. *http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199309233291304* https://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJM199309233291304?url_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr_id=ori%3Arid%3Acrossref.org&rfr_dat=cr_pub%3Dwww.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov (2010) doi:10.1056/NEJM199309233291304.
- 77. Mendell, J. R. *et al.* Eteplirsen for the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Ann Neurol.* **74**, 637–647 (2013).
- 78. Findlay, A. R. *et al.* Clinical phenotypes as predictors of the outcome of skipping around DMD exon 45. *Ann Neurol* **77**, 668–674 (2015).
- 79. Bovolenta, M. *et al.* The DMD locus harbours multiple long non-coding RNAs which orchestrate and control transcription of muscle dystrophin mRNA isoforms. *PLoS ONE* 7, e45328 (2012).

- 80. Romitti, P. A. *et al.* Prevalence of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies in the United States. *Pediatrics* **135**, 513–521 (2015).
- 81. Mendell, J. R. *et al.* Evidence-based path to newborn screening for duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Annals of Neurology* **71**, 304–313 (2012).
- 82. Mah, J. K. *et al.* A systematic review and meta-analysis on the epidemiology of Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy. *Neuromuscul Disord* **24**, 482–491 (2014).
- Bushby, K. *et al.* Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 1: diagnosis, and pharmacological and psychosocial management. *Lancet Neurol* 9, 77–93 (2010).
- 84. Guiraud, S. *et al.* The Pathogenesis and Therapy of Muscular Dystrophies. *Annu. Rev. Genom. Hum. Genet.* **16**, 281–308 (2015).
- 85. Flanigan, K. M. Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies. *Neurol Clin* **32**, 671–688, viii (2014).
- 86. Mazzone, E. S. *et al.* 24 Month Longitudinal Data in Ambulant Boys with Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *PLoS ONE* **8**, e52512 (2013).
- 87. Bello, L. *et al.* DMD genotypes and loss of ambulation in the CINRG Duchenne Natural History Study. *Neurology* **87**, 401–409 (2016).
- 88. Mazzone, E. *et al.* Functional changes in Duchenne muscular dystrophy: a 12-month longitudinal cohort study. *Neurology* **77**, 250–256 (2011).
- 89. Nigro, G. *et al.* Prospective study of X-linked progressive muscular dystrophy in Campania. *Muscle Nerve* **6**, 253–262 (1983).
- 90. Kohler, M. *et al.* Disability and survival in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* **80**, 320–325 (2009).
- 91. Nigro, V. & Piluso, G. Spectrum of muscular dystrophies associated with sarcolemmalprotein genetic defects. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1852**, 585–593 (2015).
- 92. Anthony, K. *et al.* Dystrophin quantification and clinical correlations in Becker muscular dystrophy: implications for clinical trials. *Brain* **134**, 3547–3559 (2011).
- 93. Finsterer, J. & Stöllberger, C. Cardiac involvement in Becker muscular dystrophy. *Can J Cardiol* **24**, 786–792 (2008).
- 94. Bushby, K. *et al.* Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 1: diagnosis, and pharmacological and psychosocial management. *The Lancet Neurology* **9**, 77–93 (2010).
- 95. Birnkrant, D. J. *et al.* Diagnosis and management of Duchenne muscular dystrophy, part 1: diagnosis, and neuromuscular, rehabilitation, endocrine, and gastrointestinal and nutritional management. *Lancet Neurol* **17**, 251–267 (2018).
- 96. Comi, G. P. *et al.* Clinical variability in Becker muscular dystrophy Genetic, biochemical and immunohistochemical correlates. *Brain* **117**, 1–14 (1994).
- 97. Angelini, C. *et al.* Clinical-molecular correlation in 104 mild X-linked muscular dystrophy patients: Characterization of sub-clinical phenotypes. *Neuromuscular Disorders* **4**, 349–358 (1994).
- 98. Miyagoe-Suzuki, Y. *et al.* Induction of Pluripotent Stem Cells from a Manifesting Carrier of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy and Characterization of Their X-Inactivation Status. *Stem Cells Int* **2017**, 7906843 (2017).
- 99. Wary, C. *et al.* Quantitative NMRI and NMRS identify augmented disease progression after loss of ambulation in forearms of boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *NMR Biomed* **28**, 1150–1162 (2015).
- 100. Mankodi, A. *et al.* Skeletal muscle water T2 as a biomarker of disease status and exercise effects in patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Neuromuscul Disord* 27, 705–714 (2017).

- 101. Magrath, P. *et al.* Cardiac MRI biomarkers for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Biomark Med* **12**, 1271–1289 (2018).
- 102. Kaido, M., Arahata, K., Hoffman, E. P., Nonaka, I. & Sugita, H. Muscle histology in Becker muscular dystrophy. *Muscle Nerve* 14, 1067–1073 (1991).
- 103. Tachi, N., Watanabe, Y., Ohya, K. & Chiba, S. Asymptomatic Becker muscular dystrophy: histological changes in biopsied muscles. *Acta Paediatr Jpn* 35, 409–411 (1993).
- 104. Ciciliot, S. & Schiaffino, S. Regeneration of mammalian skeletal muscle. Basic mechanisms and clinical implications. *Curr Pharm Des* **16**, 906–914 (2010).
- 105. Anthony, K. et al. Dystrophin quantification. Neurology 83, 2062-2069 (2014).
- 106. Arechavala-Gomeza, V. *et al.* Immunohistological intensity measurements as a tool to assess sarcolemma-associated protein expression. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* **36**, 265–274 (2010).
- 107. Taylor, L. E., Kaminoh, Y. J., Rodesch, C. K. & Flanigan, K. M. Quantification of dystrophin immunofluorescence in dystrophinopathy muscle specimens. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* 38, 591–601 (2012).
- 108. Beekman, C. *et al.* A sensitive, reproducible and objective immunofluorescence analysis method of dystrophin in individual fibers in samples from patients with duchenne muscular dystrophy. *PLoS One* **9**, e107494 (2014).
- 109. Tinsley, J. *et al.* Development of digital tissue image analysis solution for muscle biopsies in support of disease-modifying therapies for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Neuromuscular Disorders* **26**, S155 (2016).
- 110. Wilson, K. *et al.* Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies: a review of animal models, clinical endpoints, and biomarker quantification. *Toxicol Pathol* **45**, 961–976 (2017).
- 111. Beggs, A. H. *et al.* Exploring the molecular basis for variability among patients with Becker muscular dystrophy: dystrophin gene and protein studies. *Am J Hum Genet* **49**, 54–67 (1991).
- 112. Putten, M. van *et al.* Mouse models for muscular dystrophies: an overview. *Disease Models & Mechanisms* 13, (2020).
- Bodensteiner, J. B. & Engel, A. G. Intracellular calcium accumulation in Duchenne dystrophy and other myopathies: a study of 567,000 muscle fibers in 114 biopsies. *Neurology* 28, 439–446 (1978).
- 114. Shoji, E. *et al.* Early pathogenesis of Duchenne muscular dystrophy modelled in patientderived human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Sci Rep* **5**, 1–13 (2015).
- 115. Allen, D. G., Lamb, G. D. & Westerblad, H. Skeletal muscle fatigue: cellular mechanisms. *Physiol Rev* 88, 287–332 (2008).
- 116. Byrd, S. K., Bode, A. K. & Klug, G. A. Effects of exercise of varying duration on sarcoplasmic reticulum function. *J Appl Physiol (1985)* **66**, 1383–1389 (1989).
- 117. Favero, T. G., Pessah, I. N. & Klug, G. A. Prolonged exercise reduces Ca2+ release in rat skeletal muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum. *Pflugers Arch* **422**, 472–475 (1993).
- 118. Ortenblad, N., Sjøgaard, G. & Madsen, K. Impaired sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+) release rate after fatiguing stimulation in rat skeletal muscle. *J Appl Physiol (1985)* **89**, 210–217 (2000).
- Mokhtarian, A., Lefaucheur, J. P., Even, P. C. & Sebille, A. Hindlimb immobilization applied to 21-day-old mdx mice prevents the occurrence of muscle degeneration. *J Appl Physiol (1985)* 86, 924–931 (1999).
- 120. Nakamura, A. & Takeda, S. Mammalian models of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy: pathological characteristics and therapeutic applications. *J Biomed Biotechnol* **2011**, 184393 (2011).
- 121. Torelli, S. *et al.* Absence of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) as a pathological marker for the diagnosis of Becker muscular dystrophy with rod domain deletions. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* **30**, 540–545 (2004).
- 122. Catanzaro, G. *et al.* Epigenetic modifications of Dexras 1 along the nNOS pathway in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol* **294**, 32–40 (2016).
- 123. Meinen, S., Lin, S., Rüegg, M. A. & Punga, A. R. Fatigue and muscle atrophy in a mouse model of myasthenia gravis is paralleled by loss of sarcolemmal nNOS. *PLoS One* 7, e44148 (2012).
- 124. De Paepe, B., Racz, G. Z., Schröder, J. M. & De Bleecker, J. L. Expression and distribution of the nitric oxide synthases in idiopathic inflammatory myopathies. *Acta Neuropathol* **108**, 37–42 (2004).
- 125. Logan, C. M. & Menko, A. S. Microtubules: Evolving roles and critical cellular interactions. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* **244**, 1240–1254 (2019).
- 126. Moulin, M. & Ferreiro, A. Muscle redox disturbances and oxidative stress as pathomechanisms and therapeutic targets in early-onset myopathies. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **64**, 213–223 (2017).
- 127. Kozakowska, M., Pietraszek-Gremplewicz, K., Jozkowicz, A. & Dulak, J. The role of oxidative stress in skeletal muscle injury and regeneration: focus on antioxidant enzymes. *J Muscle Res Cell Motil* **36**, 377–393 (2015).
- 128. Barbieri, E. & Sestili, P. Reactive Oxygen Species in Skeletal Muscle Signaling. J Signal Transduct 2012, (2012).
- 129. Stern, L. Z. *et al.* Drug Trial of Superoxide Dismutase in Duchenne's Muscular Dystrophy. *Arch Neurol* **39**, 342–346 (1982).
- 130. Aartsma-Rus, A. & van Ommen, G.-J. B. Antisense-mediated exon skipping: A versatile tool with therapeutic and research applications. *RNA* **13**, 1609–1624 (2007).
- 131. Sardone, V., Zhou, H., Muntoni, F., Ferlini, A. & Falzarano, M. S. Antisense Oligonucleotide-Based Therapy for Neuromuscular Disease. *Molecules* 22, (2017).
- Warfield, K. L., Panchal, R. G., Aman, M. J. & Bavari, S. Antisense treatments for biothreat agents. *Curr Opin Mol Ther* 8, 93–103 (2006).
- 133. Guidotti, G., Brambilla, L. & Rossi, D. Cell-Penetrating Peptides: From Basic Research to Clinics. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **38**, 406–424 (2017).
- Tsoumpra, M. K. *et al.* Peptide-conjugate antisense based splice-correction for Duchenne muscular dystrophy and other neuromuscular diseases. *EBioMedicine* 45, 630–645 (2019).
- 135. Verhaart, I. E. C. & Aartsma-Rus, A. Therapeutic developments for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Nat Rev Neurol* **15**, 373–386 (2019).
- 136. Liechti-Gallati, S. *et al.* Molecular deletion patterns in Duchenne and Becker type muscular dystrophy. *Hum Genet* **81**, 343–348 (1989).
- 137. Aoki, Y. *et al.* Bodywide skipping of exons 45–55 in dystrophic mdx52 mice by systemic antisense delivery. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **109**, 13763–13768 (2012).
- 138. Duan, D. Systemic AAV Micro-dystrophin Gene Therapy for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Mol Ther* **26**, 2337–2356 (2018).
- 139. Chamberlain, J. R. & Chamberlain, J. S. Progress toward Gene Therapy for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *Mol Ther* **25**, 1125–1131 (2017).
- 140. Boehler, J. F. *et al.* Membrane recruitment of nNOSμ in microdystrophin gene transfer to enhance durability. *Neuromuscul Disord* **29**, 735–741 (2019).

- 141. Li, H. L., Gee, P., Ishida, K. & Hotta, A. Efficient genomic correction methods in human iPS cells using CRISPR-Cas9 system. *Methods* **101**, 27–35 (2016).
- 142. Young, C. S. *et al.* A single CRISPR-Cas9 deletion strategy that targets the majority of DMD patients restores dystrophin function in hiPSC-derived muscle cells. *Cell Stem Cell* 18, 533–540 (2016).
- 143. Young, C. S., Mokhonova, E., Quinonez, M., Pyle, A. D. & Spencer, M. J. Creation of a Novel Humanized Dystrophic Mouse Model of Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy and Application of a CRISPR/Cas9 Gene Editing Therapy. *J Neuromuscul Dis* 4, 139–145 (2017).
- 144. Duchêne, B. L. *et al.* CRISPR-Induced Deletion with SaCas9 Restores Dystrophin Expression in Dystrophic Models In Vitro and In Vivo. *Molecular Therapy* (2018) doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.08.010.
- 145. Amoasii, L. *et al.* Gene editing restores dystrophin expression in a canine model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Science* **362**, 86–91 (2018).
- 146. Spitali, P. *et al.* Tracking disease progression non-invasively in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophies. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle* **9**, 715–726 (2018).
- 147. Pegoraro, E. *et al.* SPP1 genotype is a determinant of disease severity in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Neurology* **76**, 219–226 (2011).
- 148. Zaharieva, I. T. *et al.* Dystromirs as Serum Biomarkers for Monitoring the Disease Severity in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy. *PLOS ONE* **8**, e80263 (2013).
- 149. Cacchiarelli, D. *et al.* miRNAs as serum biomarkers for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *EMBO Mol Med* **3**, 258–265 (2011).
- 150. Trifunov, S. *et al.* Longitudinal Study of Three microRNAs in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy and Becker Muscular Dystrophy. *Front Neurol* **11**, (2020).
- 151. Hathout, Y. *et al.* Clinical utility of serum biomarkers in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Clin Proteomics* **13**, 9 (2016).
- 152. Sanger, F. *et al.* Nucleotide sequence of bacteriophage phi X174 DNA. *Nature* **265**, 687–695 (1977).
- 153. Sanger, F. *et al.* The nucleotide sequence of bacteriophage phiX174. *J Mol Biol* **125**, 225–246 (1978).
- 154. ENCODE Project Consortium. The ENCODE (ENCyclopedia Of DNA Elements) Project. *Science* **306**, 636–640 (2004).
- 155. Moraes, F. & Góes, A. A decade of human genome project conclusion: Scientific diffusion about our genome knowledge. *Biochem Mol Biol Educ* 44, 215–223 (2016).
- 156. Borsani, G. *et al.* Characterization of a murine gene expressed from the inactive X chromosome. *Nature* **351**, 325–329 (1991).
- 157. Berretta, J. & Morillon, A. Pervasive transcription constitutes a new level of eukaryotic genome regulation. *EMBO Rep* **10**, 973–982 (2009).
- 158. Duret, L., Chureau, C., Samain, S., Weissenbach, J. & Avner, P. The Xist RNA gene evolved in eutherians by pseudogenization of a protein-coding gene. *Science* **312**, 1653– 1655 (2006).
- 159. Wu, D.-D., Irwin, D. M. & Zhang, Y.-P. De novo origin of human protein-coding genes. *PLoS Genet* 7, e1002379 (2011).
- 160. Nelson, B. R. *et al.* A peptide encoded by a transcript annotated as long noncoding RNA enhances SERCA activity in muscle. *Science* **351**, 271–275 (2016).
- Clark, M. B. *et al.* Genome-wide analysis of long noncoding RNA stability. *Genome Res* 22, 885–898 (2012).

- 162. Enuka, Y. *et al.* Circular RNAs are long-lived and display only minimal early alterations in response to a growth factor. *Nucleic Acids Res* **44**, 1370–1383 (2016).
- 163. Djebali, S. et al. Landscape of transcription in human cells. Nature 489, 101-108 (2012).
- 164. Li, F. *et al.* Spatiotemporal-specific lncRNAs in the brain, colon, liver and lung of macaque during development. *Mol Biosyst* **11**, 3253–3263 (2015).
- 165. Kung, J. T. Y., Colognori, D. & Lee, J. T. Long Noncoding RNAs: Past, Present, and Future. *Genetics* **193**, 651–669 (2013).
- 166. Martone, J., Mariani, D., Desideri, F. & Ballarino, M. Non-coding RNAs Shaping Muscle. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 7, (2020).
- 167. Hezroni, H. *et al.* Principles of Long Noncoding RNA Evolution Derived from Direct Comparison of Transcriptomes in 17 Species. *Cell Reports* **11**, 1110–1122 (2015).
- 168. Johnsson, P., Lipovich, L., Grandér, D. & Morris, K. V. Evolutionary conservation of long non-coding RNAs; sequence, structure, function. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1840, 1063–1071 (2014).
- 169. Martens, L., Rühle, F. & Stoll, M. LncRNA secondary structure in the cardiovascular system. *Noncoding RNA Res* **2**, 137–142 (2017).
- 170. Robinson, E. K., Covarrubias, S. & Carpenter, S. The how and why of lncRNA function: An innate immune perspective. *Biochim Biophys Acta Gene Regul Mech* **1863**, 194419 (2020).
- 171. Hammad, H. & Lambrecht, B. N. Rbm7 in Structural Cells: A NEAT Way to Control Fibrosis. *Immunity* **52**, 429–431 (2020).
- 172. Sun, M. & Kraus, W. L. From discovery to function: the expanding roles of long noncoding RNAs in physiology and disease. *Endocr Rev* **36**, 25–64 (2015).
- 173. Dong, Y., Yoshitomi, T., Hu, J.-F. & Cui, J. Long noncoding RNAs coordinate functions between mitochondria and the nucleus. *Epigenetics Chromatin* **10**, 41 (2017).
- 174. Sun, Q., Hao, Q. & Prasanth, K. V. Nuclear Long Noncoding RNAs: Key Regulators of Gene Expression. *Trends Genet* **34**, 142–157 (2018).
- 175. Yoon, J.-H. *et al.* Scaffold function of long non-coding RNA HOTAIR in protein ubiquitination. *Nat Commun* **4**, 2939 (2013).
- 176. Hsiao, K.-Y., Sun, H. S. & Tsai, S.-J. Circular RNA New member of noncoding RNA with novel functions. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)* **242**, 1136–1141 (2017).
- Wang, K. C. & Chang, H. Y. Molecular mechanisms of long noncoding RNAs. *Mol Cell* 43, 904–914 (2011).
- 178. Caretti, G. *et al.* The RNA Helicases p68/p72 and the Noncoding RNA SRA Are Coregulators of MyoD and Skeletal Muscle Differentiation. *Developmental Cell* **11**, 547–560 (2006).
- 179. Hubé, F., Velasco, G., Rollin, J., Furling, D. & Francastel, C. Steroid receptor RNA activator protein binds to and counteracts SRA RNA-mediated activation of MyoD and muscle differentiation. *Nucleic Acids Res* **39**, 513–525 (2011).
- 180. Cesana, M. *et al.* A Long Noncoding RNA Controls Muscle Differentiation by Functioning as a Competing Endogenous RNA. *Cell* **147**, 358–369 (2011).
- 181. Legnini, I., Morlando, M., Mangiavacchi, A., Fatica, A. & Bozzoni, I. A feedforward regulatory loop between HuR and the long noncoding RNA linc-MD1 controls early phases of myogenesis. *Mol Cell* **53**, 506–514 (2014).
- 182. Efthymiou, S., Manole, A. & Houlden, H. Next generation sequencing in neuromuscular diseases. *Current opinion in neurology* **29**, 527 (2016).
- 183. Barseghyan, H. *et al.* Next-generation mapping: a novel approach for detection of pathogenic structural variants with a potential utility in clinical diagnosis. *Genome Medicine* **9**, 90 (2017).

- 184. Pipis, M., Rossor, A. M., Laura, M. & Reilly, M. M. Next-generation sequencing in Charcot–Marie–Tooth disease: opportunities and challenges. *Nat Rev Neurol* 15, 644– 656 (2019).
- 185. Waldrop, M. A. *et al.* Diagnostic Utility of Whole Exome Sequencing in the Neuromuscular Clinic. *Neuropediatrics* **50**, 96–102 (2019).
- 186. Westra, D. *et al.* Panel-Based Exome Sequencing for Neuromuscular Disorders as a Diagnostic Service. *J Neuromuscul Dis* **6**, 241–258 (2019).
- 187. Desvignes, J.-P. *et al.* VarAFT: a variant annotation and filtration system for human next generation sequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Res* **46**, W545–W553 (2018).
- 188. Crudele, J. M. & Chamberlain, J. S. Cas9 immunity creates challenges for CRISPR gene editing therapies. *Nature Communications* **9**, 3497 (2018).
- 189. Charlesworth, C. T. *et al.* Identification of Pre-Existing Adaptive Immunity to Cas9 Proteins in Humans. *bioRxiv* 243345 (2018) doi:10.1101/243345.
- 190. Béroud, C. *et al.* Multiexon skipping leading to an artificial DMD protein lacking amino acids from exons 45 through 55 could rescue up to 63% of patients with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Hum Mutat* **28**, 196–202 (2007).
- 191. Thada, P. K., Bhandari, J. & Umapathi, K. K. Becker Muscular Dystrophy. StatPearls [Internet] (StatPearls Publishing, 2020).
- 192. Bradley, W. G., Jones, M. Z., Mussini, J.-M. & Fawcett, P. R. W. Becker-type muscular dystrophy. *Muscle & Nerve* 1, 111–132 (1978).
- 193. Mori-Yoshimura, M. *et al.* Characteristics of Japanese Patients with Becker Muscular Dystrophy and Intermediate Muscular Dystrophy in a Japanese National Registry of Muscular Dystrophy (Remudy): Heterogeneity and Clinical Variation. *Journal of Neuromuscular Diseases* 5, 193–203 (2018).
- 194. Yazaki, M. *et al.* Clinical Characteristics of Aged Becker Muscular Dystrophy Patients with Onset after 30 Years. *European Neurology* **42**, 145–149 (1999).
- 195. Wang, Y. *et al.* [Clinical features of patients with Becker muscular dystrophy and deletions of the rod domain of dystrophin gene]. *Zhonghua Yi Xue Yi Chuan Xue Za Zhi* 35, 14–17 (2018).
- 196. England, S. B. *et al.* Very mild muscular dystrophy associated with the deletion of 46% of dystrophin. *Nature* **343**, 180–182 (1990).
- 197. Nakamura, A. *et al.* Follow-up of three patients with a large in-frame deletion of exons 45–55 in the Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD) gene. *Journal of Clinical Neuroscience* **15**, 757–763 (2008).
- 198. Swaggart, K. A. *et al.* Annexin A6 modifies muscular dystrophy by mediating sarcolemmal repair. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **111**, 6004–6009 (2014).
- 199. Bello, L. *et al.* Genetic modifiers of ambulation in the cooperative international Neuromuscular research group Duchenne natural history study. *Annals of Neurology* **77**, 684–696 (2015).
- 200. Flanigan, K. M. *et al.* LTBP4 genotype predicts age of ambulatory loss in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Ann. Neurol.* **73**, 481–488 (2013).
- 201. Spitali, P. *et al.* TCTEX1D1 is a genetic modifier of disease progression in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. *European Journal of Human Genetics* **28**, 815–825 (2020).
- 202. Ballarino, M., Morlando, M., Fatica, A. & Bozzoni, I. Non-coding RNAs in muscle differentiation and musculoskeletal disease. J. Clin. Invest. 126, 2021–2030 (2016).
- 203. Guilbaud, M. *et al.* miR-708-5p and miR-34c-5p are involved in nNOS regulation in dystrophic context. *Skeletal Muscle* **8**, (2018).

- 204. Kaspar, R. W. *et al.* Analysis of dystrophin deletion mutations predicts age of cardiomyopathy onset in Becker Muscular Dystrophy. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* **2**, 544–551 (2009).
- 205. Kaspar, R. W., Allen, H. D. & Montanaro, F. Current understanding and management of dilated cardiomyopathy in Duchenne and Becker muscular dystrophy. *J Am Acad Nurse Pract* **21**, 241–249 (2009).
- 206. Yamamoto, T. *et al.* Cardiac Dysfunction in Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Is Less Frequent in Patients With Mutations in the Dystrophin Dp116 Coding Region Than in Other Regions. *Circ Genom Precis Med* **11**, e001782 (2018).
- 207. Matsuo, M. *et al.* Dystrophin Dp116: A Yet to Be Investigated Product of the Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Gene. *Genes (Basel)* **8**, (2017).